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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yang (Chairman)
(appointed as the chairman on 1 August 2018)
Mr. Wang Zijiang
Mr. Gao Feng (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)
Mr. Zheng Mingguo (General Manager)
(resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)
Mr. Sun Zhenmin
(resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Hongliang

(appointed on 1 August 2018)
Mr. Guo Yucheng

(appointed on 1 August 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Mr. Leung Kam Wan (Chairman)
Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Liu Chenguang

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Liu Chenguang (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Baoyu

Mr. Leung Kam Wan

Mr. Liu Yang (appointed on 1 August 2018)

Mr. Gao Feng (resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Liu Yang (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 August 2018)
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang
Mr. Gao Feng (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)

Safety and Environmental Protection Committee

Mr. Liu Yang (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 August 2018)
Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Li Yuguo
(appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Zheng Mingguo (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)
Mr. Sun Zhenmin
(resigned with effect from 1 January 2019)
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lau Wai Chun

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BDO Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd., Weifang Branch

Agricultural Bank of China, Weifang High Tech Industry
Development Zone Branch

China Construction Bank, Weifang Branch

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 2204A on the 22nd Floor
Bank of America Tower

12 Harcourt Road Central

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA (THE “PRC")

Weifang High Tech Industry Development Zone
Weifang City

Shandong Province

The PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.tdchem.com

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”): 609

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Room 2204A on the 22nd Floor
Bank of America Tower

12 Harcourt Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: 852-2866 6848

Fax: 852-2866 8922
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Results
(expressed in RMB’000)

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic earnings/(loss) per
share (in RMB)

Earnings before interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA")

Financial Positions
(expressed in RMB’000)

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets per share (in RMB)

Financial Ratios
Current ratio

Quick ratio

Gearing ratio

Average capital employed
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Notes 2014
1,121,127
284,172
154,505
1
0.182
279,007
2 1,230,982
3 176,565
4 1.245
5 3.7
6 3.1
7 TEANA
8 30.5%
Notes:
1 Basic earnings/
(loss) per share
2 Total assets

3 Total liabilities

4 Net assets
per share
5 Current ratio

6 Quick ratio

7 Gearing ratio

8 Return on capital
employed
("ROCE")

Average capital
employed

“T-RF  ERFE TtF ZB-N\E
2015 2016 2017 2018
1,123,408 1,265,389 1,407,329 1,179,300
316,889 396,301 282,645 65,154
172,371 219,603 101,562 (61,058)
0.204 0.259 0.120 (0.072)
318,752 407,695 250,895 34,125
1,382,766 1,620,560 1,925,006 1,691,333
204,766 302,933 556,481 398,933
1.391 1.553 1.606 1.517

3.7 3.0 1.5 1.6

3.2 25 1.2 1.2

A N/A NEANA A NA 3.2%
26.8% 29.0% 24.6% 10.5%

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company +
Weighted average of issued shares of the Company
for the year. (The calculation of basic earnings/
(loss) per share is based on the weighted average
number of 846,878,000, 846,878,000, 847,574,721,
850,499,995 and 851,954,000 shares of the Company
for the five years ended 31 December 2014, 2015,
2016, 2017 and 2018 respectively.)

Non-current assets + Current assets
Non-current liabilities + Current liabilities

Total equity + Number of issued shares of the Company
at the year end. (As at 31 December 2014, 2015,
2016, 2017 and 2018, the calculation of net assets per
share is based on the number of issued shares of the
Company of 846,878,000, 846,878,000, 848,698,000,
851,954,000 and 851,954,000 respectively.)

Current assets =+ Current liabilities
(Current assets - Inventories) + Current liabilities

Net debts (Total borrowings net of bank and cash
balances and pledged bank deposits) + Total equity

EBITDA / (Total equity — non-current debt financing)

(Opening ROCE + Closing ROCE) / 2
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the *
of directors (the ”Directors”‘/"}w
Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited )
(the "Company” and together with \
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”

I hereby present the annual report fo M
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Blimtht =
Mr. Liu Yang Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The adverse business environment of 2017 was being extended to 2018.
It was even tougher than last year. The policies of the PRC government
continued to deepen its supply-side reform and strengthen environmental
governance, resulting in an acceleration of phasing out obsolete
production capacity of the chemical enterprises in the PRC. The upstream
raw material supply and downstream demand of the Group suffered from
negative impact. It resulted in unbalanced market supply and demand
that triggered intensified market competition. Coupled with the ongoing
Sino-US trade friction causing the pace of overall economic development
of the PRC to slow down markedly in the second half of the year. It
was also hampering the performance of oversea sales of the Group and
shrinking the domestic market demand further as well. Under the severe
business environment, the Group faced unprecedented challenges which
inevitably led to a significant decline in the financial results of this year.

Confronted with the formidable challenges, the Board rapidly adjusted
the business development strategies of the Group and adopted various
improvement measures including but not limited to repositioning
the future market development of the existing products, focusing on
developing the products with good market potential, adopting tailor-
made marketing strategies to cope with whenever markets shift,
implementing higher efficiency production layout to enhance productivity
and competitiveness, and taking further steps to trim down operating
costs etc.. These various improvement measures have been implemented
during the year under review. The positive effects of these measures are
expected to be reflected in the results soon. In addition, as at the date
of this report, one of the new production lines, which was constructed
in 2017, is approved by the relevant local authorities and has started
the trial production. The Group will keep launching new products to the
market in the future so as to enrich its product portfolio and broaden its
revenue base.

®
g
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PROSPECTS

The prospect of 2019 might still be clouded by: (i) stringent environmental
governance in the PRC; (ii) further escalation in market competition; (iii)
the ongoing structural adjustments implemented by the PRC government
across various industries; and (iv) the uncertainties of the Sino-US trade
friction. Hence, the PRC economy would still face downward pressure
and the PRC manufacturing industry would face even tougher business
environment.

Faced with such economic situation, the Group has proactively revised its
business development strategy and implemented various improvement
measures to reduce operating expenses, optimise production processes to
enhance productivity, and accelerate the progress to launch new products
to expand revenue base to offset the adverse impacts arising from
unfavourable external factors. In addition, the Group has emphasised
on strictly complying with regulatory requirements of safety and
environmental protection. The Group will continuously invest in improving
the production facilities and process to achieve higher standards of safety
and environmental protection. The Group believes that after the structural
adjustments and consolidation of the chemical industry in the PRC, the
Group could establish a more competitive business model for sustaining
its business development in the future.

Besides, as the Weifang municipal government continues to promote
a higher quality standard of atmospheric environment and enhance
ecological environment protection, the production plant of Weifang
Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Parasia”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, has to be relocated mandatorily. Since the relocation
schedule is dictated by the Group, it will not lead to material negative
impact to the Group’s production and operation while the operating costs
of the Group could be minimised as a whole in the long run after the
production facilities of Weifang Parasia are relocated to the production
site of Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Binhai”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Hence, the Group believes the
relocation will bring positive effects to its future business development.

APPRECIATION

It is my honor to take over the chairmanship of the Board and continue
to promote the Group’s business. | would like to take this opportunity to
express my heartfelt gratitude to all Directors and management team for
their relentless efforts in the face of current difficulties, to the entire staff
for their hard work and dedication and to all our partners for their long-
term support and trust.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019



"EERSREEABRZEAESR

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HITES

8% 35 REFEIRE ([XFE]) - BIEET)
RERBEE A B A R ARR BN R AHERR R 2 i
EafBAIAREEZRT - FIEEBEAKHE
ERRMUEER  EBREALHEBRR - B1ELE
DRM —EERER_E-ZEFREPEOMASR
(ER) EFEMIRELBULNERARER
BARERMBLBM - WIMBAKER - 215E4H
:;__¢+ H:I:—? P;EIE HEAEEJEHIE%%(
ETRERARERRELE - FR_FT—MFH
AMBAEE -

EFT 545 WITESRAKEAMRAZ — -
FRER— ﬂ/\)\i%%#ﬁﬁ{tlﬂﬁ(iﬁﬁﬁ
MRIERE) FR(EIR - KBE—IA—F
R AT AT AT ER - SH=F - T5£4
HER—NANNERXR AR A RABRBIRESR
AR (DERSA]) - ERAER(CTEERE 20

FHTES
Bt% o 63m NAKEARAZ — - BRARH

FHEZH - BIRER - NN FEERER O
2 (REATRBRAMARE (ER) ) BELXE
LT - B — W N\ZFEE NN =F R
Dy ¥R AR e PR + 4 E%Eﬁiﬂﬁﬂ}\iﬁ’\
jlj'L/ SEKIBEIRGA o BITERZTE /\E:I:
—RFEEEEERE U 2T FE
/\i,ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂyﬁﬂﬁ%% %USEEE(I:I%%ﬁt
30 F 4G

BEK 625 R— NN\ ZFEERERABE
Fm(iﬁfﬁﬁq:.E/Hﬂj(ﬁ(iﬁ)) FEEXE
BT RIZTZFMBEREEF - HEEB
—NNZFR BRI B EC TRRER - B0
*ﬂﬂ@ﬁﬁ%mﬁ%ftli&&ﬁfﬂ%fx%,@ﬁgé
BERIASMIERM - BLEERTTZTF+=
ANBEAREE  RZZTENFE_T—AFHREE
FRITES - B TEREFBHI0FLRH -

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Yang, aged 35, is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). He
is a son of Mr. Liu Hongliang (a co-founder of the Group and a deemed
ultimate beneficial owner of a controlling shareholder of the Company).
Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall strategic development, business
planning and policy setting of the Group. He graduated from China
University of Petroleum with a degree of Bachelor of Electronic and
Information Engineering and Simon Fraser University with a degree of
Bachelor of Finance in 2006 and 2010 respectively. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Liu worked as a channel manager of BFFfiF5 & EEIEHR
A7A] (Xingzheng Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.) for the period
from November 2011 to March 2014. He joined the Group in April 2014.

WANG Zijiang, aged 54, is an executive Director and one of the
founders of the Group. He graduated from Nanjing Chemical College (now
known as Nanjing University of Technology) in 1988, majoring in chemical
engineering. He worked for three years since 1991 in Weifang New
Technology Research Centre. After that, Mr. Wang co-founded Weifang
Tianhong Equity Investment Company Limited (“Weifang Tianhong”) in
1996. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the chemical industry.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Hongliang, aged 63, is one of the founders of the Group. He is the
father of Mr. Liu Yang. Mr. Liu graduated from East China Petroleum
Institute (FEERAHEEPT) (now known as China University of Petroleum
(FEIAHAZ(ZER)) in 1982, majoring in basic organic chemistry.
He spent more than ten years from 1982 to 1993 in Weifang New
Technology Research Centre. After that, Mr. Liu established Weifang
Tianhong with others in 1996. Mr. Liu was the Chairman from 2006 to
2015 and an executive Director from 2006 to 2016. Mr. Liu has over 30
years of experience in the chemical industry.

GUO Yucheng, aged 62, graduated from East China Petroleum Institute
FEFRAHZET) (now known as China University of Petroleum (FF B4 5
KE(ZH))) in 1982, majoring in basic organic chemistry. Prior to joining
the Group in 2000, Mr. Guo had been working for Weifang Organic
Chemicals Factory (#Hh B #{L THR) since 1982. He was accredited as
a senior engineer by The Jury of Senior Title of Chemical Technical Post,
Shandong Province in 1994. Mr. Guo joined the Group in December
2000. Mr. Guo was an executive Director from 2006 to 2015. Mr. Guo
has over 30 years of experience in the chemical industry.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

GAO Baoyu, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 4 October 2006. He is the professor of
environmental engineering and the tutor of the postgraduate students
studying for doctorate degrees of Shandong University since September
1999 and November 2001 respectively. He was also the dean of the
school of environmental science and engineering of Shandong University
from January 2001 to November 2012. Mr. Gao was awarded by
Shandong Provincial People’s Government as one of the Middle-aged and
Young Expert with Outstanding Contributions in Shandong Province in
2007. He graduated from Tsinghua University in 1999 with a doctorate
degree in engineering majoring in environment engineering.

LEUNG Kam Wan, aged 53, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 1 March 2007. Mr. Leung graduated from
Hong Kong Baptist University and Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and a
master degree in corporate governance in 1992 and 2007 respectively.
Mr. Leung is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr. Leung has been a practicing certified public accountant
for over 10 years. He has extensive experience in financing, accounting
and auditing. Mr. Leung currently is the managing director of Leung Kam
Wan CPA Limited and a director of CCTH CPA Limited.

LIU Chenguang, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 4 October 2006. Mr. Liu obtained from East
China Petroleum Institute (now known as China University of Petroleum)
a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in petroleum refining in 1982
and a master’s degree in applied chemistry in 1985. He also obtained his
doctorate degree in applied chemistry from China University of Petroleum
(Beijing) in 1991. Mr. Liu has been appointed as an associate professor of
China University of Petroleum in 1992, was then promoted as a professor
in 1994 and subsequently took on the post as the tutor of postgraduate
students studying for doctorate degrees in 1998 and has ever since
become the professor and tutor at China University of Petroleum. Mr. Liu
was the dean of the college of chemical engineering of China University
of Petroleum from May 2004 to April 2013. Currently, he is a professor
of the college of chemical engineering of China University of Petroleum.
Mr. Liu is a member of China Petroleum Society, China Chemistry Society,
China Chemical Society, American Chemistry Society and director of
Shandong Chemistry and Chemical Society.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEN Xiaohua, aged 41, is a general manager of the Company since 1
August 2018 and a director of Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since January 2018. Mr.
Chen graduated from Weifang Changwei Teachers College (437 &
& = RLE224 ) majoring in chemical in July 1999. He joined the Group in
March 2000. He has over 15 years of experience in the chemical industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the business environment of the PRC
manufacturing industry had become increasingly tough as the PRC's
overall economic growth decelerated markedly and the PRC government
further tightened the regulations in respect of safety and environmental
protection on the manufacturing industry. Consequentially, certain
obsolete production capacities will be eliminated if the enterprises
failed to meet the safety and environmental standards laid down by the
state and this in turn speed up the industry consolidation. As a result of
the industry consolidation, the Group faced the shortage of supply of
upstream raw materials and the weakened demand from downstream
customers as well as the intensified market competition. For these
reasons, both of the Group’s selling prices and sales volume decreased
significantly as compared with last year and the raw material prices stood
at a high level persistently. The gross profit of the Group also inevitably
declined sharply. In addition, in order to meet progressively extensive
and stringent regulations imposed by the PRC government on safety and
environmental protection, the Group continued to increase spending on
upgrading its production facilities and optimising its production process
which causing an increase in operating costs. Besides, the production
plant of Jiangsu Chunxiao Pharmaceutical & Chemical Co., Ltd. (T%k
FRER/EIRHIEBERAF]) (“Jiangsu Chunxiao”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is located in a highly polluted area. Jiangsu
Chunxiao was subject to temporary suspension of all production activities
and pending environmental improvement works. Certain properties,
plant and equipment of Jiangsu Chunxiao were written-off in the first
half of the year due to deterioration and obsolescence. Furthermore, an
additional investment on acquiring safety and environmental protection
facilities as well as upgrading the existing production facilities are required
before resumption of production of Jiangsu Chunxiao, as a result, a loss
on goodwill impairment was made for the year. In combination of the
forgoing unfavourable factors, the Group recorded a net loss for the year.

Facing the tough business environment, the Board has immediately
adjusted business operation strategies and carried out a series of
improvement measures in the second half of the year, which included
imposing a strict cost control on operating expenses, adjusting marketing
strategy to expand market share and enhance revenue, optimising
production process to enhance production efficiency of certain products
with good market potential, and strengthening the communication
with all stakeholders of the Group to facilitate the deployment of future
business plans etc. Among of them, the implementation of strict cost
control and adjustment of marketing strategy have brought improvements
gradually in the second half of the year. In addition, the Group has
actively promoted the approval procedures for the two production lines
which were constructed in 2017. As at the date of this report, one of
the new production lines is approved by the relevant local authorities
and has started the trial production. The Group believes that following
the commercial production of the new product, the product portfolio
of the Group will be further enriched. Furthermore, it can enhance the
advantages of vertically integrated production and circular economy
production of the Group. Notwithstanding the results of the Group was
disappointing during the year under review, the Group believes that the
implementation of aforesaid improvement measures would yield on its
future results positively.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 11
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

As at the date of this report, Jiangsu Chunxiao still has suspended its
production and is carrying out the rectification works regarding safety
and environmental protection. The management of Jiangsu Chunxiao is
keeping close communication with the relevant local authorities to ensure
that the rectification works can meet the specific requirements and be
approved by the relevant local authorities as early as possible, so that the
production can be resumed soon.

Cyanide and its derivative products

Cyanide and its derivative products are core products of the Group
which accounted for 94.6% of the total revenue of the Group. During
the year under review, both the revenue and profit of this segment
dropped significantly as compared with last year. The decrease was due
to: (i) shrinking market demand and intensified market competition; (ii)
persistently high costs of raw materials; and (iii) increased production
cost in relation to the compliance with the higher standards of
environmental protection. In the second half of the year, the Group
has adjusted the marketing strategies according to the future potential
market development of its products. The market shares of this segment
of products have improved gradually in the second half of the year. As
there is room for further growth of this segment after the consolidation
of the chemical industry, the Group will spare no effort to deepen market
penetration as well as explore and capture more business development
opportunities leveraged by its competitive advantages of the existing
business model.

Alcohol products and chloroacetic acid and its
derivative products

The other two segment of products of the Group comprised alcohol
products and chloroacetic acid and its derivative products, which mainly
played a supporting role to enhance the cost effectiveness of cyanide
and its derivative products. The external market demands of these
segments have remained relatively stable. During the year under review,
the revenue of aforesaid two segment of products was increased and
remained unchanged respectively as compared with last year, and in total
accounted for 3.7% of the total revenue of the Group. In the future, the
Group will continue to optimise the production process of these segments
to improve their productivities with an aim to further strengthen the cost
advantages of cyanide and its derivative products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Outlook

Looking ahead, the business environment of the PRC manufacturing
industry will remain challenging. The deepening of supply-side reform
and the more stringent policies regarding environmental protection will
continuously affect the market development of the chemical industry.
Besides, there is no sign of alleviation of intense market competition.
To cope with the severe business environment, the Board will prudently
implement new business plans, which included planning ahead for
upgrading the existing production facilities and introducing advanced
production technologies and facilities effectively to ensure future product
development can meet even higher standards of safety and environmental
protection requirements. On the other hand, the Group will maintain
close communication with its stakeholders to facilitate mapping out
future business development plans effectively.

The Directors anticipated that the two new products which were
developed in 2017 would be launched to the market in the coming
financial year and generate new revenue contribution to the Group.
Besides, in order to effectively improve the quality of atmospheric
environment and enhance the protection level of ecological environment,
the Weifang municipal government issued the Implementation Plan for
Comprehensive Rectification of Atmospheric Ecological Environment
(the “Plan”) during the year under review, pursuant to which the
relocation of enterprises away from the central urban area is mandatory.
The production plant of Weifang Parasia is located in the area specified
in the Plan and falls within the scope of the Plan. Therefore, Weifang
Parasia should be relocated within a reasonable time. The Directors have
discussed with the relevant local authorities regarding the relocation
but not yet finalised the detailed demolition and resettlement plan.
Nevertheless, the Directors have initially intended to relocate the
production facilities of Weifang Parasia to the production plant of
Weifang Binhai by phases, with a view to enhancing the effectiveness
of resource allocation as well as further promoting circular economy
production, and reducing the overall operating costs in the long run. The
Directors believe that the relocation of Weifang Parasia’s production plant
will be carried out orderly and will not materially and negatively affect the
Group’s overall production and operation.

Though the journey ahead remains difficult, the Group believes that with
its proper business strategies, solid business foundation, effective business
model and wealth of industry experience, the Group is capable to seize
business opportunities and maintain sustainable development in the
future.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 13
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
decreased by 16.2% to approximately RMB1,179.3 million, as compared
with approximately RMB1,407.3 million in 2017. Such decrease was
mainly attributable to the reduction in sales volume and selling prices of
the Group's key products, namely the cyanide and its derivative products
which was caused by the shrinking of overall market demand and
intensified market competition in the demanding operating environment.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group also dropped to approximately RMB65.2
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB217.4 million or
76.9% as compared with approximately RMB282.6 million in 2017. The
decrease of gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in sales volume
and selling price, higher raw material costs and higher production
overheads which was caused by additional spending in optimising of
production process and improving of production facilities to uphold
environmental standards of manufacturing plants. The gross profit margin
also declined to 5.5% when compared with 20.1% in 2017.

Operating income and expenses

The other income was mainly comprised of (i) compensation from the
local government for resumption of land and removal of production
facilities; (ii) release of deferred income; (iii) bank interest income; (iv)
various grants from the relevant local authorities to encourage the
Group’s business development; and (v) other miscellaneous income during
the year under review.

The selling expenses increased by approximately RMB7.8 million to
approximately RMB52.6 million (2017: RMB44.8 million) during the year
under review. Such increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase
in cost in hiring of qualified and specialised transportation companies
for distribution of dangerous products to meet the relevant safety and
environmental requirements; (ii) increase in sales commission expenses;
and (iii) increase in credit insurance expenses. The selling expenses to the
Group’s revenue was 4.5% (2017: 3.2%).

During the year under review, the administrative and other operating
expenses increased by approximately RMB5.9 million from approximately
RMB82.8 million in 2017 to approximately RMB88.7 million in 2018. The
increase was mainly attributable to the write-off of property, plant and
equipment of Jiangsu Chunxiao during the year under review. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10
August 2018. Administrative and other operating expenses to the Group’s
revenue was 7.5% (2017:5.9%).




BAFEEIRE(7E)
BA RS AN

BB AEERRITERFERKE HEER
RAMBENFHME BT —EFHARE
4,100,000 738 p1 49 A R ¥ 500,000t 2 = F — N\
FHARKEA,600,0007  TERRARELBEFE
WERTTIE FF R _EFE 2R B R iR A R T 3K
RO EE BT -

BB R EE R

BEEBS RN T "FUBIHERZEE -
REAKENSRER  HESFETRERNA -
RZZE-NFERNATNR  IHEBRFEM(E
AABCTIER (fPRE) BaTERE) ([&%iE
) BREBCTERELANRRSRAME - L&
RENEERE LR ZIEREENET —E(CTE
B - ZAIRRZIE T ESETRRMRREBR T
tE CE—FHBREZE AR - N\FNA+
BzrE)  REIHERAR _E-NAF_A=
ARZIES TIENHITRA - WEED AR
ERMF®WE  RBTRES  AEEEEERTE
AR R TS ERIRARINEAR L - A
BALERETRE T RASIERIRIFERE < 1R
BB MERRENGE - ZEEARINEARFX
R AT U Bl S BRFFE - ez A E S BRE ERIT
HERBRSESBUMNEREE - Bt - REOBEFE
EH 2B BERERE -

RRRERABEERFERSE

AARBBEABRBEAFTFEBBEBEOARE
61,100,0007C (ZZE—tF : XQAFRHE AEGR
A AR 101,600,0007T) © :ZEBBREEHG
WEFITER I HEER L 2 MIRRBES M —
WIEYE - BB MR R ERERE - 0T
FPAL—REIEEFE - KRB AELE
B T REZE A RE 29,700,000 7T °

"EEENWRON
Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented bank borrowings interest and interest
for advances from the ultimate holding company, which increased by
approximately RMBO0.5 million from approximately RMB4.1 million in
2017 to approximately RMB4.6 million in 2018. The increase was mainly
due to an increase in bank borrowings interest rate and increase in the
amount of advances from the ultimate holding company during the year
under review.

Impairment loss on goodwill

Goodwill is entirely related to the acquisition of Jiangsu Chunxiao in
2016. Under the Group's accounting policies, the goodwill is tested
for impairment annually. On 18 June 2018, the government of Jiangsu
province issued the Work Plan for Rectification of Coastal Chemical
Industry Parks (Concentrated Areas) in the Province 2& /M8t TEE
(&hR) BATERR)) (the “Directive”) to deal with environmental
pollution problems arising from the chemical industrial parks. The
production plant of Jiangsu Chunxiao is located in one of the chemical
industrial parks under the Directive and subject to stringent environmental
improvement works according to the requirements of the Directive (please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 August 2018 for
further details). In light of the supplemental notice of the Directive issued
by the government of Jiangsu province on 3 February 2019 and taking
into account of the discussions with the relevant local authorities, the
management of the Group affirmed that it is inevitable to make addition
capital expenditure on Jiangsu Chunxiao for improving and upgrading
the existing production facilities and increasing environmental facilities
in order to comply with the Directive. Based on the valuation prepared
by an independent valuer, the estimated additional capital expenditure
will deprive the recoverable amount and it was below the carrying
value of the cash-generating unit of Jiangsu Chunxiao. Therefore, a full
impairment loss of goodwill was made for the year under review.

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company reached
approximately RMB61.1 million (2017: profit attributable to owners of the
Company was RMB101.6 million). Such loss included the recognition of
a one-off write-off of property, plant and machinery and an impairment
loss on goodwill due to safety and environmental problems of Jiangsu
Chunxiao in the financial statements. Excluding the impacts of such one-
off items, the loss attributable to owners of the Company will be reduced
to approximately RMB29.7 million.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 15
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Trade and bills receivable

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables slightly increased to
approximately RMB198.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB2.0 million or 1.0% as compared with approximately
RMB196.7 million recorded as at 31 December 2017. About 84.5% of
trade receivables were incurred in the last quarter of 2018 and most of
them are not yet due and 8.5% of trade receivables were incurred in the
third quarter of 2018. Only 7.0% of trade receivables are overdue for
180 days. Up to the date of this report, over 48.0% of trade receivables
have been settled. Thus, the Directors considered that no further bad
debt allowance is required on the balance of trade receivables as at 31
December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivable amount of approximately
RMB107.8 million, increased by approximately RMB17.8 million or 19.8%
as compared with the balance of approximately RMB90.0 million as at
31 December 2017. Since all bills receivable are bank acceptance bills,
which are non-interest bearing and most of them have a maximum
maturity period of six months, the payments of which were guaranteed
by the licensed banks in the PRC. As a result, the default risk is considered
minimal. Accordingly, the Directors considered that no allowance for
doubtful debt is required.

Short-term bank borrowings and advances from the
ultimate holding company

All bank borrowings were at floating interest rates and are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi. As at 31 December 2018, bank
borrowings decreased to approximately RMB20.0 million, representing a
net decrease of approximately RMB174.1 million or 89.7% as compared
with the balance of approximately RMB194.1 million as at 31 December
2017. The decrease was mainly due to an increase in bank borrowings
interest rate that the Group shifted its financing support from banks to
its ultimate holding company to reduce the overall finance costs. Thus,
during the year under review, an increase in advances from the ultimate
holding company amount to approximately RMB67.5 million to finance
(i) the general working capital of the Group; and (ii) capital expenditure
incurred for upgrading of production lines to meet the safety and
environmental regulations required by the relevant local authorities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s primary source of funding included the net cash inflow
generated from operating activities of approximately RMB16.8 million
(2017: RMB277.4 million), advances from the ultimate holding company
of approximately RMB67.5 million (2017: Nil), newly raised bank
borrowings of approximately RMB20.0 million (2017: RMB251.4 million),
bank interest received of approximately RMB1.7 million (2017: RMB2.6
million) and proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMBO0.2 million (2017: RMB0.03 million). During the year
under review, there was no loan from a non-controlling shareholder
(2017: RMB2.1 million), no proceed of issue of shares of the Company
("Shares”) due to exercise of share options (2017: RMB4.1 million),
no government grants received (2017: RMB2.7 million), and no capital
injection from non-controlling shareholders (2017: RMB30.1 million).
With the financial resources obtained from the Group's operations, the
Group had spent approximately RMB77.6 million (2017: RMB276.9
million) in the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; repayments
of bank borrowings of approximately RMB196.4 million (2017: RMB111.2
million); interest paid of approximately RMB4.3 million (2017: RMB4.0
million) and dividends paid of approximately RMB7.2 million (2017:
RMB88.1 million) during the year under review. There was no payment
for acquisition of a subsidiary (2017: RMB14.0 million), no repayment
of shareholder loan to a joint venture partner (2017: RMB25.0 million)
and no payment for acquisition of prepaid land lease payments (2017:
RMB4.7 million). As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank and cash
balances and pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB51.8 million
(2017: RMB228.8 million), of which 72.4% was held in Renminbi, 23.7%
was held in United States dollars and the remaining balances were held in
Hong Kong dollars and euros.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB211.6 million (2017: RMB262.4 million), the current
ratio of the Group was approximately 1.6 times (2017: 1.5 times). The
total amount of outstanding borrowings of the Group was approximately
RMB92.9 million (2017: RMB199.2 million). The gearing ratio (which is
represented by the ratio of net debts (total borrowings net of bank and
cash balances and pledged bank deposits) to total shareholders’ equity)
was 3.2% (2017: Nil).

The Group devotes to uphold a solid financial position and continues to
maintain positive cash inflow from operating activities, coupled with the
available cash resources on hand and undrawn banking facilities from its
banks, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its present
commitments and working capital requirements. The Group will monitor
its cash outflow closely and cautiously and be dedicated to maintain a
sound financial position and improve the equity return to the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 17
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2018, no bank deposit and bills receivable (2017:
RMB36.0 million) were pledged for bank acceptance bills facilities; a
restricted bank deposit of approximately RMB2.0 million (2017: RMB2.0
million) was a security deposit requested by the relevant local authority
to assure compliance with local environmental and safety production
practices; and bank accounts with deposits of approximately RMBO.7
million (2017: RMB2.2 million) were frozen to secure litigation cases
under the PRC court orders.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2017: Nil).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments which has been
contracted but not yet been provided for in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB76.2 million (2017: RMB100.4 million), for purchases
of property, plant and equipment as well as construction in progress,
while no capital commitment for authorised but not contracted for
(2017: RMB35.1 million) related to the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment as well as construction in progress.

Funding and treasury policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach on its funding and treasury
policies, which aims to maintain an optimal financial position and
minimise the Group’s financial risks. The Group regularly reviews its
funding requirements to ensure adequate financial resources to support
its business operations and future investments as and when needed.

Cash flow forecast is well-prepared and reviewed regularly by the senior
management of the Group (“Senior Management”), which facilitates the
Group to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents, and
sufficient available banking facilities to finance the daily operations and
capital expenditure requirements in foreseeable future according to the
funding and treasury policies of the Group.

During the year under review, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for any hedging purposes as the Group’s businesses are
principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the Group is not
subject to significant currency risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the borrowing cost and interest rate risk, any raising of
loans to meet the expected funding demand must be assessed carefully
and approved by the executive Directors. The Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC and its assets, liabilities,
revenues and transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

The Group's foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations was
caused by the impact of Renminbi exchange rate movements during
the year under review. Most of the Group’s income and expenses are
denominated in RMB except for export sales which were, in majority,
denominated in United States dollars. However, the Group has not
experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity
as a result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year
under review. Besides, the Group will consider adoption of cost efficient
hedging methods in future foreign currency transactions as and when
appropriate.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 1,428 (2017: 1,589) full-time
employees. The decrease in the number of employees was mainly due
to the effort to streamline business operations of the Group resulting in
manpower reduction during the year under review.

For the year under review, the total staff costs including directors’
remuneration increased to approximately RMB134.2 million (2017:
RMB127.9 million).

The Group has established its human resource policies and scheme with a
view to deploying the incentives and rewards of the remuneration system
which includes a wide range of training and personal development
programs to the employees. The remuneration package offered to the
employees was in line with the duties and the prevailing market terms.
Staff benefits, including medical coverage and provident funds, have also
been provided to the employees of the Group.

The employees would receive discretionary bonuses and monetary
rewards based on their ratings in annual performance appraisals of
the Group. The Group also offers rewards or other incentives to the
employees in order to motivate their personal growth and career
development, such as ongoing opportunities for training to enhance their
technical and products knowledge as well as their knowledge of industry
quality standards. All new employees of the Group are required to attend
an induction course and there are also various types of training courses
available to all the Group’s employees.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. During the year under review,
no share option of the Company has been granted (2017: Nil).

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 19



20

EE®RET
Directors’ Report

EEMAREAKEEREZ T /\F+-A=1—
HIEFEZ FRERKERIBRE

FEXR

ARRBREEB AT NEBEZEBXRKSH
% BUENHERMEIER - ZFERABD B
mEXZEER - SR CEMRETEER - BEE
i RCBEREETNFERREMICTER -

HEEBERDIK

AEEHE—T-/\F+_A=+—HLFEZXE
BN AFRE 57 ANFARER -

REBEFERN EFTETRPHRE (Z=—+
F iﬂxﬂ%ﬂ%o 047T » & 4 AR % 29,000,000
T WERZFE—+F+A=ZTHKNFRE) -

BEETREAREHE T \E+_A=+—HILFE
IR RIS (ZZT—tF : FREK0.017T) °

K EBE

ARAREBRN BIZERERRD ZARQFNF
B AR SASENRIERTAE BHOMEE - N
RAAIAR S EY T A EFT SR REENELM

FABE RS - RENEREDKAHES
EWHERE  XEBATAEE

- AKEERMEHMGERE

- ARBERE SR DR RO RREE

- EBLRRBAE R R kALK E
PR TS RA)
- AR AEBEREINABLE ST EERIR S

- AEBENEHEEESFTRKMARKEBE

2 ;

- EBEELBENRNAIEHANKEER IR

BENREEFENEMBRINAE

- EFER/RENIFNHEMRERE-

REETERBRAE

—E-N\FEH

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal business
of the Group includes research and development, manufacture and sale
of fine chemical products, which is broadly categorised into four major
product groups, namely cyanide and its derivative products, alcohol
products, chloroacetic acid and its derivative products and other chemical
products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 57 of this annual
report.

During the year under review, the Directors did not declare an interim
dividend (2017: HK$0.04 per Share totaling approximately RMB29.0
million, which was paid to the Shareholders on 30 October 2017).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2017:
HK$0.01 per Share) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The objective of the Company’s dividend policy is to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The Company may
declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and taking into account
the following factors:

- the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

- the balances of retained profit and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- the level of debts ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial
covenants of the Group;

- any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed to
the Group;

- the expected working capital requirements and future business
plans of the Group;

- general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group;

- any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.




REHOIERRR

AEBBE_T-\FT_A=+—HIEFEZX
BEEED SN ANFREIESE - F6E8A
RENEVRZ [MHEREMAFMBHME] T
s R ERETRmEDIT] FEH -

AEEEREER  FREAEBEHEIRHEERR
MRS - ARERNEREBRZY TV M EHEZH
% REPRHEBEERNLRY - Wik EXKE
HHALE -

RRBERRKRR

NEBAGEHEHER - hHRLREFENIRGRE
B o BBV ISO14000 8 HIRFEEIREB X - K
EEFURSEIREEEED - HMERE R/
DS - ERREREFE RO D BERUS A

AEBEKIIREEE A UEBAEESER
RPIRIRETE - AEBWERBAENEUBENTS
RIRRRIFTAZETE - M TR SCE RN EEERR
FHEMEKR - ZEBEFEBRREMA ERETH
REREX - MAB T MFRIBEIFISO14001
REEERARE - AEBEL 8 917 8
& T MEEEERE  —EBIRHRERE
BE - AEBREMEHDEHERRAEFERIR
RItE- AEBHFTEREETLR  REBRE
B #ERENRERESE - BRESNARR
TE:O)BAPRE  (NERBA (NBREE
FiERRREAR  2EEZAEENERS
&) NEIRERERBEEIE o

AEBEHEERRFERSRE - WRALENK
MAMEETE - REBEMARREBRHGEREN
[ =R IR - LARERD L5 R R B 4 A TR
BRET - BRNMAEE - RRTFHEMKEIKm
BRREERIT  BREERACKBZILTEHE
17 AEBEREEEYRIE - BREA - 265
R - WA B Rt B IEEN TIEZAT
FHEREMPIN TIFEEMRREE -

TEERE
Directors’ Report

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
is set out in the sections of Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial
Summary, Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 8 and pages 11 to 19 respectively of
this annual report.

The Group recognises that its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to sustainable development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality products and services to its customers and enhancing co-operation
with its business partners.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to maintaining a clean, energy saving
and harmonious environmental conservation policy. Through the
establishment of 1ISO14000 compliance environmental management
system, the Group improves its environmental management ability so as
to achieve environmental optimisation, minimise pollution, energy saving
and reduction of pollutant emissions.

The Group has established an environmental management team to
oversee all environmental issues Group-wide. The Group has also
implemented well-defined job specifications and a sound environmental
performance evaluation program so as to improve the environmental
performance of the Group from time to time. The Group has complied
with the environmental requirements laid down by the states and local
authorities as well as obtained 1ISO14001 environmental management
system certification since 2004. The Group constantly works to improve
environmental management through the plan-do-check-act quality
management principle. The Group uses its best endeavour to promote
environmental friendly practices to both suppliers and customers. The
Group pursues clean production processes, promotes circular economy,
maintains sound environmental rules and regulations and actively
promotes the 4Rs (Reduce, Recycle, Reuse and Replace) throughout all
the Group’s business activities to realise emission reduction targets.

The Group maintains its products to the highest standards, advanced
technology and production processes. All construction projects of the
Group have strictly adopted the “Three Simultaneous System”, to ensure
the prevention of pollution facilities incorporated into the project design,
construction and production at the same time. Environmental protection is
in place throughout the process from product design to finished product.
Clean production audit is in place and it is performed regularly. The Group
actively implements the waste treatment and recycling, controls pollutant
emission, and provides a safety and health workplace to employees with
an aim to improve their quality of working life and environment.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Environmental policies and performance (Continued)

The Group proactively promotes all employees to participate in
environmental conservation. The Group strives to raise environmental
awareness and competence of all its employees through environmental
protection rules and regulations and environmental work skills. The
Group based on the evaluation of current laws and regulations as well
as the significant environmental factors to formulate an ”Objectives,
Targets, Management Scheme”, and improves the “corrective and
preventive measures” of environmental aspects from time to time. The
Group developed a comprehensive “Significant Environmental Factors
Contingency Plan”. The implementation of Management Scheme,
corrective and preventive measures can effectively control the significant
environmental factors. In accordance with “Significant Environmental
Factors Contingency Plan”, the Group performs drilling regularly to
improve environmental emergency response capacity of all employees,
so as to achieve the objective of reducing pollution, energy conservation,
and environmental protection as well as conscientiously fulfilling
environmental protection, corporate and social responsibility.

Principal risks and uncertainties

In addition to the matters reported in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis, the following are the principal risks
and uncertainties that the Group is facing in pursuant to the disclosure
requirement of Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong).

Strategic risks

1. Unfavourable conditions in the global economy, economic
fluctuations in customers’ industries and volatility and cyclicality of
the global fine chemicals markets (in particular PRC market) may
adversely affect the results of the Group.

The Group maintains a balanced portfolio of products serving
a wide spectrum of customers. The Board is closely monitoring
market conditions and corrective actions are taken imminently as
and when necessary.

2. The ability of the Group to compete is highly dependent on its
ability to develop technological innovations and to introduce new
products. Failure to do so could have an adverse effect on the
Group.

The Group continues to invest in improving existing products,
developing new products and new production technologies through
research and development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Strategic risks (Continued)

3.

The failure of the Group to procure/produce key raw materials may
lead to production interruptions and sharp volatility in the prices
of such raw materials and energy prices may adversely affect the
profitability of the Group and its working capital position.

Sourcing strategies of the Group are in place to access multiple
sources for key raw materials and the Group works closely with key
suppliers to maintain a reliable and high-quality supply of goods/
services. The Group strives to identify suitable alternative raw
materials where possible. The Group actively monitors its profit
margins and uses best endeavor to recover input cost increases
from customers.

Operational risks

1.

Compliance with extensive environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations could lead to material expenditure or changes
in the operations of the Group. The manufacture, storage and
transportation of chemicals is inherently dangerous and any
incidents relating to the hazards which the Group faces may
adversely affect its financial condition, results of operations and
reputation.

Detailed safety, health and environmental processes are documented
in operating manual which is updated and communicated to staff
on a regular basis. Sound maintenance programs are in place in
order to ensure that the facilities meet local statutory requirements.
The Group established a safety, health and environmental
department dedicated to safety, health and environmental issues
and ensure the programs for continuous improvement across all
major safety, health and environmental areas are in place Group-
wide.

The ongoing success of the Group is dependent on attracting
and retaining high quality senior management and staff who can
effectively manage the Group’s operations.

The Group offers competitive compensation packages with annual
performance bonuses and long-term incentive arrangements (e.g.
share options) for key employees. Appropriate notice periods and
non-compete clauses are used to mitigate short-term risk arising
from the departure of key employees. The Group is also developing
a succession plan for key positions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Financial risks

1. The Group’s statement of financial position and cash flow or credit
market conditions and credit ratings may restrict the ability of the
Group to obtain credit facilities. In addition, upward interest rate
fluctuations and increases in bank lending margins may increase the
Group's costs of borrowing.

The management of the Group closely monitors cash flow and
working capital performance on a timely basis to ensure it has
a sound liquidity position and sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations. The management
of the Group regularly reviews the relevant loan covenants (if
applicable) for bank borrowings as well as the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise. Details of the liquidity risk and interest rate risk are
set out in note 42 to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

2. Customers’ credit risk will cause a financial loss if the counterparties
fail to discharge their obligation.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only
extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the assessment of expected
credit losses at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate losses allowance are made for expected irrecoverable
amounts. Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 42
to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM") will be held on Friday, 31 May 2019. Shareholders should refer
to the details regarding the 2019 AGM in the circular of the Company
of 23 April 2019, the notice of the 2019 AGM and the form of proxy
accompanying thereto.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2019 to Friday, 31 May
2019, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the right to attend
and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates should be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor of Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2019.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year under review in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 31 to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group on pages 63 and 64 of this annual report and note 32 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company can be used for paying distributions or dividends
to Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum or articles
of association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders amounted in total to
approximately RMB335.4 million (2017: RMB248.5 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, the Group spent approximately RMB77.6
million (2017: RMB276.9 million) on property, plant and equipment
to expand its production capabilities. Details of the movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at the year-end date.
The fair value increase in investment properties arising from revaluation
amounting to approximately RMB2.1million (2017: RMB1.6 million)
has been credited to the consolidated income statement. Details of
movements in the investment properties of the Group are set out in note
15 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other
donations totaling approximately RMB0.04 million (2017: RMB0.18
million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the five largest customers
accounted for 12.1% (2017: 17.9%) of the Group’s total revenue, whilst
the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted for
3.2% (2017: 5.5%) of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the five largest suppliers
accounted for 46.5% (2017: 44.7%) of the Group’s total purchases,
whilst the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 16.0% (2017: 15.3%) of the Group's total purchases.

At no time during the year under review did any Director, any associate of
a Director or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has an interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yang

Mr. Wang Zijiang

Mr. Gao Feng (resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)

Mr. Zheng Mingguo (resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)
Mr. Sun Zhenmin (resigned with effect from 1 August 2018)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Hongliang (appointed on 1 August 2018)
Mr. Guo Yucheng (appointed on 1 August 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Company’s articles of association
(the "Avrticles and Association”), Mr. Liu Hongliang and Mr. Guo Yucheng
shall retire from office at the 2019 AGM, and in accordance with article
87(1) of the Articles and Association, Mr. Wang Zijiang and Mr. Leung
Kam Wan shall retire from office by rotation at the 2019 AGM, each of
them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at
the 2019 AGM.

All non-executive Directors were appointed for an initial term of not
more than three years and the terms will be renewed automatically for
successive term of three years until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for a term of 3 years and thereafter shall continue from year to
year until terminated by giving three months’ notice in writing thereof by
either party to the other.

No person proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
set out in this report and note 40 to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 on “Related Party Transactions”, no contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates in
the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:
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BERTETHAEZESER (B) DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES (Continued)
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Hongliang, 26% by Mr. Wang Zijiang, 11.5% by Mr. Guo Xitian, 11.5% by
Ms. Zheng Hong, 6.5% by Mr. Guo Yucheng and 6.5% by Mr. Fu Anxu. As
at 31 December 2018, Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive Director; while Mr.
Liu Hongliang and Mr. Guo Yucheng are non-executive Directors.

Mr. Liu Hongliang is deemed to be interested in 584,000,000 Shares referred
to in Note 1 above by virtue of his 38.0% interests in Cheerhill.

Ms. Shi Huifang is an employee of Weifang Parasia and the spouse of Mr.
Wang Zijiang who is an executive Director, and therefore an associate of Mr.
Wang Zijiang.

Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as a general manager of the Company on
1 August 2018.
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Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executive of
the Company nor their associates had any interests or short positions in
any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2018.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2018, the register of substantial Shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following Shareholder had notified the Company of its relevant
interests in the issued Share:

Long position of substantial Shareholder in the Shares
and/or underlying Shares

FERAEE,
R RS A HERITRMOEEE
Number of Shares held/ BABE DL (%)

BREREE interest in the Shares 54 Approximate % in the
Name of Shareholder and aggregated interest Capacity total issued Share
T (BisE) 584,000,000 BEHEAA 68.55%
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The 584,000,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share capital of
which is ultimately beneficially owned as to 38.0% by Mr. Liu Hongliang, 26.0%
by Mr. Wang Zijiang, 11.5% by Mr. Guo Xitian, 11.5% by Ms. Zheng Hong, 6.5%
by Mr. Guo Yucheng and 6.5% by Mr. Fu Anxu.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any
person who had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares as at 31 December 2018, which are required to be notified to the
Company under the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 also constituted
connected transactions. The following transactions between certain
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group
have been entered into and/or are continuing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to a lease (the “Lease”) entered into between Weifang Parasia
and Weifang Tianhong, Weifang Parasia leased the office premises owned
by Weifang Tianhong for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2018 at a gross annual rental payment of RMB540,000, payable
on a pro-rata basis at the end of each quarter. Weifang Tianhong is a
connected person to the Company as Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive
Director and Mr. Liu Hongliang and Mr. Guo Yucheng are non-executive
Directors who have majority voting control of Weifang Tianhong, the
entering into the Lease constituted a continuing connected transaction of
the Company.

Pursuant to loan agreements entered into between Cheerhill with the
Company and Weifang Binhai separately (the “Loans”) on 1 September
2018, Cheerhill agreed to finance the Group to meet the Group’s working
capital requirements. Such Loans are unsecured and bear interest rate at
2% per annum, and due for repayment within one year.

The above Lease is de minimis transaction under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules and Loans are financial assistance from connected person
under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules thus they were exempted from
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Apart from the above transactions, other related-party transactions set
out in note 40 to the financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in note 40 to the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no other transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules and no contract of significance,
between the Company, controlling Shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries or in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, or which are required to be disclosed under
the Listing Rules subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered
into or existed during the year under review.

CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During this financial year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the directors (including former directors) of the
Company or its associated companies. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles of Association and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought
against such Directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of
the merit, qualifications and competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and Senior Management will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors
including the Group’s operating results, responsibilities required of the
Directors and Senior Management and the comparable market statistics.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Under the share option schemes adopted by the Company on 4 October
2006 (the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”) respectively, share options would be granted
to certain Directors, employees and other eligible participants of the
Company entitling them to subscribe for shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company. The 2006 Share Option Scheme was expired and
terminated on 20 May 2016.

Under the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of Shares
available for issue upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and other share option
schemes in aggregate shall not exceed 30% of the number of issued
Shares from time to time. The total number of Shares issued and which
may be issued upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled
or outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to each participant
must not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue unless approved
by the Shareholders in a general meeting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be notified by the Board, which must not be more
than ten years from the date of grant. Any Share allotted and issued on
the exercise of options will rank pari passu with other Shares in issue on
the date of allotment.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the eligible participants that become grantees. Each
share option will be vested immediately at the date when the option
is accepted. The share options will lapse immediately after the grantee
ceases to be eligible participant of the Group. The options will lapse due
to the expiry of the option’s exercise period.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the Shares to be issued upon exercise of the
options shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. The subscription price
will be established by the Board at the time the option is offered to the
participants.

Details of the movement in outstanding share options, which have been
granted under the 2006 Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31
December 2018 are as follows:

RERMERITE
REDERTHE ERBITE FRARK Outstanding
AR ANER Outstanding at Exercised  Lapsed during at the end
Category of grantee beginning of year during the year the year of the year
M At (ML) 140,000 - - 140,000
Ms. Shi Huifang (Note i)
BREZZE A (MGEii) 460,000 - - 460,000
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note ii)
8T 10,484,000 - 320,000 10,164,000
Employees
11,084,000 - 320,000 10,764,000
F 5 Note:
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(i) Ms. Shi Huifang is the spouse of Mr. Wang Zijiang who is an executive
Director and therefore an associate of Mr. Wang Zijiang.

(i)~ Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as a general manager of the Company on
1 August 2018.

The fair value of the existing share options of the Company calculated are
inherently subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the
limitations of the model used. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in variables
so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an
option. Further details are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

During the year under review, no share option has been granted under
the 2016 Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2018, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme is 84,687,800 which represents 10% and 9.94% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 20 May 2016 (the date of which the
2016 Share Option Scheme has been adopted by the Company) and as at
the date of this annual report, respectively.




BrRBERRE

AT ARAIK 2 BB RO BHS B AREA
RAVAMBRABRRIELL P12 2 RS HAID 2 B
BREIGSC «

BBRRR IR
BARRA - I AT ERRB AR R BHM
A AR BB R # R ©

BE HEIBEEARQF LHES

B HEHBOARQBER LHES

RHARERE

RTBEARRER 2 RRERATER - REARF
RAFRERSNEMEAESITRA - EFHER
ARB—EHF EMRRHRESNRARRFFR

=
E-°

BIFRERRATE
ARBBNBFHREZEREBER - BEART]
IR MEEE AR R ZER SR AFRE4ME
A9 B2 PEERWMEN o

ARTERBBETAEAETTEAATNBES
FH) o MAAREH BRSNS - LSRR
BERBE-B-N\E+=A=+—BIUIHRER
— BT IR T BT SRR -

BB
MBHRARCABE L ERRETMEEMARAT
([ifEEx]) |-

RIZB-NFRRBEFAE L #EREERE
& WERIERE/ARAEAZHED -

REREFS
FE
2%

58 —E-NAF=A-+EHHA

TEERE
Directors’ Report

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF BEST PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining the high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 34 to 49 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code for the financial year ended
31 December 2018.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited (“BDO").

A resolution will be proposed at 2019 AGM to re-appoint BDO as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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The Company is committed to building and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December
2018, the Company has adopted the principles and complied with the
requirements set out in the “Corporate Governance Code” (the "CG
Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board reviews the corporate governance practices of the Company
periodically to ensure the practices continue to fulfill the CG Code
requirements and considered that the Company has complied with the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year under review.
The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as
follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
strategic business direction of the Group and objectives for management
has been formulated by the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-
day operation responsibility to the management under the supervision of
the general manager of the Company and various Board committees. The
Board reviews the performance of the Group against the agreed targets
and budgets on a regular basis.

Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which mainly include (i) developing and reviewing policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring and revising policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as
appropriate; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior Management; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of
the Company; (vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s process of
information disclosure, including assessing and verifying the accuracy and
materiality of inside information and determine the form and content of
any required disclosure; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the committee
structure of the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees
and their accountability for the corporate governance practices and
make amendment as appropriate; and (viii) reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s communication policy with the Shareholders and its
stakeholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Corporate governance function (Continued)

During the year under review, the Board has (i) reviewed, updated and/
or formulated the communication policy, code of conduct applicable
to employees of the Group and Director, corporate governance policy,
inside information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal
control policy, whistleblowing policy, dividend policy, nomination policy
("Nomination Policy”) and Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”),
code for dealing in securities policy of the Company etc.; (ii) reviewed
and assessed the training records of Directors and Senior Management;
(i) reviewed or updated the effectiveness of the committees structure of
the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees and their
accountability for the corporate governance practices; and (iv) reviewed
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report of the Company.

Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors with effect from 1 August 2018,
including two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 10 of this annual report.
The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound knowledge, experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business operations and development of the Group. The independent
non-executive Directors, with at least one possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise, who offer diversified expertise and experience, contribute
significantly to the important function of advising management on
strategy and policy development. All the Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have
exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing to the
successful performance of the Group.

Save for Mr. Liu Yang, the Chairman, who is the son of Mr. Liu Hongliang,
a non-executive Director, there is no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationship among the Chairman, members of the
Board and the general manager of the Company. All of them are free to
exercise their independent judgment. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation
of their independence and is satisfied with their independence in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Company maintains appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
its Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 5]
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

According to the Article of Association, any new Director appointed by
the Board (in case of filling a casual vacancy) is subject to retirement and
re-election by Shareholders at the next general meeting of the Company
or at the next annual general meeting of the Company (in case of an
addition of Board member) following his appointment. At each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, are required to retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The
Directors to retire by rotation will be those who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who become or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
retire will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. To further enhance accountability, any further re-appointment of
an independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years will be subject to separate resolution to be approved
by the Shareholders.

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the Company
before the expiration of his period of time (but without prejudice to any
claim which such Director may have for damages for any breach of any
contract between him and the Company).

Training

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business and activities of the Group. A briefing
is provided and organised to ensure that newly appointed Directors
are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
and responsibilities as Director as well as the business and corporate
governance practices of the Group. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) will continuously update all
Directors on latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements so as to familiar compliance of the
same by all Directors.

During the year under review, all Directors received regular updates
and/or presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s
business. Besides, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of attending training course
or reading materials relevant to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Directors are requested to provide their records of training to the Company
Secretary for record.

The Company Secretary has attended no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge during the year
under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Chairman and general manager

The chief executive officer of the Company bears the title of general
manager. In order to reinforce the independence and accountability, the
roles of the Chairman and the general manager of the Company are
segregated and performed by Mr. Liu Yang (performed by Mr. Gao Feng
before 1 August 2018) and Mr. Chen Xiaohua (performed by Mr. Zheng
Mingguo before 1 August 2018) respectively. There is a clear distinction
responsibility of the Chairman to mainly provide leadership for the Board
and ensure the Board is functioning properly, with good corporate
governance practices and procedures, whilst the general manager of
the Company is responsible for managing the day-to-day operations,
implementing business strategies and policies approved by the Board,
developing and formulating the organisational structure, internal control
systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and general
manager of the Company has been clearly defined and set out in writing.

Board meeting

The Board meets regularly at least 4 times every financial year. The
Directors participated in person or through electronic means of
communication. All regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate the possible fullest attendance. The meeting agenda is set after
consulting with members of the Board. Each Director is invited to present
any businesses that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Directors are required to abstain from voting and will not be counted in
the quorum present in the Board meeting if any Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board.

The Directors have been invited to include any matters which they
thought appropriate in the agenda for the Board meetings. Notice of
Board meeting at least 14 days has been given to each Board member.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors not less than 3 days before the
Board meetings (or such other period as agreed) to ensure timely access
to relevant information. Each Director is able to access the management
of the Group separately and independently if more information is
required. All Directors are permitted to seek independent professional
advice, if required, at the Company’s expenses.

During the year under review, four Board meetings were held. The
Directors have discussed the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group, including annual budgets, annual
and interim results, approval of major capital investments and other
significant operational and financial matters etc. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
business, including amendments to relevant rules and regulations. The
Board's papers and minutes of the Company are kept by the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. All
draft and final versions of minutes have been circulated to the Directors
for review, comment and record within 30 days after each Board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board committees (Continued)

The Board has established the following committees with defined terms
of reference, which are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
CG Code. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on
the Company’s website and also available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Kam Wan, Mr. Gao Baoyu and Mr. Liu
Chenguang. Mr. Leung is the chairman of the Audit Committee and he
possesses recognised professional qualifications in accounting as required
by the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

(i)  ensuring the Group’s financial statements, annual and interim
reports, and the auditor’s report present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position and complying of the
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other requirements in
relation to financial reporting;

(i) reviewing the Group’s financial and internal controls;

(i) reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(iv) recommending the appointment and remuneration of the
independent auditor of the Company; and

(v)  other duties are set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has discussed the
following matters:

(i)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company and discussing with the independent
auditor of the Company the nature and scope of the audit for the
year ended 31 December 2018;

(i)  reviewing the Group’s significant internal controls and financial
matters as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference with
management of the Company;

(iii)  reviewing the audit findings provided by the independent auditor of
the Company, and identifying and making recommendations to the
Board on any matters where action or improvement is needed;

(iv)  reviewing the Group's accounting principles and practices, listing
rules and statutory compliance, internal controls and financial
reporting matters;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

(v)  reviewing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 and interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2018;

(vi)  reviewing the continuing connected transactions of the Group; and

(vii) reviewing the terms of remuneration of the independent auditor
of the Company with the Board on the re-appointment of the
independent auditor of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had also participated
to (i) review the self-assessment report on compliance of CG code; (ii)
evaluate the sufficiency of resources, the qualification and the experience
of the employees who were responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting of the Group, and the sufficiency of training courses received
by them; (iii) review and approve the annual budget of the Group; (iv)
review annual internal audit report of the Group; and (v) review the inside
information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal control
policy and whistleblowing policy of the Company etc..

On 25 March 2019, the Audit Committee held a meeting to review the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group are in accordance with the current best practices
in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee found no unusual items that
were omitted from the financial statements and was satisfied with the
disclosures of information as shown in the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Chenguang, an
independent non-executive Director, with Mr. Leung Kam Wan, an
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Gao Baoyu, an independent non-
executive Director and Mr. Liu Yang (performed by Mr. Gao Feng before
1 August 2018), the executive Director, as the three other members. The
majority members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
of individual Director and Senior Management, with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives as well as considering salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities,
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; (ii) reviewing
the Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure and other
compensation-related issues and make recommendation to the Board;
and (iii) other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman on its
proposals and recommendations, and also has access to professional
advice if deemed necessary by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee is also provided with other resources enabling
it to discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had (i)
reviewed the remuneration packages for all the Directors and Senior
Management by reference to their responsibilities and duties, the
Group's operating results and achieved corporate objectives, after
taking into account also the comparable market conditions and
made recommendation to the Board for approval; (ii) reviewed the
remuneration policy for Directors and Senior Management; (iii) reviewed
the terms of service contract of the Directors; and (iv) reviewed, assessed
and recommended to the Board in respective with the remuneration
packages and service contract terms of the newly appointed Directors. No
Director shall participate in any discussion and resolution about his own
remuneration.

Remuneration policy

The primary goal of the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Group is to enable the Group to retain and
motivate executive Directors and Senior Management by linking their
compensation with performance as measured against the corporate
objectives of the Company. The principal elements of the remuneration
package for Directors and Senior Management include basic salary, other
benefits, discretionary bonus and share option. In determining guidelines
for each compensation element, the Company will make reference to
market remuneration surveys on companies operating in similar business
and comparable scale.

The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors mainly
comprises directors’ fees which is subject to annual assessment with
reference to the market standard. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-
pocket expenses incurred in connection with the performance of their
duties including attending at the Company’s meetings.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang (performed by
Mr. Gao Feng before 1 August 2018), an executive Director, with Mr. Liu
Chenguang and Mr. Leung Kam Wan, as the two other members, both
are independent non-executive Directors. The majority members of the
Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors; (v) develop and review
the Board Diversity Policy; (vi) develop and review the Nomination Policy;
and (vii) discharge other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling
it to discharge its duties.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board which includes gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and the legitimate interests of the principal Shareholder. The
Nomination Committee will also consider the merits and contribution of
any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director with due regard for the diversity of the Board so as
to complement the existing Board.

Nomination Policy

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation to the following in assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate:-

- integrity and ethics;

- commitment in respect of available time;

- relevant interests with the Group or the Group’s members;

- government relations and the ability of public affairs communication;
- compliance with the relevant regulators requirements;

- diversity in all aspects (as described in the Board Diversity Policy);

- any other factors that the Nomination Committee or the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available, the
“gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be elected as a
Director. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee had (i) assessed
the current structure, size and composition (including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (iii) reviewed
and recommended the re-appointment of the retiring Directors for
Shareholders’ approval at annual general meeting; (iv) reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy; (v) reviewed the Directors’ succession plan; (vi) developed
and reviewed the Nomination Policy; and (vii) recommended the new
appointment of the Director for the Board’s approval.

Safety and Environmental Protection Committee

The Safety and Environmental Protection Committee is responsible for
enhancing the safety and effectiveness of production operations that
would eliminate the main operating risks of the Group. The Safety and
Environmental Protection Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang (performed
by Mr. Zheng Mingguo before 1 August 2018), an executive Director
and other members are Mr. Gao Baoyu, an independent non-executive
Director and Mr. Li Yuguo (performed by Mr. Sun Zhenmin before 1
January 2019). The primary duties of the Safety and Environmental
Protection Committee include:

(i)  formulating the Group’s overall safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations;

(i) establishing and maintaining a safety and environmental production
operating system of the Group;

(iii)  inspecting and monitoring the productions and operations of the
Group to ensure the Group's safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations are implemented effectively;

(iv)  ensuring the production operations of the Group are complied with
all relevant rules and regulations promulgated by relevant regulators
and authorities from time to time; and

(v)  responding and handling all complaints regarding the safety and
environmental issues and make recommendations to the Board for
improvement.

The Safety and Environmental Protection Committee did not hold any
meeting during the year under review.
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Exg (F) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEBEFEN  SEFHFEEEEEHE  E5TZ During the year under review, the attendance record of each Director
B MREAFAG ZREEsWT at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and annual general
meeting is set out below:
HESRTE
Attendance of meetings
Z2RK
RRBF RREEE
PN Safety and
Annual EVNEEE 20 ESk E¥ZE€ Environmental
general gxg Audit Remuneration  Nomination Protection
meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
HiTEZR Executive Directors
Bl Ee s Mr. Liu Yang*”7 1/1 4/4 23 22 11 NEfAn/a
IFIEE Mr. Wang Zijiang 11 44 - - - -
BB Mr. Gao Feng®® 1/1 212 173 - - -
(BEm=—Z-N\F (resigned with effect
NA—HEER) from 1 August 2018)
HRE AT Mr. Zheng Mingguo’ 1/1 22 13 - - -
(BEm=—Z—-N\F (resigned with effect
NA—HEER) from 1 August 2018)
FiRR F A Mr. Sun Zhenming 11 22 - - - M n/a
(BEm=—Z—-N\F (resigned with effect
NA—HEER) from 1 August 2018)
FHITES Non-executive Directors
Bt Mr. Liu Hongliang - i) 20 - - -
(RZB-N\F (appointed on
NA—BEZRT) 1 August 2018)
SBERFEAE Mr. Guo Yucheng - 22 22 - - -
(RZB-N\F (appointed on
NA—BEZRT) 1 August 2018)
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
PREF g6 Mr. Leung Kam Wan'# 11 4/4 33 22 111 -
BELLE 8 Mr. Gao Baoyu2#¢ 11 3/4 23 12 - i n/a
BRI 6 Mr. Liu Chenguang?3¢ 11 4/4 33 22 111 -
HRE - Notes:
1. BEZZEEEIERE 1. Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. BRZEEKE 2. Member of the Audit Committee
3. FTHZEEER 3. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4. FHZEENKE 4. Member of the Remuneration Committee
5. REZBEEER 5. Chairman of the Nomination Committee
6. REREGNE 6. Member of the Nomination Committee
7. ZENERZEGER 7. Chairman of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee
8. ZEMRRZEEKE 8. Member of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to Shareholders and the public pursuant to all types of statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
the applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements for the Group are
published in a timely manner. The Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 50 to 56 of this report.

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staffs of the accounting and
financial reporting function of the Group and also considered the training
programs and budget during the year under review.

Monthly updates have been provided to the Board timely during the year
under review. Management is also required to provide detailed reports
and explanation to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
before approval of the Group’s financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s system of internal
control and maintaining a sound and effective internal control system
of the Group to safeguard the Group’s assets and the Shareholders’
investment.

The Board is also responsible for the overall risk management functions
of the Group. Risk management procedure has been set up and
implemented for the overall operations of the Group, which is in place
to provide a consistent approach on the risk management processes in
identification, assessment, treatment and reporting of all risks identified
that would affect key business activities.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group comprise
a comprehensive organisational structure and delegation of authorities,
with responsibilities of each business and operational units clearly
defined and authorities assigned to individuals based on experience and
business needs. Systems have been designed to (i) help the achievement
of business objectives and safeguard assets against unauthorised use
and disposition; (ii) ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations, and ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the business or for
publication; and (iii) identify, manage and mitigate key risks to the Group.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
established to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks
of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.




REEEREARERE (&)

RNEBE A N ERER T 28T ARBIRFT A W ERES 172
F ARERREF KRR EEEBIEFZER

$EIWW$%J$WWE%J§%?“ﬁ
ﬁm T B2HEMERER M AERD
EBHELR - Eﬁ$ﬁlmﬂﬁgﬁﬂéﬁmm
ARRMETETELEENERZ - UTHEESR
B BRMERE  AEENRIEBIIEE
HREEeEERS -

REBEFER  AEBEOAFEASTFIRAEED
BREERETANEERERERZ  YERAES
BERER - ARFHELEAENERZEE - 8
RE—SUNERBERFIEED TREEREE - UK
BiemARBAREASBIIRE S TEZ - %F
FHERHDCEEE AN ERERT A PTEHIRE - B2
EFxemERnLl-

EERELBFHUAKENANEEIEMAE R
RZETHEENES - UHERZERE— E%Hﬁiﬂ
EWOFE@¢fW EECENARE AR

MEBREEERNNS Iuﬁﬁﬁmgﬁ&ﬂﬁ
5 o 1H:9\\ ' #MT%?Q;}E@#H EEEEE  BA
EEMISHREERF WﬁmEWMﬂ'M&
i}%xﬁlf)&xﬁl”iLfﬂi’iﬁ &/ EREER

Ve AR IR S AU I AR BN

AN - REBEASENE TFM - ETAIAERES
A IFMTES ST FHREEMAEE AR

Y EETEFA  FETARMFES  mE
EROTOE - BEBT IR - RIS RN
g -

‘REERERE
Corporate Governance Report

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

An internal audit department of the Group is established to ensure that
all internal control procedures, compliance controls procedures and risk
management measures and procedures are properly implemented. The
internal audit department of the Group is also formulating more control
measures to put in place and aims to establish more comprehensive
management systems so as to support the continuous business
development of the Group. The internal audit department of the
Group will report to the Board directly and periodically after performing
independent reviews and examinations on the risks associated with and
controls over various operations and activities within the Group and
evaluates their adequacy, effectiveness and compliance.

During the year under review, the internal audit department of the
Group had performed internal control review and examination on the
warehouse management of the Group. The findings have been reported
directly to the Board. The general manager of the Company is responsible
for making improvement measures including further improving the
segregation of duties, enhancing management skills of warehouse
department and implementing several recommendations suggested by
the internal audit department of the Group. The improvement progress
on these audit recommendations is followed up on a regular basis by
internal audit department to the Board’s satisfaction.

The Directors will constantly review the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group at least annually to ensure the
systems remain sound and effective on an on-going basis. During the
year under review, the Directors had reviewed the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group and
considered that they are effective and adequate. Besides, the executive
Directors participate in the monthly management meetings to review the
Group’s financial and operational procedures, fraud investigations (if any),
productivity efficiency and effectiveness etc., and/or meetings held as and
when required to address or rectify irregularities immediately.

In addition, pursuant to the employee handbook of the Group, employees
can report any ethical misconduct, impropriety or fraud cases within
the Group to the independent non-executive Directors or Chairman
anonymously in writing without fear of victimisation, subsequent
discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The Board is responsible for the handling of the dissemination of inside
information and other financial disclosure requirements procedures. The
Board is fully aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information of the Company should be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable. The Company has developed
an inside information disclosure policy with reference to the Guide on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission. Any unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
is strictly prohibited under the inside information disclosure policy of the
Company. The inside information disclosure policy has also clearly defined
the procedures for responding to external enquiries about the Group’s
affairs and ensure the strict confidentiality of inside information prior to
its disclosure. Employees who are privy or have access to unpublished
inside information of the Group have also been notified on the adoption
of the Model Code by the Company and on observing the restrictions
pursuant to Parts XIll and XIV of the SFO. The Board will review the inside
information disclosure policy regularly to make revisions or amendments
thereto, if necessary.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code governing
securities transactions of the Directors. Each of the Directors has
confirmed, upon specific enquiry, his compliance with the Model Code
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. The Company has
also adopted written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for the relevant employees. The Senior Management, who,
because of their office in the Group, is likely to be in possession of inside
information, has been requested to comply with the provisions of the
Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. No incidents of non-compliance of the
employees’ written guidelines by the relevant employees were noted by
the Company during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the”"EGM™)

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the”EGM") (Continued)

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionist(s).

If the request which has been verified is not in order, the Shareholders
making the request will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
must be in writing with contact information of the Shareholders and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move resolutions at
the general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as
a Director under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (as amended from
time to time) or the Articles of Association. However, Shareholders may
suggest proposals by sending written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary following the procedures set out in the paragraph
headed “Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” above to
convene an EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
Right to propose a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a written notice signed by a member of the Company
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected including that person’s
biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, shall
have been lodged at the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven
(7) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers its annual general meeting as an important
channel for face-to-face dialogue with Shareholders. The Chairman and
either the chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee or their representatives would attend the annual general
meeting of the Company answering and explaining to Shareholders the
issues relating to the Group’s business strategies and financial results and
proposed resolutions at the general meeting. At the commencement
of the meeting, the chairman of the meeting will explain the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any questions from
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

In addition, the Company also communicates to its Shareholder through
announcements, annual and interim reports. All such reports and
announcements can also be accessed via the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange. The Chairman and the investor relations
manager are the key spokespersons of the Company in all external
media communications and respond to inquiries from Shareholders and
investment community.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The annual fees payable to the independent auditor of the Company for
non-audit services and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the
Audit Committee. The provision of non-audit services by the independent
auditor of the Company requires prior approval of Audit Committee so
as to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company will not be impaired. Details of the fees paid or
payable to the independent auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Audit services HK$900,000
Non-audit services
Review of interim financial statements HK$100,000

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDE CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tiande
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the "Group”) set out on pages 57 to 164, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment on trade and bills receivable

Refer to note 42(iii)(c) and (d), and the Group’s critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and bills
receivable set out in note 4(x) to the consolidated financial statements.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments on 1 January 2018,
the impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is estimated based
on an expected credit losses (“ECLs") model rather than an incurred loss
model. Loss allowance for trade and bills receivable are measured with
ECLs which result from all possible default events over the expected life.
Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is a subjective area
as management requires application of judgement. Judgement is applied
in considering the credit history including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of trade
and bills receivable, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had trade and bills receivable
amounting to RMB306,517,000 (note 20). Allowance for impairment loss
amounting to RMB311,000 (note 42(iii)(c)) has been made over these
balances.

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable as
a key audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and considerable amount of judgement being required
in conducting impairment assessment prepared by management as
mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
on trade and bills receivable included:

Obtaining an understanding of the impairment assessment made by
the management;

- Assessing the measurement of ECLs of trade and bills receivable by
obtaining the understanding of approach being adopted by the Group;

- Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis,
against the source documents;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the use of ageing profile, historical
payment pattern, historical defaulted rates, forecast economic
conditions and forward-looking information in the ECLs model; and

- Checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data used in
the ECLs model.

Impairment assessment on goodwill and non-financial
assets

Refer to note 16, and the Group’s critical accounting estimates and
judgements in relation to impairment of goodwill and non-financial assets
set out in note 4(iv) and (ix) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill arising from
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of Jiangsu Chunxiao Pharmaceutical &
Chemical Co. Ltd (“Jiangsu Chunxiao”) before impairment amounting to
RMB17,668,000 is subject to annual impairment review. The non-financial
assets carried at cost which attributable to the CGU of Jiangsu Chunxiao
comprising property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease payments
and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB68,035,000, RMB15,296,000 and RMB43,000 as at 31
December 2018 respectively.

Management has performed impairment test on goodwill and non-
financial assets in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Management also appointed an independent valuation firm to estimate
the recoverable amounts of the goodwill, property, plant and equipment,
prepaid land lease payments and deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment attributable to their relevant CGU by higher of fair
value less cost of disposal and value-in-use calculations, as detailed in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, and concluded that
there is impairment of RMB17,668,000 arising from goodwill on the CGU
of Jiangsu Chunxiao.

We have identified impairment assessment on goodwill and non-financial
assets as a key audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and because estimation of the recoverable amounts
of the CGU involve significant management judgement with respect to
its underlying 5-year period cash flow forecast, discount rate and future
growth rate for the value-in-use calculation and the estimation of fair
value less cost of disposal calculation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
on goodwill and non-financial assets included:

- Evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence, capabilities
and objectivity;

- Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry, in particular those relating
to the 5-year period cash flow forecasts underlying the value-in-
use calculation and the estimation of fair value less cost of disposal
calculation;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the data
provided by the management, such as growth rate and discount
rate used.

- Conducting in-depth discussions with management about the cash
flow projections used in the value-in-use calculation and assessing
the appropriateness of the significant assumptions and critical
judgement areas which affect the value-in-use calculation;

- Benchmarking the growth rate and discount rate used in the
value-in-use calculation against independent industry data and
comparable companies;

- Evaluating and assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation and fair value less
cost of disposal calculation; and

- Performing sensitivity analyses including assessing the effect of a
change in the key assumptions to the recoverable amount of the
CGU.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Au Yiu Kwan

Practising Certificate Number P05018

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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Consolidated Income Statement
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

S G Tt
2018 2017
BisE ARETT ARETIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
E Revenue 6 1,179,300 1,407,329
SHE R Cost of sales (1,114,146) (1,124,684)
ER Gross profit 65,154 282,645
H AU AR ES Other income and gains 6 22,415 10,660
HEYEEGIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 15 2,100 1,580
HERX Selling expenses (52,573) (44,757)
THREMEERS Administrative and other operating expenses (88,730) (82,803)
BARS R AR Finance costs 7 (4,628) (4,089)
SRR Impairment loss on goodwill 16 (17,668) =
PTEEmIARN Fair value loss on derivative
NAEEE financial instruments 34 - (2,993)
EAEU G Gain on bargain purchase 39 - 206
o BRI E Gain on step acquisition 39 - 36
BlH—RKEa2R Share of loss of a joint venture - (5,538)
BRFrEFAT (B518) %F  (Loss)/Profit before income tax 8 (73,930) 154,947
FrisFiife, (Fx) Income tax credit/(expense) 9 5,214 (54,433)
REE (F8) unF (Loss)/Profit for the year (68,716) 100,514
B EE (Loss)/Profit for the year
(B518) %87 ¢ attributable to:
ZIN/NEIE YN Owners of the Company (61,058) 101,562
FEIE S Non-controlling interests (7,658) (1,048)
(68,716) 100,514
TEtE AR B ZES AFE(E  (Loss)/Earnings per share for
FE (E8) %FmE 2 (loss)yprofit attributable to owners
= (B518) &F of the Company for the year
o 7 - Basic 12 AR#¥(0.072) T ARE0.1207T
RMB(0.072) RMBO0.120
)] — Diluted 12 AR#(0.072) T AR¥0.1197T
RMB(0.072) RMBO0.119
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—E-NF —T—+tF
2018 2017
AR%T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
REE (FE) OuFl (Loss)/Profit for the year (68,716) 100,514
Hih 2 E W Other comprehensive income
HEWREHS2ES Items that may be reclassified subsequently
Wik zER : to the income statement:
WMEGINETSRIIERAR 2 Exchange (loss)/gain on translation of
EY (BR) e financial statements of foreign operations (226) 1,104
H—REEQH Share of other comprehensive income of
H fib 2w a joint venture - 2,121
AREEH A2 E =S Other comprehensive income for the year (226) 3,225
REERHEIKNFHEEE Total comprehensive income for the year (68,942) 103,739
FEAEAREEZERE Total comprehensive income for the year
4 attributable to:
RAREE A Owners of the Company (61,030) 104,492
JEFE i e Non-controlling interests (7,912) (753)
(68,942) 103,739

REETERBRAE B \FER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZE—\FE+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2018

—E-NF —F—+tF
2018 2017
PiEE AR¥TR ARETIT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
BEERGE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FEREEE Non-current assets
Y% R K& Property, plant and equipment 13 964,300 962,383
TN AR E FOE Prepaid land lease payments 14 60,742 62,831
A Investment properties 15 22,500 20,400
Bk Goodwill 16 - 17,668
B EE Intangible asset 17 15,783 17,586
BEWE  BER Deposits paid for acquisition of
REZEMT® property, plant and equipment 14,093 42,544
FEFIBE B Deferred tax assets 18 33,291 19,092
1,110,709 1,142,504
REBEE Current assets
"rE Inventories 19 139,261 178,526
B ZRENAR MR EE Trade and bills receivable 20 306,517 286,743
TR FIB R EMERFTE  Prepayments and other receivables 21 83,050 88,425
BRI TIF R Pledged bank deposits 22 2,691 34,218
R1TRIR S AEER Bank and cash balances 23 49,105 194,590
580,624 782,502
REBEE Current liabilities
B FENERERENEE Trade and bills payable 24 45,040 104,703
FEMARMERR R EAMER  Accruals and other payables
KIE 25 204,923 205,377
aHBaE Contract liabilities 26 6,917 =
RE R Provision for legal claims 21(b) 17,141 7,085
IRITIEK Bank borrowings 27 20,000 194,105
RE— R IEERAR R &Y Advances from a non-controlling
FafRR shareholder 28 5,546 5,272
B ZRIEIR A RIRTER Z Advances from the ultimate 29 67,801 =
holding company
METRIB A E Current tax liabilities 1,653 3,584
369,021 520,126
REBEEZFE Net current assets 211,603 262,376
HWEERRBES Total assets less current liabilities 1,322,312 1,404,880
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZZE—\FE+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2018

—EB-N\E —T—+tF
2018 2017
P AR®F T AREETFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBARE Non-current liabilities
FEIEU A Deferred income 30 7,775 9,077
FIERIEE R Deferred tax liabilities 18 22,137 27,278
29,912 36,355
EEFE Net assets 1,292,400 1,368,525
= EQUITY
&7 Share capital 31 7,831 7,831
B Reserves 32 1,263,287 1,331,500
AABEE AELER Equity attributable to
the Company’s owners 1,271,118 1,339,331
FEFE R Non-controlling interests 21,282 29,194
AR Total equity 1,292,400 1,368,525

FETE1AANGEAMBTRREN T —NF=
AZThHEARREFTSIELRETIE - X h
ATHRERRE

ek
LIU YANG
EF

Director

REETERBRAE B \FER

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 164 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 25
March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

EFFI

WANG ZIJIANG

EF

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-NF —F—+tF
2018 2017
PiEE AR¥TR ARETIT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
REHEELE ZINSHRE  Cash flows from operating activities
BETSRiRT (B18) aFl  (Loss)/Profit before income tax (73,930) 154,947
BT SIBERRE Adjustments for:
SRITHBUA Bank interest income 6 (1,676) (2,621)
—RAELBAFFBUWA Interest income from a joint venture 6 - (855)
IS EF B YA Interest income from finance lease 6 - (676)
R BRI Interest expenses 7 4,628 4,089
Jar A EFHIE 2 #5  Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 8 1,679 1,616
| A EEH Amortisation of an intangible asset 8 1,803 451
e Depreciation 8 99,945 89,792
FEIEUT AR D] Release of deferred income 6 (3,931) (3,374)
(BB HORZ= AT 838 (Reversal of write-down)/Write-down of
FEZEE  FE inventories to net realisable value, net 8 (3,761) 7,229
M - BERREBZME  Write-off of property, plant and equipment 8 23,538 7,755
FaN A EFKIE 2 $E  Write-off of prepaid land lease payments 8 421 =
LBy HEEHIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 15 (2,100) (1,580)
IRREAEE RN 2 Equity-settled share-based payment
FUBH S expenses 8 - 1,031
B SR REEE Impairment losses on trade receivables 8 3,822 6,706
P EREEE Impairment loss on goodwill 16 17,668 =
HEEWE S Gain on bargain purchase 39 - (206)
7 BRI Wz Gain on step acquisition 39 - (36)
i —RE & N alEE Share of loss of a joint venture - 5,538
H—RAELAFSHEEEMA Change in unrealised profit on goods
RE IR Al sold to a joint venture - (988)
mEEmMTAENARE Fair value loss on derivative
[E518 financial instruments 34 - 2,993
HEWE MENLBZEZ  Loss/Gain) on disposals of property,
BB () plant and equipment 8 556 (17)
EEEEHRIZ Operating profit before working
S vingl capital changes 68,662 271,794
FERL, (3EMN) Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 43,026 (42,175)
BFREWE TEBIRZEE L (Increase)/Decrease in trade, bills and
HAbEYRIER other receivables and prepayments
AR (Em) R (17,694) 101,074
JEW—RAEZAAIFIER D Decrease in amount due from a joint venture - 1,532
FE —REFEE QA A FIE R A Decrease in amount due to a related party - (1,191)
BFEMNEE - [BEMZH - (Decrease)/Increase in trade, bills and
HibEAFIBEREMAN  other payables and accruals
BRR ORlA) /45N (68,087) 29,939
EHAEEEM Increase in contract liabilities 6,917 =
REEBMERE Cash generated from operations 32,824 360,973
EATATIEH Income taxes paid (16,057) (83,599)
ARG R EL 7B £ FEE  Net cash generated from operating activities 16,767 277,374
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E-NF —E—+F
2018 2017
bz AR%TR ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BREEBELEZHSRE  Cash flows from investing activities
BEME  BERXE Purchases of property,
plant and equipment (77,565) (276,853)
Tat SRR Payments for prepaid land lease - (4,696)
HEWE MENKZMELZ  Proceeds on disposals of property,
Fr{S kI8 plant and equipment 171 30
W% - WENZEZ  Government grants for construction
BT 4 G of property, plant and equipment - 2,691
I — R B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary,
(HIBrFTUREEIR &) net of cash acquired 39 - (13,959)
BEIRIRI TR Decrease/(Increase) in pledged
wmA, (HEn) bank deposits 31,527 (34,218)
BHFE Interest received 1,676 2,621
KEZBATH B2 F88  Net cash used in investing activities (44,191) (324,384)
BMEXBKEEZHSRE Cash flows from financing activities
BERRE Dividends paid 11/41 (7,183) (88,080)
EATHLE Interest paid 41 (4,338) (3,977)
EATE R RE T Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
BITL B 2 TS FUE through exercise of share options - 4,118
BEEEEHER Repayment of a loan from joint
venture partner - (24,947)
EEIRITER Repayments of bank borrowings 41 (196,440) (111,176)
TG IRITIE K New bank borrowings raised 41 20,000 251,423
FEPEARARER HH & Capital contribution made by
non-controlling shareholders - 30,090
RE— B IR RS Advances from a non-controlling shareholder
Fafrtsk a4 - 2,068
KRB EAAEIR A FIHY Advances from the ultimate holding
TEfIR company 41 67,452 =
BEER ((EFH). Net cash (used in)/generated from
EEZIHEFE financing activities (120,509) 59,519
RekReEHEEE Net (decrease)/increase in cash
CRd) /#EhnFEss and cash equivalents (147,933) 12,509
FHlzBHeRIREEEER Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 194,590 184,320
SNERERE S 2 & Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2,448 (2,239)
FR2AS MRS EMEIAR Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 49,105 194,590
HeRELEEER Analysis of balances of
DT cash and cash equivalents
RTINS R Bank and cash balances 23 49,105 194,590

REETERBRAE

—E-N\EEH




‘HRERREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

AATEEAEL
Attributable to owners of the Company
e
4] I Effe  BhE
MEE  EftfEE  DAEE  Foreign il FEbRS
R&  RMEE HREE  Supls  Property  Public curency  Share EfifiE REEA Non-  HE&
Share Share  Special  reserve revaluation  welfare translation  option Other  Retained Rt controlling Total

capital  premium  reserve fund  reserve fund  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests  equity
ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

(W32a) (HE32) (HfzE32c) (k32d) (MizF3ze) (Mf3E32) (WHEE32g)
(note 32a) (note 32b) (note 32¢) (note 32d) (note 32¢) (note 32f) (note 32g)

RZF-NE Balance at

-B-REH 1 January 2018 7831 114822 31,182 68,338 1,653 633 (4.872) 5410 - 1114334 1,339,331 29,194 1,368,525
Rk Forfeit of share options

() (note 33) - - - - - - - (155) - 155 - - -
BRZE-t& 2017 final dividend

AHRE paid (note 11)

(M) - - - - - - - - - (18 (118 - ()
HEEARS Transactions with owners - - - - - - - (155) - (08) (1183 - (1)
KEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - (61058 (61058)  (7.658)  (687%6)
A2 EhE Other comprehensive income
BEENEREE  Exchange gain/loss) on translation

RRZER of finandil statements of

s/ (E) foreign operations - - - - - - i} - - - b} (254 (22)
FEEH (M) Tansfer of reserve (note) - - - - - - - - 69,065 (69,065) - - -
rEE Total comprehensive income

il gey for the year - - - - - - 28 - 69065 (130123)  (61,030)  (7912)  (68,942)
R=B-NE Balance at 31 December 2018

t=B=1-A

53 7831 11482 31,182 68,338 1,653 633 (4,844) 5,255 69,065 977,183 1,271,118 21,282 1,292,400

MIEE A PRREARME ([HE]) KZNZEN  Note: A wholly-owned subsidiary established in the People’s Republic of China (the
BARE R &ENE R NEFMER - “PRC") capitalised its retained profits to increase its registered capital during
the year.
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mEEREER’
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

ARAIER NE R
Attributable to owners of the Company
o
Vil S Efff  BRE
NEe  EffRE  AEE Foeign Fife SR
& ROEE  BAIRE  Supls  Property Public  currengy Share  REEF Non-  #ER
Share Share Special reserve  revaluation  welfare  translation option  Retained A7 controling Total
capital  premium reserve fund reserve fund reserve resrve profits Total  interests equity
ARETTE ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(MfF32a)  (MWsk320)  (BRsE320) (MeE3d)  (Wi32e)  (BE320)
(note 32a)  (note32b)  {note 32¢) (note 32d)  (note 32¢)  (note 321)
R=Z-tE  Balanceat
-B-B&8&  1lanuary 2017 7802 109,420 31,182 68,338 1,653 633 (7,802) 5692 1100852 1317770 (143) 1,317,627
TREEEHRS  Eouity-settled share-
ZITZFERE  based payment
expenses - - - - - - - 1,031 - 1,031 - 1,031
REEREE  Sharesissued under
¥kt share option
(Kizt33) scheme (note 33) 9 5,402 - - - - - (1313 - 4118 - 4118
—&FR Capital contribution
A made by a non-
controlling
shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 30,09 30,09
BEMZE—E 2016 final dividend
RERE paid (note 11)
(B 11) - - - - - - - - (39070 (59,070) - (900)
BRZZ—tE 2017 interim dividend
HERE paid (note 11)
(K1) - - - - - - - - (900 (29010 - (9010
SEEARE  Transactions with
owners 29 5402 = = = = = (282) (83,080) (82,931) 30,090 (52,841)
REEEA/  Profit/(Loss) - - - - - - - - 101568 101562 (1049 100514
(F8) for the year
Et2EKE  Other comprehensive
income
BEENER  Echangeganon
i e translation of finandial
B i statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - 2,930 - - 2,930 29 3225
REE Total comprehensive
2EWEEE  income for the year - - - - - - 2930 - 101562 104,492 (753) 103,739
RZF-tE  Balanceat
+tZA=t-8 31 December 2017
i 7831 114,822 31,182 68,338 1,653 633 (4.872) 5410 1114334 1339331 29194 1,368,525

REETERBRAE B \FER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

= — \F+=F=+—HIFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

There were no significant changes in the Group’s operations during
the year. The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 36.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the
ultimate holding company of the Group to be Cheerhill Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
IIBVIII).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") because the main operations of the Group are
located in the PRC. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 164 have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
also include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018
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REETERBRAE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the

Group

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following new standards, amendments and interpretations
issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective
for the Group’s financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to Revenue from Contracts with Customers
HKFRS 15 (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

Amendments to HKAS 40  Transfers of Investment Property
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the
accounting for financial instruments: (1) classification and
measurement; (2) impairment and (3) hedge accounting.
The adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018 has resulted
in changes in accounting policies of the Group in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. RMHATRNEEITETRYBREE 2.
Rl (48)

(a) AEBERMZHETNEERT £
Al (&)

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the

BRPBHRELEAFEIRERMTARI(E)

(i)

EMIAZHBLAE
BREVBHREENEIR AT
AEETEREIVRNEREEN

R DBEEEERTE - EEE
BraaEstABR ([BRAARE
STARBHE]) WERAERI -
BEEERREHSIBNALE
B ENEM 2P aEER
BRIFGELSBAGFHLAS
1ERIER © BEoh BB BIREE
A 9 RE BB SR ERISE 39
BRANEHER ILEREREERS
BEBEZRE - R - BEYH

SRAFIRIOERBNEE
SEHERIE 39X AN B R A
EXHeRMEE  BERREER
AR HHESREENRR
RABBMBRE LA FORY
AEEERTRABRITESR
TAMGHRREBERTZE -
BREVBHMEENRIRAAE
BEREEZNBRTENTE
FERXEHEG -

RIBFEV B RELEINR
BRETEZRUE  BRRIE -
Rl MEM RS (IREEE
I mEERE 155 - HALE
EXBEXRDZE S EEEK
FEMZAE - 7] & M E 8 UK
H) SN BERIIXERR AR
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DNREFABENEHMEE) &t
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B (NEAAEFARLMER
Wat (TEAREBEFAREMBER
Watl) : sidz 2R B AR
@ REBBMBHRELEAF
%o ERMEENDBE—RERW
EER]: ()VBEAEESREEN
EBEN RMESHASRE
B (TEXNAERFE] %
Al R [EXNAERAE
BRE]) - REFBUBHIREER
FOW - RAATETABEAR
HIETREENFIIR - BUM
Rz BB TARRER
AHE DR

Group (Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), where
the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9
retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it
eliminates the previous HKAS 39 categories for financial
assets of held to maturity financial assets, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The
adoption of HKFRS 9 has no material impact on the
Group’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities
and derivative financial instruments. The impact of
HKFRS 9 on the Group’s classification and measurement
of financial assets is set out below.

Under HKFRS 9, except for certain trade and bills
receivable and deposits and other receivables (that
trade and bills receivable and deposits and other
receivables do not contain a significant financing
component in accordance with HKFRS 15), an entity
shall, at initial recognition, measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
FVTPL, transaction costs. A financial asset is classified
as: (i) financial assets at amortised cost (“amortised
cost”); (ii) financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); or (iii) FVTPL. The
classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is
generally based on two criteria: (i) the business model
under which the financial asset is managed and (ii)
its contractual cash flow characteristics (the “solely
payments of principal and interest” criterion, also
known as “SPPI criterion”). Under HKFRS 9, embedded
derivatives are no longer required to be separated
from a host financial asset. Instead, the hybrid financial
instrument is assessed as a whole for the classification.
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2. BRAFIIHBIETEBMBHRE®RE 2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
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Al (&) (Continued)
(a) AEFEBEERM 2] MBI % (@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Al (&) Group (Continued)

BRPBHRELERFIRERMTAI(E)

(i)

REETERBRAE

EMTRZDENGE (B)
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HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

i)

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

The following accounting policies have been applied to
the Group’s financial assets:

Amortised cost

These are subsequently measured using effective
interest rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit
or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

FVOCI (debt instruments)

These are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and it has not
been designated as at FVTPL:

o It is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the
SPPI criterion.
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2. BRAFITSREIERBMBEE®REZE 2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

Al (&) (Continued)
(a) AEEERM 2R IS £ (@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Al (&) Group (Continued)
BRPERELERFESE ST A IE) HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)
() =MIEzoENtE (&) (i)  Classification and measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

WIMEF T ARKRE A TMIEK A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI if it meets

- BXWIEEER AR EF AR both of the following conditions and it has not been

@ AR AR EFFAEMEEK designated as at FVTPL:

e ZEHKIEHR-—ESER e ltis held within a business model whose objective
WP EHNE 2 RE KE is to achieved by both collecting contractual cash
EeRMEEZEBEXR flows and selling financial assets; and
gk

s ZTRMEEZAKNBERRE e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
FREEEHELERSR rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the
£ MZzREREFEE SPPI criterion.

SRS RFIBIRE o

TRPAREER T~ N\F— The following table summarises the original classification

A—BBEcmEEREE LS and measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the

FHEERIZE 395 R B D RETE new classification and measurement categories under

185 ARBIBEEBTHIREE HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial assets as

BIE oSz E kT 2585 - at 1 January 2018:

REFSETEL REBBHHREER

FIVFR-B-NF FORR=T-NF

BREHERNE30H ERRBREEAF R -A-ANEEE -A-BNEEE

RENEHER REMNIER Carrying amount Carrying amount

LHEE Original classification New classification as at 1 January 2018 as at 1 January 2018
Financial assets under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9
AR¥ETT ARETR

RMB'000 RMB’'000

B AR BRI B (3 2()(0)

Trade receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost (note 2(a)(ii)) 196,707 196,707

e SR IENGE BARBI A2 E R

Bills receivable Loans and receivables L EBTA (7t 2()0)

Debt instruments at FVOC
(note 2 (a)ii)) 90,036 90,036

18 RAMERTE SR IENGE B (3 2()(0)

Deposits and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost (note 2(a)(ii)) 44,737 44,737

BERRTER SR IENGE B (3 2()(0)

Pledged bank deposits Loans and receivables Amortised cost (note 2(a)(ii)) 34,218 34,218

RIRAS LS SR IENGE B (3 2()(0)

Bank and cash balances Loans and receivables Amortised cost (note 2(a)(ii)) 194,590 194,590
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Al (&) (Continued)
(a) AEFEBEERMZHR] HAMETT % (@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Al (4&) Group (Continued)
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HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

i)

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Transfer of financial assets previously classified as loans
and receivables

In managing the liquidity, the Group endorses part of
bills receivable before their maturity, and derecognises
the endorsed bills receivable when the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards to
its supplier. The Group manages such bills receivable
using the business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
such financial assets. Therefore, at 1 January 2018, bills
receivable amounting to RMB90,036,000 is reclassified
from loans and receivables to financial asset measured
at FVOCI upon adoption of HKFRS 9, with fair value
gains or losses accumulated in reserve and reclassified
to profit or loss when they are derecognised. However,
the Directors assessed that the fair value of bills
receivable approximate their carrying amounts given all
bills receivable have a short maturity, and therefore no
adjustment was made to the carrying amounts as at 1
January 2018.

As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, all other
financial assets except bills receivable which are at
FVOCI, are carried at amortised cost. Other than that,
there is no significant financial impact of consolidated
financial statements resulting from the adoption of
HKFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial instruments.




* B ISR R M EE
Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. BRAFITSREITERBMBEE®RELE 2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

Al (&) (Continued)
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HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s
impairment model by replacing the HKAS 39 “incurred
loss model” to the “expected credit losses (“ECLs")
model”. HKFRS 9 requires the Group to recognised
ECLs for financial assets at amortised cost (i.e. trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank and cash balances) and debt
instruments at FVOCI (i.e. bills receivable) earlier than
HKAS 39.

Under HKFRS 9, losses allowances are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
are the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. These are measures as the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
its trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Other financial assets are measured as 12-month ECLs.
The 12-months ECLs is the portion of the lifetime
ECLs that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 180 days
past due. However, the Group’s debt instruments (i.e.
bills receivable) at FVOCI are considered to have low
credit risk since the issuers’ credit rating are high.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); and (2) the financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.




* B ISR R M EE
Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. BRAFITOREIERBMBEE®MELEE 2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

Al (&) (Continued)
(a) AEE RN 2 5] S RIEFT & (@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Al (&) Group (Continued)

BRPBHRELAFEIRERMTAI(E)

(ii)

(iii)

EREEMNRE (&)
BHEEEREAZZE
nEXF - AREERE M
B ELERFEORBEFETR

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impact of ECLs model

As mentioned above, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measure ECLs which recognises

HEEEE  (FRERE ZEWE a lifetime ECLs for trade receivables. To measure ECLs,
ZERANBREEBERELA R trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
FrEEHEEEE  BZEEER credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Other
ERBEEEERRES KB financial assets at amortised cost of the Group includes
REDHE o RE B H fih 18 S5 bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged
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(iii)

(iv)

bank deposits and bank and cash balances. Since there
is no increase in credit risk, loss allowance recognised
during the year is therefore limited to 12-months ECLs.
Management considers the probability of default is
low on bills receivable, deposits and other receivables
since the counterparties are in good credit quality and
no historical default is noted. Besides, management
considers the probability of default is low on pledged
bank deposits and bank balances since they are
placed at the financial institutions with good credit
rating. The Group has assessed and concluded that
impact of HKFRS 9 resulted in adopting ECLs model
for impairment assessment on trade receivables, bills
receivable, deposits and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank and cash balances to their
impairment assessment under HKAS 39 are insignificant
as at 1 January 2018.

Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting under HKFRS 9 has no impact on the
consolidated financial statements as the Group does not
apply hedge accounting in its hedging relationships.

Transition

The general principle of HKFRS 9 is to apply the
standard retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors. For the new classification and measurement
requirements, the Group has elected for the exception
from the requirement to restate comparative
information as set out in the transitional provisions. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues
to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
previous accounting policy.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the

Group (Continued)

HKFRS15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15
supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to
revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken
under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or services in the
contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which control of
the promised good or service is regarded as being transferred
over time:

(@ when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance as the entity performs;

(b)  when the entity’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(©)  when the entity's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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Group (Continued)

HKFRS15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into
any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15, the entity
recognise revenue for the sale of that good or service at a
single point in time, being when control has passed. Transfer
of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that will be considered in determining when the transfer of
control occurs.

Customers obtain control of the chemical products when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue
is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted the
chemical products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 180 days. In the
comparative period, revenue from sales of goods is recognised
on transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which was
taken as at the time of delivery and the title is passed to
customers.

The Group’s contracts with customers from the sale of
chemical products provide customers a right of return either
to exchange the same product or to be refund in cash.
The right of return gives rise to variable consideration. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until the associated uncertainty is subsequently
resolved. The application of the constraint on variable
consideration increases the amount of revenue that will be
deferred. In addition, a refund liability and a right to recover
returned goods assets are recognised. In the comparative
period, revenue for these contracts was recognised when a
reasonable estimate of the returns could be made, provide
that all other revenue recognition criteria are met. If a
reasonable estimate could not be made, such revenue would
be deferred until the return period lapsed or a reasonable
estimate could be made. The Group’s obligation to replace
faulty products is recognised as a provision (details in note

3(0)).

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers from 1 January 2018 which resulted in
changes in accounting policies. The Group adopted HKFRS 15
using cumulative effect method without practical expedients,
which means that the cumulative impact of the adoption,
if any, will be recognised in retained profits as of 1 January
2018 and that comparatives will not be restated.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the

Group (Continued)

HKFRS15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The Group assessed the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on
its consolidated financial statements and concluded that
no significant impact on the Group’s revenue recognition.
Revenue for sales of chemical products are recognised at
point in time as when there is evidence that the control of
goods has been transferred to the customer, the customer
has adequate control over the goods and the Group has no
unfulfilled obligations that affect customer accepting the
goods. For the right of returns which gives rise to variable
consideration upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the impact is
insignificant to the Group’s financial statements.

Upon the adoption of the HKFRS 15, if there is any satisfied
performance obligation but where the Group does not have
an unconditional right to consideration, the Group should
recognise a contract asset. No contract asset is recognised
upon transition and at the end of the reporting period.

Adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the date of the

DIEATFHE - initial application (1 January 2018) as follows:
REEBETT REESBHH
ZERIZE 1855 WMEZERIE 1558
R-T—t#&F R=ZB-—N\F
+=A=+—-H2 —A—HZ
BREE BREE
HKAS 18 - carrying HKFRS 15 - carrying
amount at BHFOE amount at
31 December 2017 Reclassification 1 January 2018
AR®T T ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

FERIARATER 2 Accruals and

HAth fET5RIE other payables 205,377 (7,188) 198,189
amarE> Contract liabilities* - 7,188 7,188
& BEBEBMBERELERNE ISR - & @ Under HKFRS 15, a contract liability is recognised when a

HEBREREPXNREN (EAKE
MR R BPRARMRER
XNREESBEERNHZE - RA
SEWEFPREZRER

REETERBRAE

—B-N\EEH

customer pays consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before the Group
recognises the related revenue, or when the Group receives
consideration from a customer.
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() FEBEERM 2T HEIERTE (@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Al (&) Group (Continued)
ERMKERELEREISHIREEET HKFRS15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
ISR A S Al & 6 =) (Continued)
HRNBA - NRAB BB RS E The amounts by each financial statements line items affected
BIESSRAIE RN BB G ERIF 18 in the current period and period to date by the application
5% AEE RN ES X ERE BT of HKFRS 15 as compared to HKAS 18 that was previously in
HEERFISHE s SUBHREKIEBER effect before the adoption of HKFRS 15 are as follows:
WEEEWT :

R=Z-N\F+=A=+-H
As at 31 December 2018
R $25) EEHMKRE RnEB0H%
EBHBRE BB 155 HELEREI5H2

EBE15% HAENEHIE EZ B2%
Without Reclassifications Effects of
adoption of under adoption of
HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 As reported
ARET R ARETR AR¥T R ARET R
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
RERBMRRE Consolidated statement
(%) of financial position
(extract)
FERARATHR & Accruals and
HARERTFUR other payables 211,840 (6,917) - 204,923
AREE Contract liabilities - 6,917 - 6,917
RERERER Consolidated statement
(Fs) of cash flows
(extract)
RITEEBESZH Operating profit before
LT - working capital changes:
EU) R ES Trade, bills and
REMERFER other payables
FERRAER and accruals (61,170) - (6,917) (68,087)
BREE Contract liabilities - - 6,917 6,917
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the

Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 - Classification and
Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting
for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the
measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; share-
based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for
withholding tax obligations; and a modification to the terms
and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the
classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-
settled.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on the
financial statements as the Group does not have any cash-
settled share-based payment transaction and has no share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding tax.

Amendments to HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on
identification of performance obligations; application of
principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and
transition requirements.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on the
financial statements as the Group had not previously adopted
HKFRS 15 and took up the clarifications in this year.

Amendments to HKAS 40 - Transfers of Investment
Property

The amendments clarify that to transfer to or from investment
properties there must be a change in use and provides
guidance on making this determination. The clarification
states that a change of use will occur when a property meets,
or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and
there is supporting evidence that a change has occurred.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on the
financial statements as the clarified treatment is consistent
with the manner in which the Group has previously assessed
transfers.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

New or amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 — Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

This provides guidance on determining the date of the
transaction for determining an exchange rate to use for
transactions that involve advance consideration paid or
received in a foreign currency and the recognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The interpretation
specify that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income (or part thereof) is the
date on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or
receipt of advance consideration.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on the
financial statements as the Group has not paid or received
any consideration, in advance, in a foreign currency.

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

HKFRS 16 Leases’
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income Taxes'

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 23,
Borrowing Costs'

Definition of Material?

I Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede
HKAS 17 “ Leases " and related interpretations, introduces
a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of
more 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.
Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to recognise
a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to
make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise
depreciation of the right-of use asset and interest on the lease
liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability
into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents
them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use
asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present
value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease
payments and also includes payments to be made in optional
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option
to extend the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate
the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different
from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

Total operating lease commitment of the Group in respect
of land and buildings as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB1,872,000. The Directors do not expect the adoption of
HKFRS 16 as compared with the current accounting policy
would result in a significant impact on the Group’s results
though certain portion of these lease commitments will
be required to be recognised in the form of an asset (for
the right-of-use) and a financial liability (for the payment
obligation) in the consolidated statement of financial
position under HKFRS 16. However, the amount involved is
insignificant.
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(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty Over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12,
Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to reflect the
effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes. Under
the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether to
consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together
based on which approach better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume the tax authority
will examine amounts that it has a right to examine and have
full knowledge of all related information when making those
examinations. If the entity determines it is probable that the
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the
entity should measure current and deferred tax in line with
its tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable, then
the uncertainty in the determination of tax is reflected using
either the “most likely amount” or the “expected value”
approach, whichever better predicts the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKAS 12 which clarify that all income tax consequences of
dividends are recognised consistently with the transactions
that generated the distributable profits, either in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to HKAS
23 which clarifies that a borrowing made specifically to obtain
a qualifying asset which remains outstanding after the related
qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale would
become part of the funds an entity borrows generally and
therefore included in the general pool.

The Group has already commenced a preliminary assessment
of the impact of adopting the above standards and
amendments to existing standards to the Group. The Directors
anticipate that the application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretation will have no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions and/or the
disclosures to the Group’s financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these financial statements are summarised
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost convention except for investment properties and bills
receivable which are stated at fair values. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation and business
combination

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested
for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation and business

(9]

combination (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-
date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case
the costs are deducted from equity.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
non-controlling interests even if this results in non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to
exercise control. The Group controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and
the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal
group. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(e)

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined and are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have
been translated into RMB at the closing rates at the reporting
date. Income and expenses have been converted into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences
arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is disposed, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress (“CIP")) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost
of bringing the asset to the working condition and location
for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off the cost less their estimated residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

4.5% - 5% or the lease term,
whichever is shorter

20% or the lease term,
whichever is shorter
6% - 10%

18% - 19%

18% - 30%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

CIP represents leasehold buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct cost of construction
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction is transferred to the appropriate
class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect
of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The assets’ estimated residual values, depreciation method
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

Prepaid land lease payments

Upfront payments made to acquire land held under
an operating lease are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The determination
if an arrangement is or contains a lease and the lease is
an operating lease is detailed in note 3(n). Amortisation
is calculated on straight-line method over the term of the
lease/right of use except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived by
the Group from use of the land.

Prepaid land lease payments comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals and the other portion that is held for
administrative purpose. As the portion held to earn rentals
cannot be sold separately and is insignificant, it is classified as
prepaid land lease payments rather than investment property.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9

(h)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property is
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, it is stated at fair value,
unless it is still in the course of construction or development
at the reporting date and its fair value cannot be reliably
determined at that time. Fair value is determined by an
independent valuation firm, with sufficient experience with
respect to both the location and the nature of the investment
property. The carrying amounts recognised at the reporting
date reflect the prevailing market conditions at the reporting
date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in fair value or the
sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Research and development activities

Cost associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are capitalised provided they meet the
following recognition requirement:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the product and use or
sell it;

(iii)  the Group’s ability to use or sell the product is
demonstrated,;

(iv)  the product will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the product can be
reliably measured.
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(h) WEESE () (h) Research and development activities
(Continued)
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Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above
recognition criteria are capitalised. Capitalised development
costs are amortised over the periods the Group expects to
benefit from selling the products developed. Amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of
sales.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

(i)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies

applied from 1 January 2018)

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 87



88

B RS ERAR B RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. XESEERME (&)

()N EMEE (BTBREBE=-F—N

ﬂg_

0}

(ii)

REETERBRAE

A—BBER)(#E)

SWMEE (&)

BE IR (&)

BSERAN  AERA DR SR
BEMEE MBELSREEARN
SMF BT - BiRE AR
ATE o B AREBUERFE
ERETE o FIBURA - ERIBR
NORER IR AR - &RIFER
WS B 2ERER o

BAREFAREMEEWE &
WEBeHRenENMLESHE
EMHANEE (EENRER
EER/REMAENZMN) A
REFARMEERSFTE - It
FEEHRBRAAEE - 7B
ERFREAENF S WA - B
HERMAEDRIER AR -
H )5 las M B ENE M2 mE R
AR o AR LR -
fb2ERE RS REEE

B EEER -

SREEREER
REBERILEEK A EZE S
EUEEMEMESMEERIEAR
Bt AR EEKE 2 EHF LA
EREHEEEE 2 BEEE -
FEHEEEBIEUNTEF —EE
EHE:(HNRERAEHEES
B hRERERSBEI12EAR
AlRE B EMENEHERW AL
FEEE &k (2) FRAEEE
BEEE: WREmIAEF
FRARIBEBEAEMMBELNSHE
BMTEEEEEE - INMEFTTEE
FEEBERMEENTEIBEA
AEHHEKREERRNRRE L
HAfE o

EHEEEBREEEEENHEX
e - EREBTERRE
BHRNARENGHRERE
HEASBERARBNAERER
BZRMER REBEEREE
BERABERNRBTHFER,
g o

B \FER

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

0}

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. These are subsequently measured
using effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. These
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade
receivables, financial assets measured at amortised
cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI. ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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E2-F—\F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased if it is more than 180 days past
due. However, the Group’s debts instruments (i.e. bills
receivable) at FVOCI are considered to have low credit
risk since the issuers’ credit rating are high.

The Group considers a financial asset to be default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); and (2) the financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non-credit impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)(A) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and bills payable, accruals, other payables, provisions
for legal claims, bank borrowings, advances from a
non-controlling shareholder and advances from the
ultimate holding company are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
E2-F—\F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()(B) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2017)

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. Accordingly,
the comparative financial information provided continues to
be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

0)

(i)

Financial assets

Financial assets of the Group are classified into
loans and receivables. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition
depending on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired and where allowed and appropriate, re-
evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when,
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets
expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed
to assess whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, impairment loss
is determined and recognised based on the classification
of the financial asset.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to
determine whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment.
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3. XESHEEHE (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()B) TMEE (BHEKXBBHE=-Z ()(B) Financial instruments (accounting policies
—tF+ZA=+—HI1E)(#E) applied until 31 December 2017) (Continued)

(i) SWMEEZRE &) (i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
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Obijective evidence of impairment of individual financial
assets includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

- Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments;

- It becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- Significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

- A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from the group of financial assets. Such observable
data includes but not limited to adverse changes in the
payment status of debtors in the group and, national or
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). The amount of loss is recognised
in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment
occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to
the extent that it does not result in a carrying amount
of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost
would have been had impairment not been recognised
at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of
the reversal is recognised in profit or loss of the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payable, other payables, accruals, provision for a legal
claim, bank borrowings and advances from a non-
controlling shareholder.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All interest related charges are recognised
in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 3(u)).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligations
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Trade and bills payable, accruals, other payables,
provision for a legal claim and advances from a
non-controlling shareholder

These are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
effective interest method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant CGU that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount
(see note 3 (s)), and whenever there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual
asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of
disposal (if measurable) or its value-in-use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent
periods.
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E2F—)\F+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(1)

(m)

(n)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged in administrative
and other operating expenses in profit or loss and is provided
as follows:

- Technical knowhow is amortised on straight-line
method from the date of acquisition over the estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Both estimated useful life and method of amortisation are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, annually.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost
of completion and applicable selling expenses. Cost is
determined using weighted average basis, and in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form
of a lease.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Leases (Continued)

0}

(i)

(iii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, with the
following exceptions:

Property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property is
classified as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as investment property,
is accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see
note 3(g)).

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use the assets
held under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss on straight-
line method over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Assets leased out under operating leases as the
lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are measured
and presented according to the nature of the assets.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the
lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on straight-line method over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are earned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of
the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course of the
allocation of purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired
in a business combination. They are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and subsequently measured
at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in a
comparable provision as described above and the amount
initially recognised less any accumulated amortisation, if
appropriate.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax
benefits) to the extent that they are incremental cost directly
attributable to the equity transaction.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 97



p ST EL I
Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. XESHEEHE (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(g) Revenue recognition

(q) R
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Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1
January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

(i)  Chemical products
Customers obtain control of the chemical products
when the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the chemical products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 180 days.
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3. XESHEEHE (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)
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Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied from 1

January 2018) (Continued)

(i)  Chemical products (Continued)
The Group’s contracts with customers from the sale
of chemical products provide customers a right of
return either to exchange the same product or to be
refund in cash. The right of return gives rise to variable
consideration. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until the associated
uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The application of
the constraint on variable consideration increases the
amount of revenue that will be deferred. In addition,
a refund liability and a right to recover returned goods
assets are recognised. The Group’s obligation to replace
faulty products is recognised as a provision (details in
note 3(0)).

(i) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease terms.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iii)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest method.

Revenue recognition (accounting policies applied until
31 December 2017)

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and the use by others of
the Group’s assets yielding interest. Provided it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably,
revenue is recognised as follows:

Sales of goods are recognised upon transfer of significant
risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. This is usually
taken as the time when the goods are delivered and the
customer has accepted the goods.

There are no changes in revenue recognition in respect of
rental income and interest income as applied from 1 January
2018, please refer to note 3(q)(ii) and 3(q)(iii) respectively.

Annual Report 2018 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 99



100

B RS ERAR B RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

BHE—
3.

(q) WmwER (&)

(r)

(s)

REETERBRAE

BHEE (FHBRKXE-ZF-N\F—A
—REER)
BHREEAREREFRXNEmaE
ZRBHEL  MAKREDKRIIFTPX
MHREXFEFPEAAKEXNRESR
o

BRI 5 B

RAER AR IR RAE B W A/ B LA
RASEETE BT AL Pra M
HZBERT - TERAAERERRTH
Bt - BINHRERRIETRR - YRR
i o8 i B B 5 B (B O AR AN B Y P RE Y

HIR IR aiER - ERNSRBEYE
TR B a2 U RG » BB ABA 55K
ARIERBEERARE - WABREER

BRBER FHERSRER -

R AR AT AL O AR A W R
B [E AT s | ABFEZ 3R -

EERE (ERMEERMD)

REBREMR - AKEERME - BFE

R ANLEETR  BEEE
ARTH B AR 2 R HIRRE{E - AR
ERBAPRBTILEEED HBERE
R AERER < BERED MEFRE
HATBEER D ©

HEEIREERE (AR EREE
RAEEREEMER ZBSE) b5t

EREREE  MEEZREEHRE
HAJ e m &5 - R (EE R AN R AR

§Z %;E*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?@?ﬁgﬁ—lﬁiﬁﬁéﬁﬁk
BELARBHESRIE - EULE)
P ° ﬂﬁ)ﬁﬁéﬁ@ﬁTJ%EZIE\%/%E?IW%&E‘E

E‘EE\'J%EVE@EEWEJEIE °

B \FER

Z—\F+=F=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

TR BEME (B)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Contract liabilities (accounting policies applied from 1
January 2018)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to deliver
goods or transfer services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Government grants

These are recognised at their fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Grants
are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are
intended to compensate, whilst those relating to the purchase
of property, plant and equipment are included as deferred
income liability in the statement of financial position and are
recognised in profit or loss on straight-line method over the
expected lives of the related assets.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income and gains” in the consolidated income
statement.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
prepaid land lease payment, intangible assets and interests
in subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.
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E2F—)\F+ZA=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

()

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note 3())),
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group’s
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation
plans to certain employees and a supplier. All employee
services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based
compensation are measured at their fair values. These are
indirectly determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the equity instruments granted vest immediately unless
the compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve in equity.
If vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over
the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest.
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication
that the number of equity instruments expected to vest differs
from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

For shares transferred to an employee of the Company by
the Company’s ultimate holding company, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair value of
shares granted at the grant date, and is expensed on straight-
line method over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in equity. At each reporting date, for shares granted
to an employee with non-market performance vesting
conditions, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to reserve.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Borrowing costs

(v)

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset are capitalised, as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset, during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are being undertaken. A qualifying asset is an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs
are expensed when incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

Accounting for income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to
the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component
of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on determining
the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
investment properties are measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of these investment properties at their
carrying amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale.
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3. XESHEEHE (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(v) Accounting for income tax (Continued)
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
interests in a joint venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Income tax are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in
which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in
net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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3. XESHEEHE (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(i.e. executive directors) for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to
the executive directors are determined following the Group’s
major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments
which within the scope of HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts
with customer since 1 January 2018:

(i)  Cyanide and its derivative products: Research and
development, manufacture and sale of cyanide and its
derivative products;

(i)  Alcohol products: Research and development,
manufacture and sale of alcohol products;

(iii)  Chloroacetic acid and its derivative products: Research
and development, manufacture and sale of chloroacetic
acid and its derivative products; and

(iv)  Other chemical products: Sale of other chemical
products, e.g. steam and other chemical products.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches. Inter-segment
sales are priced with reference to prices charged to external
parties for similar orders.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting (Continued)

(x)

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that:

- expenses related to share-based payments

- rental income, rental costs and fair value change related
to investment properties

- share of loss of a joint venture

— fair value change on derivative financial instruments

- finance costs

- income tax

- gain on bargain purchase

- gain on step acquisition

- impairment loss on goodwill

- corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but investment properties. In
addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable
to the business activities of any operating segment are not
allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s
headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment and are not allocated to a segment. These include
deferred tax liabilities attributable to investment properties
and the Group’s headquarters, and borrowings undertaken
specifically to fund the acquisition of these assets. No
asymmetrical allocations have been applied to reportable
segments.

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

0) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(ili)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

0}

(i)

(iii)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Estimated fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent valuation firm to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining
the fair values, the valuers have used a method of valuation
which involves input of certain estimates. The Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

Inventories valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ taste and competitors’ actions in response to serve
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by each
reporting date.

The assessment of the estimated net realisable value involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimates, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and write-down/
reversal of write-down in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.
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4. EEGTHEFTRAE () 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
EEETHREBR (2) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)
(iv) FEmEEREMT (iv) Estimated impairment of non-financial assets
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The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate
of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGUs to which the
asset is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A
change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated
impairment provision previously made.

(v) Estimated useful life of intangible assets
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
life for its intangible assets. The estimated useful live reflects
the Group’s management’s estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of the intangible assets.

(vi) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes and the timing of payment of the
related taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

(vii) Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of

dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends, where the Group considers that
if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC
earned after 1 January 2008 will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes are provided.
Details of the unrecognised deferred tax liabilities in this
respect are set out in note 18.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(viii) Fair value measurement

(ix)

Certain assets included in the Group’s financial statements
require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and
non-financial assets based on market observable inputs or
unobservable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties and bills
receivable at FVTPL and FVOCI respectively. For more detailed
information in relation to the fair value measurement of the
items above, please refer to note 15 and 20.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 3(j). The recoverable amount of CGU has been
determined based on higher of fair value less cost of disposal
and value-in-use calculation, which require the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(x)

Impairment of trade and bills receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. For bills
receivable, measurement of ECLs are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and bills receivable is disclosed
in note 42 (iii)(c) and (d) to the financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors have identified the Group’s four product
and service lines as operating segments as further described in note

3(w).

These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are

2 i RBRE IR R —EEEL o made on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.
—E-N\E§
2018
HTKRER
FECLEYR HIEK Hite
HTNKFER Chloroacetic {tIER
Cyanide and BEER acidand its Other
its derivative Alcohol derivative chemical &%t
products products products products Total
ARBTR AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TR AR%¥Tx
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BB SRS LR Revenue from contracts
F155RATIEEERA  with customer within
BEEGHEFE the scope of HKFRS 15:
REIREP From external customers 1,115,052 7,550 36,022 20,676 1,179,300
Db B X Inter-segment revenue - 6,865 159,377 8,299 174,541
A2MHOEP2E%EEE  Reportable segment revenue 1,115,052 14,415 195,399 28,975 1,353,841
2R E Z Reportable segment
wmAl/ (B8 profit/(loss) 11,026 908 17,598 (1,900) 27,632
E Depreciation of property,
KR BIE plant and equipment 67,691 307 12,972 14,222 95,192
(EBHHOR) /MUHZE  (Reversal of write-down)/
ERFELFE Write-down of inventories
FEE to net realisable value, net (4,022) - - 261 (3,761)
W - BB REEE Write-off of property,
2 JisH plant and equipment 5,323 - - 17,245 22,568
RN TR ERHIE Write-off of prepaid land
Z s lease payments 421 - - - 421
2 o5RUERRERIE  Impairment losses on
trade receivables 1,679 - 5 2,138 3,822
AEmNB2EE Reportable segment assets 1,067,685 2,416 100,339 96,511 1,266,951
ERBOEEEEM  Additions to non-current
segment assets 88,424 - 22,823 1,039 112,286
AERPHB R Reportable segment
liabilities 172,884 1,567 11,850 25,565 211,866

REETERBRAE

—B-N\EEH
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5. oEER (E) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
—T—+F
2017
ALBER
AEEI K HETHER Hth
HTHER Chloroacetic It IESR
Cyanide and Be¥ffEdm  acid and its Other
its derivative Alcohol derivative chemical =
products products products products Total
ARETTE ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
s (M) Revenue (Note):
REINREP From external customers 1,299,048 2,173 36,044 70,064 1,407,329
D EBE 2 E 5 Inter-segment revenue 914 13,425 204,764 6,171 225,274
A2HRDEP2EEE  Reportable segment revenue 1,299,962 15,598 240,808 76,235 1,632,603
AEW|H2 Reportable segment
wFl/ (B518) profit/(loss) 226,433 2,990 112,254 (13,902) 327,775
ME - BENREIE  Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 56,346 106 13,213 16,502 86,167
WREREIRFEEL,  Write-down of inventories
FE to net realisable value 4,635 = = 2,594 7,229
ME  BEKEEZ  Write-off of property,
g5 plant and equipment 257 = - 7,498 7,755
2 ZRYERRERTE  Impairment loss on
a trade receivable 3,647 - - 3,059 6,706
AERDHBEE Reportable segment assets 1,102,575 912 100,368 118,509 1,322,364
IEREDEEEL N Additions to non-current
segment assets 221,230 = 22,809 17,129 261,168
AEHDHB AR’ Reportable segment
liabilities 192,920 667 12,967 52,434 258,988

BiRE - NERBEARBZEAV L RAE B I5H
SERNENS5RE - RIFZIE - LRERT
AREM  WERBEEBSAERIE 18R

ET

L TE M & R IHN R A TIE R
R EEBRRABYNEHEEEBAT
P MEFHEMERAMNZEHIE  AARE
B EAFEXPRREMNRETES

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using cumulative effect
method. Under this method, the comparative information is not

restated and was prepared in accordance with HKAS 18.

Revenue for chemical products are recognised at point in time
as when there is evidence that the control of goods has been
transferred to the customer, the customer has adequate control
over the goods and the Group has no unfulfilled obligations that
affect customer accepting the goods.
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5.

DEER (F) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
MR B L2 D AT RS 2 BB E T AR & B The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile
BWEF 25| 2 AN KB F ZH B EE 2 iR to the Group’s key financial figures as presented in the consolidated
LU financial statements are as follows:
—E-N\F T —+F
2018 2017
ARET R ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AIE2|H Iz & Reportable segment revenue 1,353,841 1,632,603
WD HE 2 2 HEFE Elimination of inter-segment revenue (174,541) (225,274)
mEERE Consolidated revenue 1,179,300 1,407,329
A 235 &2 A Reportable segment profit 27,632 327,775
s A Rental income 706 785
REYFEERIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 2,100 1,580
IRt E AR S22 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

IR - (1,031)
BARSA AR Finance costs (4,628) (4,089)
TESRMITIEAREBEER Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments - (2,993)
EEREEE Impairment loss on goodwill (17,668) =
ABUEN Gain on bargain purchase - 206
DERUEE N Gain on step acquisition - 36
TEEDELZ REIA Unallocated corporate income 2,648 4,918
TNz bR Unallocated corporate expenses (70,932) (63,363)
Eih—REE A RESE Share of loss of a joint venture - (5,538)
5 2 =P 2 S Al Elimination of inter-segment profit (13,788) (103,339)
BRPTSTRATAR S Consolidated (loss)/profit before income tax

(E18) & Al (73,930) 154,947
A EHo bz BE Reportable segment assets 1,266,951 1,322,364
A LA E R IE Prepaid land lease payments 62,409 64,509
WEWZE Investment properties 22,500 20,400
BEETIBEE Deferred tax assets 33,291 19,092
BEERIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 2,691 34,218
RITRIAEHR Bank and cash balances 49,105 194,590
W - B KEAE Property, plant and equipment 167,764 154,223
HEMiEEE Other corporate assets 86,622 115,610
IREEEE Consolidated total assets 1,691,333 1,925,006

REETERBRAE B \FER
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5. oEER (E) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
ARBT T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE2%nEHaE Reportable segment liabilities 211,866 258,988
RITE Bank borrowings 20,000 194,105
R B 2 TR R Advances from the ultimate holding company 67,801 =
BERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 22,137 27,278
mEIRIEAE Current tax liabilities 1,653 3,584
HEmprEaE Other corporate liabilities 75,476 72,526
FEBEARE Consolidated total liabilities 398,933 556,481

AEBERBEINABEFZ D BERTE D /A

The Group’s disaggregated revenue from external customers are

T divided into the following geographical areas:
—EB-N\EF —E—+4F
2018 2017
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R (i) The PRC (domicile) 871,748 1,058,974
ENfE India 103,152 131,084
EE United States of America 58,934 75,069
Y United Kingdom 17,633 15,429
BE Taiwan 15,111 14,178
Hih Others 112,722 112,595
1,179,300 1,407,329

BERzZRE D NEmKEESEE - i
RABDIERDEEBERUNTE - HES
HIRERE D 2 IFRBEE -

B Z—N\F+_A=+—HILFE I
EE P EAEBLEEN10%HA L
T F )
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The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the goods are delivered. No geographical location of non-
current assets is presented as the substantial non-current assets are
physically based in the PRC.

There was no single customer that contributed to 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
Nil).
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6.

LRARAEBBAN K S

AEEZ TEXKCHEMZEICWE - ~5E
FAZETEXBERBLEMBRAMKED
AN

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 36. Revenue
from the Group’s principal activities and other income and gains
recognised during the year are as follows:

—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR®T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REEZFHIT SN 2EEE Revenue from contracts with customers
SHESRECAYWRETIFESM Sales of cyanide and its derivative products 1,115,052 1,299,048

SHEMRE M Sales of alcohol products 7,550 2,173
HEQZLBRE TER Sales of chloroacetic acid and its derivative
products 36,022 36,044
HEEMCTESR Sales of other chemical products 20,676 70,064
1,179,300 1,407,329
NI E Other income and gains
HEME - BEXR Gain on disposals of property, plant
R PTEES and equipment - 17
T AL Government grants 779 1,034
ERITH B HA Bank interest income 1,676 2,621
—XEERARFLEWRA Interest income from a joint venture - 855
B ER BUA Interest income from finance lease - 676
PFEIEUT A FEE] (FIE30) Release of deferred income (note 30) 3,931 3,374
s A Rental income 706 785
BRI A (R BsE) Compensation income (note below) 14,652 =
FEIEUA Sundry Income 671 1,298
22,415 10,660
Btk - Note:

FR - PR BRFESES SR EXRER
(IZEE]) ETAREREBEREIR ([T
2l)  ARFREHRBAR ([ZEHWBEAF])
MEEEEEEN T R ZEEA - L FE
BB KRB Z L AEKTRE . Bt %
LB ARREFED B AARE421,0007T
(M3E14) R AR% 2,807,000 T (HizE13) H 3
DM THAERERE TEFERME - %5
MBARNNZ T E TEEREEBRER
EEZ—AEEREN  YEARBEAHARE
1,900,0007T ° FTE B B HEGE Wam R ER
BITRAE S &R o BT B E L
R E B A R B HE o

REETERBRAE

B \FER

During the year, the PRC local government undergone public infrastructure
improvement works (the “Works”) in Weifang High Technology Industry
Development Zone (the “Zone"). A piece of land for production activities
of the two subsidiaries of the Company (the “Subsidiaries”) was located
in the Zone and therefore it was resumed by the PRC local government to
facilitate the Works. Consequently, part of prepaid land lease payments
and certain buildings of the Subsidiaries with net carrying amounts of
approximately RMB421,000 (note 14) and RMB2,807,000 (note 13)
respectively were written-off. Certain production facilities of the Subsidiaries
situated at the land were relocated to another production site of the Group
and incurred relocation expenses of approximately RMB1,900,000. All of
them are recognised in administrative and other operating expenses on the
consolidated income statement. The PRC local government made removal
compensation to the Subsidiaries for the resumption of land.
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= — \F+=F=+—HIFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

The following table provides information about contract liabilities

Ao from contracts with customers.
—E-N\F —F—N\&F
+=A=+—H —HA—H
31 December 1 January
2018 2018
ARET R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
E4aE (fsE26) Contract liabilities (note 26) 6,917 7,188

AHNEBEXBHRERFMENREER -
HRFNEBITROEME R —N\F—
BA—Hm&HaEEESE AR 6,237,000
7T (KisE26) ERBEZE_ZE—NF+_A
=+—HIEFERNERBEERE -

RZE-—N\F+ZA=+—H " 2RET4AE
BRARNBETNRENEEN I HERR
RBARY6917,0007T  ZLBRBENASE
BREH—FARTROEREE KT HERN
BRE -

7. BBRA

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. As at 1 January 2018, the contract
liabilities brought forward amount of RMB6,237,000 (note 26) has
been recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018
as performance obligations satisfied in during the year.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregated amount of the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the
Group's existing contracts is RMB6,917,000. This amount represents
revenue to be recognised by the Group when the performance
obligation is completed by the Group within expected one year.

FINANCE COSTS

—E-N\#F —E—+F
2018 2017
AR¥T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

RITEFFE - 255
HAERBRER I
KB —BIFEBRARA

Interest on bank borrowings, all of which
contain a repayment on demand clause 4,338 3,977
Interest on advances from a non-controlling

TR AT E shareholder 19 112

R BRI BIRY Interest on advances from the ultimate
TR AT E holding company 271 =
4,628 4,089
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8.

BRETIBBIAT (B51R) R F 8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
—E-N\F T —+F
2018 2017
AR®T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
KETSFIAT (B538) % F)  (Loss)/Profit before income tax is arrived
Bk (GtA) : at after charging/(crediting):
EEM<E (FI5E10(a)) Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a))
-18% ~ Fees 355 354
- F4 - BYSEA R EMAEF] — Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits 2,667 4,049
— RIREFIET B K — Retirement benefit scheme contributions 102 130
3,124 4,533
HAbfE B Other employee costs 121,343 114,228
REFEE RN T2 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
FIERX - 1,031
RIRE AT SR Retirement benefit scheme contributions 9,727 8,126
e SRR Total employee costs 134,194 127,918
1Z SR B & Auditor’s remuneration 789 823
A 1t 7R SR IE Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 1,679 1,616
BT A S Amortisation of an intangible asset 1,803 451
HRARZ 2 TFEKA Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(f¥sxi) - B4E (note i), including 1,097,179 1,103,620
— (EIBHOR) MR E — (Reversal of write-down)/Write-down of
ASRFECFE inventories to net realisable value, net
FEE (MsE i) (note ii) (3.761) 7,229
M - BB REETE Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 99,945 89,792
MERIEK - B8 Exchange losses, net 366 9,857
M~ RS MR 2 i g Write-off of property, plant and equipment 23,538 7,755
TEAS -t A8 B SRIE 2 Hfi 8 Write-off of prepaid land lease payments 421 =
B S W REEE Impairment losses on trade receivables 3,822 6,706
HEWME - BEREEZ Loss/(Gain) on disposals of property,
B8, () plant and equipment, net 556 (17)
BHEMEET M RETH Minimum lease payments under operating leases
KEHENRERERIE in respect of leasehold land and buildings 2,277 2,090
FFEA A (B Eiii) Research costs (note iii) 5,793 5,268

REETERBRAE B \FER
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—E—N\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

8. PBRFISHiAT (BH)) &F (&) 8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

BteE Notes:

() TFERABFEHAREI5,192,0007T (=ZF (i)  Cost of inventories includes approximately RMB95,192,000 (2017:
—t & : AR¥87,032,0007T) ZiHFATE RMB87,032,000) relating to depreciation expenses and approximately
M R4 AR105,682,0000T (ZF—+ RMB 105,682,000 (2017: RMB96,866,000) relating to employee costs.
F: AR%96,866,0007T) 2 16 # & 8 5L These amounts are also included in the respective total amounts
Ko BELBENEF AL LXSITHENE disclosed separately above.

RSP -

(i) ZE-N\FELEHNOBEXZRARR_-Z (i) The reversal arose in 2018 is mainly due to decrease of weighted
—\F+ZA=+—BEFBENETRRBAIM average production cost of certain finished goods held on hand as at
R EER A TR - 31 December 2018.

@iy FHAERKEBELHARB798,000T (=ZF (i)  Research costs include approximately RMB798,000 (2017:
—+F : AR¥721,0007T) Z BT ERH RMB721,000) relating to depreciation expenses and approximately
SR ARYE 29940007 (Z T —+4F: RMB2,994,000 (2017: RMB2,778,000) relating to employee costs.
AR®2,778,0007T) 2 HHEEEKAE - B These amounts are also included in the respective total amounts
BB AL EXSTHRENEBE S disclosed separately above.

o
9. FiEH (E&) BX 9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
—EB-N\F B+
2018 2017
ARET AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BIEARIE - PEIM¥FTSH  Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax

- REEFHIA — Tax for the year 3,142 46,497

- BEFEEL S (ZR) — Under/(Over)-provision in prior year

IR 197 3)

S B B TR R PRC dividend withholding tax paid 10,787 10,120

14,126 56,614

REFIE (f43518) Deferred tax (note 18)

— BIET A — Credited for the year (19,340) (2,181)

R8st (%) /Bx Income tax (credit)/expense (5,214) 54,433
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9. Fi8Hi (&) BAX (&) 9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)
FTiS (%) /B EEBRETSRLAT (EE) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and (loss)/profit
i MR AR Bl ZFTIS AL R 2 18 2 HRR A before income tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax rate
N is as follows:
—E-N\F T —+F
2018 2017
ARETRT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BrETERLAT (B518) /&K (Loss)/Profit before income tax (73,930) 154,947

AR BEEEHFE25% Tax at PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25%

(ZT—Lt%F :25%) (2017: 25%)

AEZBIA (18,483) 38,737
GRS -7 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 6,352 2,065
R B AR B TR EE R PRC dividend withholding tax 4,787 10,120
PR AERTEE B2  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

G not previously recognised (443) (305)
KRERTEEBZHETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 4,044 625
BEFEDET (Z12) BIE  Under/(Over)-provision in prior years 197 (3)
Hith Others (1,668) 3,194
Frisss (o) X Income tax (credit)/expense (5.214) 54,433
R PO M B AR A TE BB EE A - IEMER No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax has been made as no
BABNETEE - assessable profit derived from Hong Kong.

FERBIK B ARIAER - —\FzH The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to the PRC
B EMERME25% (ZF—+F : 25%) Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% for 2018 (2017: 25%).
BN B EATER o

RIEP B EMSTEREARER - B Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its related
BEitZE =T N\F—HA—HBRERDANFE regulations, non-PRC-resident enterprises are levied withholding tax
FTiSHEWAR S - EPEIE RIS AR 10% at 10% (unless reduced by tax treaties/arrangements) on dividends
MR BNTEIRTE - BRIEFFUIBE T receivable from PRC enterprises for profits earned since 1 January
mESRLDRIERR - BEZZ—N\F+= 2008. The Group has adopted 10% (2017: 10%) withholding
A=+—HILFE AEEE T HERN tax rate for PRC withholding tax purpose for the year ended 31
RN10% (ZT—L%F  10%) HFERHH December 2018.

& o
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10. EEREREEENME 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEBHE (@) Directors’ emoluments
EfNEMNTFEBMNEEZEBE0T Emoluments paid or payables to each director were as
follows:
BB
HE- S
Retirement
2@ F MR benefit
e e Other Discretionary scheme it
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions Total
ARETR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-N\F 2018
HITES Executive Directors
215 Liu Yang - 437 - 67 - 504
FFI Wang Zijiang - 665 32 65 37 799
HieAE Zheng Mingguo
(R=Z—/F (appointed on
—A—R 1 January 2018

EZE WK and resigned on
—E-N\F 1 August 2018)

NA—REE) - 350 18 30 21 419
e Gao Feng

(RZZ—NAF  (resigned on

JNR—HEME) 1 August 2018) - 578 26 15 20 639
BERR Sun Zhenmin

(RZZ—NAF  (resigned on

JNR—HEME) 1 August 2018) - 350 22 12 24 408

FHUTES Non-executive

Directors

Elps Liu Hongliang

(R=Z—/\F (appointed on

NA—H 1 August 2018)

BZf) 4 - - - - 4
FDER Guo Yucheng

(R=Z—/F (appointed on

NA—H 1 August 2018)

BZE) 4 - - - - 4

BUFHTEE Independent
non-executive

Directors
RIRE Leung Kam Wan 127 - - - - 127
BEE Gao Baoyu 110 - - - - 110
ZFK Liu Chenguang 110 - - - - 110
ZZ—)\§45 Total for 2018 355 2,380 98 189 102 3,124
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10. EEREREERNHE (&)

(a) EEM= (&)

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

RINEA
TR
Retirement
HE iz WETEAL benefit
ik e Other  Discretionary scheme CED
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions Total
ARBFT AREFT ARETFT ARETFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“Z—tF 2017
HiTES Executive Directors
FFI Wang Zijiang - 760 30 226 34 1,050
F5H Guo Xitian
(RZZ—N\F  (resigned on
—A—HEE) 1 January 2018) - 760 30 226 34 1,050
=& Gao Feng - 990 4 230 32 1,294
FiRR Sun Zhenmin - 500 28 227 30 785
BUFHTEE Independent
non-executive
Directors
AHRE Leung Kam Wan 130 - - = = 130
BEX Gao Baoyu 112 - - = = 112
ZFH Liu Chenguang 112 - - = = 112
“T—t+Fa%  Total for 2017 354 3,010 130 909 130 4,533

FA - ANEE L EAEAEEERA
e - (ERIARER 2 SRR RBER
B(CCE—tF 8\ -

FR TECALERIETAEETR
RRAEREEAME (ZFT—LF
&) -

BE_ZT—+tFR-_ZFT—N\F+_A8
=+—HIFE BB TIRESE
ARBETE -

REETERBRAE B \FER

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2017: Nil).

There are no arrangements under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for the year (2017: Nil).

The discretionary bonus are determined by individual
performance of the Directors for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2018.
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10. EEREREERNME (&) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) EEBRESHMEAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
FA - EAKRERSMEecARBALT The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
ER MHE(ZTE—+F:0R) AE the Group during the year included four (2017: four) Directors
F BEEMEzFRBERMR EXZ whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
DT - FARMNEH—Z (ZF—+ above. Emoluments payable to the remaining one (2017: one)
F:—F) ATZB&mT individual during the year are as follows:
—EB-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR%TR AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
e WIBIEAK Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits
H oAz F 1,153 1,108
RREHET B4R Retirement benefit scheme contributions 15 16
fEiEsE B ARR D S 1 2 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
FIRFI X - 38
1,168 1,162
ZALTZHEBRIATEE : The emoluments of the individuals were within the following
bands:
A
Number of Individuals
—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
AR Emoluments band
7% 1,000,001 7tZ  HK$1,000,001 to
751,500,000 T HK$1,500,000 1 1
11. BRE 11. DIVIDENDS
—E-N\F T
2018 2017
AR%T R ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEFEEMNRERE Final dividend paid in respect
SRE®0.017T of prior year HK$0.01
(T —+fF: (2017: HK$0.08) per share
78#0.087T) 7,183 59,070
F A A A5 R ERRR B No interim dividend paid in
(ZE—+F: respect of current year
GRE0.047T) (2017: HK$0.04 per share) - 29,010
7,183 88,080
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11.

12.

BB (&)

11. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

EETEERBEE=_E—N\E+=_A=1— The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
HIEFERZFERMRBARE (ZT—+%5 - the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$0.01 per ordinary
BiRE@EREE 00T BUWARE—T—+ share and which was not reflected as a dividend payable in the
FRBZOBRRERAEMZE) - audited financial statements of 2017).
BR (BE) &F 12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
RREEB ANBEEREAREE (BR) The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
B THIRBEA T BRETE - attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR%TR AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RARHER NEGAREE (Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to
(E518) /% owners of the Company (61,058) 101,562
ZEREE
Number of ordinary shares
—ZE-N\#F —E—+F
2018 2017
TR Fi%
‘000 ‘000
M EERER Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(B1].) /BAmE 2z for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings
A% hnAE 58X per share 851,954 850,500
BT Rk R Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
— BB — share options - 3,652
M EEREE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(B8) /BFms for the purpose of diluted (loss)/earnings
2 E BT NRE IS8 per share 851,954 854,152
HE_ZT—\G+_A=+—HLFE K Diluted loss per share for loss attributable to owners of the
NEHE ABLEE 2 SRESEIRREGR Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 was the same as
EXREGEER  REASBRENZEZARE basic loss per share because the impact of the share options is anti-
SERE o dilutive.

REETERBRAE B \FER
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13. 1% - BERRE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
B BE
E VY
HENELE  BERMM RE Furniture, ERIR
BT Leasehold Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Construction fit
Buildings improvements machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total

ARBTR  ARMTR  ARRTn  ARMTR  ARWTx  ARMTx  ARMTx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZB—+f As at 1 January 2017

—-B-H
XA Cost 268,151 35 851,381 3,359 6,799 30,731 1,160,456
ZRIATER Accumulated depreciation

REEE and impairment losses ~~ (72,050) (35) (430,308) (1,950) (3,638) - (507,981)
REFE Net carrying amount 196,101 - 421,073 1,409 3,161 30,731 652,475
REFE Net carrying amount
RZZ—tF Asat 1 January 2017

—R—-H 196,101 - 421,073 1,409 3,161 30,731 652,475
BREKAHEA  Acquired through business

(£ 39) combination (note 39) 16,805 - 60,580 212 1,095 4,405 83,097
Sl Additions 854 545 12,317 1,309 903 308,443 324,371
i Write-off - - - - - (7,755) (7,755)
L& Disposals - - - (13) - - (13)
g Depreciation (10,928) (109) (77,008) (542) (1,205) - (89,792)
TREENDE  Redlassified upon

completion 13,106 - 98,670 - 17 (111,793) -

R=B-t% As at 31 December 2017

TZA=t-H 215,938 436 515,632 2,375 3971 224,031 962,383
R=B-tf As at 31 December 2017

t=A=t+-H
XA Cost 303,813 580 1,044,102 4,564 11,648 224,031 1,588,738
ZRITER Accumulated depreciation

REEE and impairment loss (87,875) (144) (528,470) (2,189) (7,677) - (626,355)
REFE Net carrying amount 215,938 436 515,632 2,375 3971 224,031 962,383
REEE Net carrying amount
RZZ-N\§F Asat 1 January 2018

—R—-H 215,938 436 515,632 2,375 397 224,031 962,383
& Additions 4,942 - 25,374 - ™ 95,069 126,126
s (R Write-off (note) (6,529) (327) (16,302) - (61) (319) (23,538)
& Disposals - - (726) - - - (726)
& Depreciation (14,833) (109) (82,841) (567) (1,595) - (99,945)
TREEFDE  Redlassified upon

completion 14,077 - 226,511 - - (240,588) -

R=B-N\F As at 31 December 2018

+ZB=t-H 213,595 - 667,648 1,808 3,056 78,193 964,300
R=B-N\% As at 31 December 2018

+ZA=1+-H
XA Cost 311,185 35 1,248,067 4,564 12,295 78,193 1,654,339
RENER Accumulated depreciation

HEEE and impairment losses ~~ (97,590) (35) (580,419) (2.756) (9,239) - (690,039)
REFE Net carrying amount 213,595 - 667,648 1,808 3,056 78,193 964,300
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13.

14.

% - BERRE (E)

AEBZBFURRTHHEERE 2HEHE
i

R-ZZE—NEFE+_A=1+—H r AREE
FEZERUNSKELEBEATEMEEDN
ETOERER DARGEHFEHOAR
#31,068000c (Z &2 —tF: AR
32,932,0007T) v & THEFZEEME #
F o REASBEFBEZBERZER @ A&
EEEETELAEERNBATESERERE
EFB#EE -

GEE

ETME - BERRBRENME BRI
TEE

() ANTIHREENETYE  BERRED
NEEMEMBRFNRERER  AREE
BIEPPREEAZFEERME - Bl &
EWE - BERRBOEDFERARE
18,261,000 TLE MK © HE—FFHBL IR
ARRRZZE-NFNATHNREA : &

(i)  fKTEE6PTRE - RANMEE i - ARE R
EFE A AR 2,807,000 TTHY & T 25EY)
ERFAMH -

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Group’s buildings are situated on leasehold lands under
medium-term in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2018, building ownership certificates of
certain buildings with net carrying amount of approximately
RMB31,068,000 (2017: RMB32,932,000) have not yet been
obtained due to additional time will be required to finalise certain
administrative process for the registration of the transfer of legal
title. In the opinion of the PRC legal advisors of the Group, the
Group is entitled to obtain the building ownership certificates
without legal impediment.

Note:

Certain property, plant and equipment were written off during the year and
this mainly comprises the following:

(i) Certain property, plant and equipment of Jiangsu Chunxiao with a
net carrying amount of RMB18,261,000 were written off because
these production facilities could not be used during the course
of production as these do not meet the current environmental
requirements imposed by the local government. Further details have
been set out in the Company’s announcement dated 10 August
2018; and

(i) As detailed in note 6, as a result of the resumption of land, certain
buildings of the Group with a net carrying amount of RMB2,807,000
were written off during the year.

AL wEERIE 14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
AR%TR AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
®n—HA—H At 1 January 64,509 61,429
)l Additions - 4,696
TES 4t AE & SRIREE 5 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments (1,679) (1,616)
s (fdsE6) Write-off (note 6) (421) =
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 62,409 64,509
BNEREE S (BB FEFEFEFKIE Current portion (included in prepayments
N E b fEWIE) (FF5E21)  and other receivables) (note 21) (1,667) (1,678)
FERNERES Non-current portion 60,742 62,831

AEBEZ BN TBEERBIRTEZHH
HERH -

REETERBRAE

B \FER

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments are held under medium-
term in the PRC.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair
value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair

FEM A E BRI T - value balances and changes to the carrying amounts is summarised
as follows:

—E-N\F —T—+F

2018 2017

AR¥TR AREBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Rn—H—H At 1 January 20,400 18,820

WEYFEHIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 2,100 1,580

KR+—A=+—H At 31 December 22,500 20,400

SEMER - \F+_A=1+—HHEB
VPRI ERITEEREREAR AT ([E
2| ) (AT E It REDE &) -
HEITEM - EMEEAR2,100,0007T (=
T—+4% : ARE#¥1,580,0007T) BERNEE

=

1RaHER

AEBEZREMEUNETFHREEREZF
BHE i

FRN - WENE—RHIEE — KR 2 HHE
B w2 BBASBLE=FR (ZF—t
FE) -

BRENEZAAREBNRBERRAABRL
BORETE - MELBRIERAILRYE 2 UE
T |UARN - BB ME - FERUE
ZRI B E D EITOMN

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2018 by an
independent firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea Professional Services
Company Limited (“Eidea”), who has the recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. Revaluation gain of
RMB2,100,000 (2017: RMB1,580,000) was recognised in profit or
loss for the year.

The Group's investment properties are situated on leasehold lands
under medium-term in the PRC.

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2017: Nil).

The fair value of investment properties is determined using direct
comparison approach based on the principle of substitution, where
the comparison is made based on asking prices of comparable
properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, nature,
character and location are analysed.

EE
Range
—E-N\F —ET—tF
RTaER@|AE : Unobservable input(s): 2018 2017
PR 2 Premium/(discount) on characteristic
BB (FriE) of the properties 15% to 43% (10%) to 14%

mEEMEEE (BEA)D - BB EE -
FERLE) WEEXTERS B EHR
HERERBEZARE -

AT

HERMNFRLENLE - HEMENDAR
ErfETERN&R IREEBMRE - WBY

EFBEELERERBR
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Higher premium or discount for the characteristic (including size,
scale, nature, character and location) of the investment properties
will result in correspondingly higher or lower fair value.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.



p ST EL I
Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—\F+=_A=+—HIEFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018

128

16. B 16. GOODWILL
—E-N\E —F—+tF
2018 2017
AR®F T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—HA—H At 1 January 17,668 17,668
B REEE Less: impairment loss (17,668) =
R+=—A=+—8 At 31 December - 17,668

RETRENR  AEIRETIHEENR
TELEN - ZABIEENE - REMHE
SR TEMNRTY - IHRERNRGE
EEUMABESEIREEREEEE
MERBEDZEEA M ENTFRARER
MIFRREREFRRFE - AFHEARD
REeRERMEFIEFIIIERE2% (ZF
—tF:2%) (TBBFBE(CTITENRD
BEX) #H - FIERERRAMRIRE - I
ERREAER S ES B AR ABRER -

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to CGU of Jiangsu Chunxiao which is engaged in research and
development, manufacturing and sales of fine chemical products,
the recoverable amount of the CGU of Jiangsu Chunxiao has
been determined by value-in-use calculation based on discounted
cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate of
2% (2017: 2%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate
for the chemical industry in the PRC. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

—s-NE Tt

2018 2017

# R R Growth rate 2% 2%
FHRTHTINE Pre-tax discount rate 15.7% 20%

et RBRRDREEERBRSELEME
EXRBAETSERNFEHRETE < TEEHE
MR & A B AR A W B & B TY BB S RT
REMTEEMRE  ZAMAEARSELE
IRl B S B R E B A B8 AR -

B AN ER A LSRRI AR B E A
BE EFRA REFCHEBEFEERE
WRESEABUNITRESEMHTAAR
#83,374,000C° HREE - WX BE
MEE BN HHEEREREEDE K
BEREREZEMITENEREED I ABARE
17,668,000 7T + A R%68,035,0007C * AR
#%15,296,000 7T & A R# 43,000 7T + BEER
B A BN IR EEE AR 17,668,000
T WEEIEAMBEE S —N\F+=
A=+—HIFERNEERAE - RERFE
FERHMRIRT&RE BT LHNES -

TR EEREEEZ IS BHEIINE AT H
R E TR A EE AR e S 3 DNER IR AR MEFTER o

RECTERBIRAH

B \FER

Estimates and assumptions are determined by management
based on the past performance of the CGU and management’s
expectation for the market development. The recoverable amount
of the CGU of Jiangsu ChunXiao is estimated by an independent
firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea, who has the appropriate
qualification and experience in the valuation of recoverable amount
of CGU.

It was concluded that the fair value less cost of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. The Directors are of the view that the
recoverable amount of the CGU determined by the value-in-use
calculation, is estimated to be RMB83,374,000. As the carrying
amounts of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, prepaid land
lease payment and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment amounted to RMB17,668,000, RMB68,035,000,
RMB15,296,000 and RMB43,000 respectively, which resulted in
an impairment loss of RMB17,668,000 in respect of the CGU was
identified and allocated to write down its carrying amounts of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2018. The impairment
loss is primarily due to an additional capital expenditure is required
for improving and upgrading the production facilities and increasing
environmental facilities before resumption of production of Jiangsu
Chunxiao according to the directive issued by the government of
Jiangsu province.
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17. BREEE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ol A8
Technical
knowhow
AR¥ETR
RMB’000
R=ZE—tF—H—H At 1 January 2017 -
BRERAHEA (Mi7E39) Acquired through business combination (note 39) 18,037
5 Amortisation (451)

RZT—+F+_A=+—HK At 31 December 2017 and
—Z-N\F—H—H 1 January 2018 17,586
B Amortisation (1,803)
R=ZE—N\F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2018 15,783

BEAESER _FT—tFNAZKKER
SREZERERAR ([ERERE]) Mgy
ERHMHERAR (EDES]) (BB
[EmEE]) REGHAECAERNARE
RERAERE R A8 (P 5E39) = FRAMo AN 848 55
BERERRZEGR A ERFR 105 R
W EFFALRE W R T OITH R A 2 ER
X o AREFHERKBRSEEE BZETY
BEZAARER  H2EH—FKBILEXEM
BEARESHEHARAA ([EEFE]) £
T2fhE - BBEFHER—RELEFAEAM

Mae8g -

R-ZE—+F+-A=1+—08  BiT&Hx
B ASEEITHE - L —BABRRERE
R FEA o IRESR IR ANE BT A s
FEMR BB AR RIS ZR - EHBRAREL
BT A ATER N EEMLERY « Ak
RIBETE AR R S R IR AR E R E
RSN ARE - TEREREFEAE
NEEEERA ] RAEEMAIEE © mER
RERMBEIRET1T7 7% - EEHER - BIEA
FRNE - BREBEFZXETHETEHETE
BARENBSIE - AREFGEEAR
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These represented technical knowhow related to intellectual
properties rights of production of CA Monomer arising from
the acquisition of Dekel Investment Holdings Limited (“Dekel
Investment”) and Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co., Ltd
(“Weifang Dekel”), (collectively the “Dekel Group”) completed in
September 2017 (note 39). Amortisation on technical knowhow
is charged on straight-line method over their estimated useful
life of 10 years and is included in administrative and other
operating expenses on the consolidated income statement. The
Group assessed the fair value of this intangible asset at the date
of acquisition of the Dekel Group with reference to a valuation
performed by Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma Appraisals”),
an independent professional valuation firm. Roma Appraisals
is a professional surveyors firm in Hong Kong with appropriate
qualification and experience to value similar type of intangible asset.

As at 31 December 2017, the valuation of technical knowhow
was conducted using income approach, which was an application
of the discounted cash flow model. Based on the projected future
earnings streams attributable to the license agreement signed for
the technical knowhow, economic charges for the use of assets
used in generating the income projection of the technical knowhow
were deducted. The fair value of technical knowhow was then
arrived at by discounting the projected future earnings streams
to present value. Key assumptions included the discount rate of
17.7% as applied in the discounted cash flow model, which was
determined using the “Capital Asset Pricing Model”. The Directors
confirmed that the assessed fair value of technical knowhow was
considered as reasonable based on the methodology, assumptions
and parameters adopted, and this valuation methodology was
appropriate for valuing similar type of intangible asset.
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18. EERIE 18. DEFERRED TAX
AEEEHRUTEBELCHBEE (8 The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
&) : by the Group:

BANELR

ROBAE Rttt

Undistributed HEHE

RENZE EEBA  profits of Prepaid BREE

BEBE  Investment  Deferred foreign  landlease Intangible CH
Taxlosses  properties income  subsidiaries ~ payments asset Total
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETRT AR%TR ARETRT ARETR ARET:x
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

W_E—+&—F—-H A1 January 2017 = (7,791) 2,180 (12,000) 2,111 - (19,722)
BBEBAGFEA Acquired through business
(£ 39) combination (note 39) 13,864 - - - - (4,509) 9,355
STABE/ (BBHEMBR) Credited/(Charged) to
(FizE9) profit or loss (note 9) 2,633 (1,032) 415 - 52 113 2,181
RZF—tF At 31 December 2017
TZA=T-ARk and 1 January 2018
“Z-\§-A-H 16,497 (8,823) 2,595 (12,000) (2,059) (4,396) (8,186)
SHABE/ (BBFEME) Credited/(Charged) to
(Fitzt9) profit or loss (note 9) 14,524 (1,362) (325) 6,000 52 451 19,340
RZE-N\F At 31 December 2018
+-RA=1+-H 31,021 (10,185) 2,270 (6,000) (2,007) (3,945) 11,154
AR RBtiRE MR R ATTE 2 BIER IR 45 The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for the
EROHT consolidated statement of financial position purposes:
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
AR®T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
REFIAE = Deferred tax assets 33,291 19,092
BEHIERE Deferred tax liabilities (22,137) (27,278)
11,154 (8,186)
RIEHE AEEESJHRERE=% At the reporting date, the Group has deductible temporary
AR 21,060,000 (ZE—+F: AR differences of RMB21,060,000 (2017: RMB5,287,000) for offsetting
#<5,287,0007T) A K 44 78 2K B9 % B - i against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
RZEWB AR A A R SR =58 in respect of RMB21,060,000 (2017: RMB5,287,000) due to the
BERR M BAAITER - S EHRAR unpredictability of future profit streams of these subsidiaries which
#21,060,000T (ZE—+HF: ARK have such deductible temporary differences.

5,287,000 7T ) EREMELERIAEE o

130 REETERBRAE B \FER
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AR AR RHE G E AR R BB RS THE
RNE AR B - BER] BAG R IR K] 8
BRI R ZRE - HUS R BLTE IR M SR IE
HARBELHARBI,457,000T (ZFE—+
& AR #109,789,0007T) * i T8 1 78
RZEPEMNBRARR-_ZETNE—F—
HEMRXELRFMEBER - R=2F—/\F
+ZA=1+—H ' ZS5RKELBAEGTAA
R#974,567,000t (ZZE—tF : AR
1,097,894,000 7T) °
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18.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB97,457,000 (2017:
RMB109,789,000) have not been established for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC made after 1 January 2008 because the
Company controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and
it is not probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future. Such unremitted earnings totalled
approximately RMB974,567,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB1,097,894,000).

19. &E 19. INVENTORIES

—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
ARETT ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RME R EFE R Raw materials and consumables 47,840 59,842
A n Work in progress 20,765 18,667
P Finished goods 70,656 100,017
139,261 178,526

20. ESEWRKEWRERE 20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE
—E-N\F ZE—+F
2018 2017
ARETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B SR Trade receivables 198,668 196,707
FEW R Bills receivable 107,849 90,036
306,517 286,743

AEBEGETESEFPZEER—RNTF—@
AEXNEARE (ZZT—1F: N F—@AH
EXNEANTE) - BREBE/TF B ZRITE
REE  RESBTR-FUR(ZT—¢
F—FUR) - BUBEFPHELREZERE
ERE - AEEH N H YRS RGEREE
ZEH - EEESTERERBIARK
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The Group allows credit periods normally ranging from one month
to six months to its trade customers (2017: ranging from one
month to six months). Bills receivable are non-interest bearing bank
acceptance bills and aged within a year upon issuance (2017: within
a year). Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management.
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20.

ESRUBRRERRE (&)

REREBH  BHRIRNRERER (08
EERER) REZBHMEZRERS T
T

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable (net of loss allowance)
at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is stated as
follows:

—E-N\F —T—+F

2018 2017

ARET R ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

0£90H 0 to 90 days 260,641 237,232

91 £ 180 H 91 to 180 days 31,803 31,372

1812365 H 181 to 365 days 2,168 10,889

HiA 365 H Over 365 days 11,905 7,250

306,517 286,743

RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—H ' A5EMH At 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed bank acceptance
++:F

HEBSEHPRHZREIT ([FTR
7)) BTz —FRIH(ZZ—FF : —F
WEIH) BRMEE 4 AR 584,125,000 7T (=
T—+ 44 : AR¥S857,5050007T) ZETT
EREZ ([BERE])  UWEEERHZS
HEBNENESEREMENZE ([&
2 R=F—NF+=-A=+—08 - K@\
EARK 187,573,000 (ZZ—+%F : AR
#5319,197,0007T) B EZEHAZH o B
BHREEEE - WEBITRITRESN  BE
ZERFBHAFEAAEEBENRE ([FHE8Y
k1) - EE2RE - BEEZERBENER
SREHEEAEERTHESE - Btk - X
SEERIIEREEZBEREEENE SR
MEMEMNKEREREE - AEEREE
ZERNEESRATESE 2 &= R MEDZ
EREZRAMBRBSRERENERER
B-BERE AEEREEZRZHFES
B2 ARBITERK -

HE_Z—\FR-_Z—+tF+_A=+—
HIEFE AEETEBRRASEZEMmME
EZEARESER - BEREFTRNERRRE
FHR - YERBES RERETAIKREIE
% o BEEMRBFERNTHET -

REETERBRAE

B \FER

bills (the “Endorsed Bills”) issued by several banks in the PRC (the
“Issuing Banks") with a carrying amount of RMB584,125,000 (2017:
RMB857,505,000), with maturity within one year (2017: within one
year) to certain of its suppliers for settlement of its trade and other
payables due to these suppliers (the “Endorsement”). Among of the
Endorsed Bills with a carrying amount of RMB187,573,000 (2017:
RMB319,197,000) were not yet matured as at 31 December 2018.
In accordance with the Negotiable Instruments Law of the PRC,
a holder of the Endorsed Bills has a right of recourse against the
Group if default of payment by the Issuing Banks (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the Directors, all risks and rewards
relating to the Endorsed Bills have been substantially transferred
upon the Endorsement. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated
trade and other payables. The maximum exposure arising from
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the
undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Endorsed Bills equal
to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of the Group’s Continuing Involvements in the Endorsed Bills
are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss arising from of the Endorsed Bills.
No gain or loss were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the years or cumulative years. The Endorsement has
been made evenly throughout the years.
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable (net of loss

B AT EREEHE - allowance) are denominated in the following currencies:
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR%T T AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE RMB 254,725 218,468
eV us$ 51,792 68,275
306,517 286,743

RZZE—N\F+-A=+—H BREEA
R#107,849,000 TR 2 (a) (i) BT
ERBBIEHRELNE IR RIZA B
AHMEARETE - BREBENAAES
FE_RANRAREEE - THBIBE R IGKAE
M T EERIA A2 F R RIBHARKE S
nE - EERBRMFGRFERMS - FA -
WEENE —RAIEE RN nE BRI E
% o thimeE AskEHE=HF -

RZB—+F+-_A=1+—H EREES
FHAR6,040,0007T ' EHENEZEAR
# 6,040,000 7T (Pff5E24) fELIRIH -

AREERIFMEE3 () Bt )& 5t R TR
BEEE  FRE R 42 (i (c) & (d) »

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivable amounting to
RMB107,849,000 were measured at FVOCI after the adoption
of HKFRS 9 as defined in note 2(a)(i). The fair value of bills
receivable is at a level 2 fair value measurement which has been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flow using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. During the year, there was no transfer
between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchy or transfer into or
out of level 3.

As at 31 December 2017, bills receivable included an amount
of RMB6,040,000 which was pledged for bills payable of
RMB6,040,000 (note 24).

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting
policy stated in note 3(i), details of which are set out in to note 42 (jii)
(c) and (d).

21. BRARERHAERRE 21. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-N\F —E—+tfF
2018 2017
AR%T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEfHE R I Advances to the suppliers 9,972 16,075
AW El S (E AR VAT recoverables 16,845 25,329
TARTFRIE Prepayments 613 606
BBEWE - BERERED Deposits for acquisition of property,
1 (BsE (a) ) plant and equipment (note (a)) 42,000 42,000
H b e U IR Other receivables 3,316 2,737
BN —ZKI B AR ATHELS  Amount due from Ex-Equity Holder of
BHAFKE (B (b) ) a subsidiary (note (b)) 8,637 =
TEf T AR EFRIE Prepaid land lease payments
- BERER S (PRt 14) — current portion (note 14) 1,667 1,678
83,050 88,425
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21. ANREREMERRIE (2) 21.

Wik

BRER-_Z—LtFMNARTNZHARD
ERAEH - RNAR 2 2B KB A R#S
BEAMIEIHARAR ([#HHEE]) [
—2BUE=F ([RAH]) IHEEARK
42,000,000 7T - {ERWIBEERER —3R T
HEETE ([572]) @ At LA W A
B2 A e

(a)

Hig - A0 B BB REEEN EEREAREE
BaFREERNRBER - MBS ERF T
REF S  WEMRDHRARER ([HD
Al ) IREEERE - BRFHRETS
I EHEHRD B R T 52 Rz FE RGN
MG PTESHER - T —tF+ A
=+—BR%R  BDERRIEERE TS
R A8 77 SR 1T A R 40 A R ¥ 30,000,000

JT °©

WZZ—N\&FE— A8 BAEATER B
BERERFREEN BB SERTT
ZIEARFIANER  TERBEXNZES
F&EE A £ AR 98,000,000 7T ([R5
=E]) -

FABRITE RME KRB - BEARR
ERREIES B - 8 IR FDRELE
I  EEEE/EEER B (1) %
RAFRENRATRERY) ¢ & (2) AEEEH
HATE RAEIRA AT BER T ©

Bt - WERRFREEDLRES - Ml
EREEZT—tFR-_FT—/\F+=A
=T —HNGEMBRRARFRDEAREE
Eo

REETERBRAE

B \FER

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd (“Weifang Binhai”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, paid an independent third party
(the “Party A") a total sum of RMB42,000,000 as deposits (the
“Deposits”) for acquisitions of various production facilities and a piece
of land for the construction of a thermoelectric factory in Shandong
pursuant to the terms and clauses under several contracts executed in
April 2017.

Thereafter, Weifang Binhai found that the production facilities to
be acquired could not be functioning as specified in the contracts.
Weifang Binhai requested Party A for a refund of the Deposits
and filed a legal claim in Weifang Intermediate People’s Court (the
“Weifang Court”) against Party A to recover the Deposits and
compensate the loss suffered by Weifang Binhai due to Party A's
breach of the terms and conditions of these contracts. Since 31
December 2017, the Weifang Court has ordered that Party A's bank
balances in sum of approximately RMB30,000,000 be frozen for this
legal claim.

In January 2018, Party A filed a counterclaim to Weifang Binhai at the
Weifang Court that Weifang Binhai should fulfil its obligations under
the several contracts and is liable to pay the remaining balances of the
several contracts in the sum of RMB98,000,000 (the “Counterclaim”).

The first and second hearings were held during the year. As at the
date of the authorisation of this annual report, the judgement of
second hearing is pending to be issued shortly. The Directors have
obtained legal opinion that (1) it is very unlikely that the Counterclaim
will be successful and (2) it is very likely that the legal claim made by
the Group will be successful.

Accordingly, no provision for the Counterclaim is made and the
Deposits is classified as current asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2017 and 2018.
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21. ANREREMERRE (&) 21. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
MisE : (8) Notes: (Continued)
(b) AREzZEEZEWBEAR LEEMETE (b)  Shanghai Dehong Chemical Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Dehong”), an

RARF ([ EE@Al) RZF—RFALAR
REBE=7 ([AfEEFEAl) KT
#rARE - RERARN39,229,0007T °

RZZE—+EFRA IHFEREKRE ML
BARERE ([ &M AR ) B2
S BRI HEERE R G ERRE
ABEEENAR ([WMEF]) RBHUERZ
A5 MEEFRERBRZERA © ZIE
RIVE BB B —RF N AREEITLA
FBEAIEL

R=ZZT—tF+ A EMHFIER TSI
wEE (EAEBHERA) BREFENT
BAHRARENAEXFAEEASARE
5,000,000 T R EETFIE ([E<R] ) o

R_ZT—tF+_F=+—8 EREKE
SRR E L 2 € % A R 7,085,0007T
(HEREFAL HE-_Z—+F+-A
=T HREAFEREMEEER) O
1% - B AT A A B IE I E K $54R
BaSREL 2 LigEmaRER S EAR
# 1,169,000 7T, ©

RZZ—NFE+-_A=+—8 ' ERE
EMBRERGLFELBESBEARKE
7,899,000t (FHE R BAANEEAEEME
HHAREEAS ARES5,000,0007T  HE
- N\F+- A=t HHEFFERE
fERER) MRHE -

RZZE-NENAR  AEEEEEMNTES
HEARER ([EMNeBER]) R=F
—NFEABRMBE RS PRTHERE
FhE R W m) L AT s i A AR ER
2% mATERETA ARERGEZ AR
A o REERIDELBRILAN T —RFh
RS TR ER R BR(EL -

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the
acquisition of Jiangsu Chunxiao from an independent third party
(the "Ex-Equity Holder”) for a consideration of RMB39,229,000 in
September 2016.

In May 2017, Jiangsu Chunxiao received an order from Changzhou
Xinbei District People’s Court (the “Changzhou Xinbei Court”)
relating to the dispute on a guarantee given by Jiangsu Chunxiao to
a company (the “Defendant A”), which is wholly-owned by the Ex-
Equity Holder, for a loan agreement under which Defendant A was
the borrower. Such guarantee had been made prior to the acquisition
of Jiangsu Chunxiao by Shanghai Dehong in September 2016.

In October 2017, Changzhou Xinbei Court ordered that Jiangsu
Chunxiao, as a guarantor capacity of the debt, was jointly and
severally liable to pay the outstanding principal of RMB5,000,000 plus
accrued interest arising from the default of Defendant A (the “Order
A").

As at 31 December 2017, a provision of aggregated amount of
RMB7,085,000, represented the loan principal amount, accrued
interest up to 31 December 2017 and other outgoing legal
expenses has been made in the consolidated financial statements
while the amounts due to the Ex-Equity Holder thereby reduced to
RMB1,169,000 after offsetting the aforementioned provision under
Order A.

As at 31 December 2018, an aggregated amount of provision for
the Order A of RMB7,899,000, which represented the outstanding
principal of RMB5,000,000, accrued interest up to 31 December 2018
and other legal expenses estimated by the Group’s legal counsel, has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

At the end of August 2018, the Group was acknowledged that
another order issued by Changzhou Jintan District People’s Court
(the “Changzhou Jintan Court”) in July 2018 relating to disputes on
two guarantees given by Jiangsu Chunxiao to its Ex-Equity Holder for
loan agreements under which the Ex-Equity Holder was the borrower.
Such guarantees were again made prior to the acquisition of Jiangsu
Chunxiao by Shanghai Dehong in September 2016.
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21. ANREREMERRIE (2) 21.

bRt : (&)

) RZZ—N\F+A BMESEER LI
HE (EAERERA) BRiEsFE AE
HMBERRENE S HRAEERASAR
#% 8,000,000 T R EFTFIE ([@R2]) °

RZE-NF+ZA=+—H BER&E
EMBBRERRBSLIEHBSEARE
9,242,0007T (HHER B ANKEEAZER G
BHWAREEAE AKKS,000,0007T « H=E
“E-N\F A=+ —BENEANERE
AR EM) R -

ERpSRNBLL R=ZE—\F+_A
=+ —BIYEEMARIEERFEARNRE K
2 WA= 5B AR I8 AR 8,637,000
TTREERBREARKE 17,141,000 T
TEARE IS TR PR ©

RIR SR AEATRESIE A AR T —RF
FINMEERE ([BEEHE]) IR RIE
X - EEESAE R R AF AR M E KA FT
BIEREEARERFEANEERE - K=
T N\F+ZA=+—8  BEEEHZ
FEW TR = 1B AFKIE AR ¥ 8,637,000 7T
(Mt 42 (i) (b) ) FARTERIT A AFENE
TREEMEEERR  ZYVENETERAR
®11,000,0007C °c Elt - EER AR =T
—N\E+=A=+—ABAFEHTMAEERE
e

SERARTENR

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—8 LTER
TER(ZZFE—EF: AR ¥30,000,000
TT) BEMZEERER (2T —tF: A
R #50,000,00070) (M 5£24) + T A R ¥&
2,691,0007C (ZZ—+4F : AR#4,218,000
7)) tERE RS E BB RES °

22.

EXRR ARNFHE  oEMRTERZ
AAEEERMETEEAER -
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PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

In October 2018, the Changzhou Jintan Court ordered that Jiangsu
Chunxiao, as a guarantor of the loans, is jointly and severally liable to
pay the outstanding principal of RMB8,000,000 plus accrued interest
arising from the default of the Ex-Equity Holder (the “Order B").

As at 31 December 2018, a provision for the Order B in aggregated
amount of RMB9,242,000, which represented the outstanding
principal amounted of RMB8,000,000, accrued interest up to 31
December 2018 and other legal expenses estimated by the Group’s
legal counsel has been made in the consolidated financial statements.

As a results of the Order A and Order B, there is no amount due to
the Ex-Equity Holder, instead, amount due from the Ex-Equity Holder
amounted to RMB8,637,000 and provision of legal claims in a total
of RMB17,141,000 were recognised in the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2018.

Under the terms and clauses of sale and purchase agreement entered
into between Shanghai Dehong and the Ex-Equity Holder in 2016 (the
“SPA"), Shanghai Dehong is entitled to be indemnified by the Ex-
Equity Holder for all losses arising from these legal cases mentioned
above. The amount due from the Ex-Equity Holder amount of
RMB8,637,000 (note 42(iii)(b)) is secured by certain residential
properties held by the Ex-Equity Holder with a total market value of
RMB11,000,000 as at 31 December 2018 under the SPA. Hence,
the Directors consider that no loss allowance is required as at 31
December 2018.

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2018, no bank deposit (2017: RMB30,000,000)
was pledged for bills payable (2017: RMB50,000,000) (note 24) and
an amount of RMB2,691,000 (2017: RMB4,218,000) was imposed
by relevant local authorities as security deposits.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the pledged bank
deposits are not materially different from their carrying amount
because of the short maturity period.
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23.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The Group’s bank and cash balances amounted to approximately
RMB34,805,000 (2017: RMB88,980,000) were denominated in
RMB. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RITRIR S ERZREBEZRU TER,EHE : The carrying amounts of bank and cash balances are denominated
in the following currencies:

—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
bt HK$ 2,050 69,043
e us$ 12,250 36,567
ARK RMB 34,805 88,980
49,105 194,590

24. ESRNERRENRE 24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE
—E-N\F —E 4
2018 2017
ARET AREBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S ERTER Trade payables 45,040 48,753
EN =T Bills payable - 55,950
45,040 104,703

B RNERENEERBENEEHRN T30
Z180ATE(ZZ—tF : NTF30F180
BAE) - RREAE - ESRMERENE
BIRBEZ BT EZ BRIR D ATZA T

Trade and bills payable normally have the credit periods ranging
from 30 to 180 days (2017: 30 to 180 days). Ageing analysis of
trade and bills payable at the reporting date, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

—E-N\F —T—+fF

2018 2017

AR®T T AREBFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

0Z90H 0 to 90 days 38,449 81,739
91&180H 91 to 180 days 4,551 21,291
1812365 H 181 to 365 days 1,096 784
83 365 H Over 365 days 944 889
45,040 104,703
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24, ESERNERRENEE (&) 24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE (Continued)
REZZE—N\F+ZA=1+—8  WERKE As at 31 December 2018, no bills receivable (2017: RMB6,040,000
B (ZZ—+tF : AR%6,040,0007T (KizE (note 20)) and no pledged bank deposits (2017: RMB30,000,000
20) ) REEBRITHER (ZF—CF : AR (note 22)) were pledged for bills payable (2017: RMB6,040,000 and
# 30,000,000 7T (FizE22) ) ShEEN R (= RMB50,000,000 respectively).

T—+F: 555 AREE6,040,000 7T & A
R #50,000,000 %) {EH KR

B HRMNERERENZENREEBETAARE The carrying amounts of trade and bills payable are denominated
FHE - TBRIBHREIEE - B SERN in RMB. All amounts are short term and hence the carrying values
RRENZEENREETSEREEELQ D of trade and bills payable are considered to be a reasonable

BT - approximation of their fair values.

25. B RABRAR H AR 25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-N\F —EF—tF
2018 2017
ARET AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REEYE  HEX Payables for property, plant and

RE N RFIR equipment 147,946 124,626
AR FFIE () Advances from customers (note) - 7,188
RS RISE Accrued expenses 12,259 10,910
ER TE RAEF Wages and welfare payables 6,347 13,899
N —KKE AR Amounts due to Ex-Equity Holder of

RltE=IF A AFUE a subsidiary (note 21(b))

(K21 (b)) - 1,169
H o e FIR Other payables 37,069 43,654
EIEWA - B E o Deferred income — current portion

(BtzE30) (note 30) 1,302 3,931

204,923 205,377

Misk - ANEBEE VP ERESMERELERFE 15 Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using cumulative effect

RHREZEE  WR=_ZT—N\F—H—H method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 January 2018. Upon

AR YE SR - RNB BT R ELERIE the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously stated as “advances

1558 1% » 4% B 1E FE N R 15 BR K2 L fth & {~f 3% from customers” under accruals and other payables have been
B A [FARREHIE | WeBEEEHHE reclassified as “contract liabilities” (note 26).

BIRHEEI(ME26) -
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26. BHNERE 26. CONTRACTS LIABILITIES

—E-N\F —EB-N\F —E—+tF
+=A=+—-8 —A—H +=A=+—H
31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
AR¥T T AR¥T AR®T T
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BRIBEEES - Contract liabilities arising from:
HESm Sale of goods 6,917 7,188 -
REEFHE N BERKDNEI2IEE L The deposits received by the Group on sales of chemical products
B8F EREEMRXNTEFAL - remain as contract liabilities until such time as the goods are

delivered to customers.

BRBENEFAT Movement of the contract liabilities is as follows:

—E-N\F

2018

ARBT R

RMB’000

R—H—B#&R Balance as at 1 January 7,188
FANERBEER B Amounts recognised as revenue during the year

(Ff=E6) (note 6) (6,237)

F RN P UE A TELS 50F 58 Net amounts received in advance from customers during the year 5,966

RT+—A=+—H#&% Balance at 31 December 6,917

27. RITEK 27. BANK BORROWINGS

—EB-N\E —F—+tF

2018 2017

AR¥TR ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

E|BAEEMNE D IRITER Portion of bank borrowings due for repayment

—RERYE—FNR (MizEi) — On demand or within one year (note i) 20,000 81,891

- — 1% BEIREREE - After one year which contain a repayment

fER (Bt K ii) on demand clause (note i and ii) - 112,214
20,000 194,105

() FIBERTEFEIAARATNFEHBER (i)  All bank borrowings are guaranteed by the Group'’s
BIYEH LR © subsidiaries in the PRC.

(i) MZE2E—tF+-_A=+—8 ' RKFHa (i) Asat 31 December 2017, current liabilities include bank loans
BEERETTEE—FANEENBITER of RMB112,214,000 that are not scheduled to repay within
AER¥112,214,0007T A& one year. This amount was classified as current liabilities as
EEAE —EIER  REERAREE the related loan agreements contain a clause that provides
eI RE R R BE RS BY IR TE ESRIE K - W the lenders with an unconditional right to demand repayment
ZEeROERMBEE - at any time at its own discretion.
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27. SRITER (&)
RZE—N\FE+ZA=1+—H  KEEHNR
TEREAEIRERBHEMHREEE (T
SHEMIEEREREROTE)  Fi5OT

27. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank borrowings were
scheduled to repay which set out in the loan agreements if ignore
the effect of any repayment on demand clause as follows:

—E-N\F —E—+tF

2018 2017

AR%F T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

—FR Within one year 20,000 81,891
—F P BETNBBRE More than one year, but not exceeding two years - 28,054
MEMN L - BENBBRAF More than two years, but not exceeding five years - 84,160
20,000 194,105

BRI B A % 20,000,000 (ZE—+ £ :
AR #25,000,0007T) ZRITEFAARE
A -R_E—N\F+=_A=+—H UE
BITEFUABTITAE (ZE—1F : AR
169,105,000 7T) °

REERITERNERER RBE LT

Carrying amounts of RMB20,000,000 (2017: RMB25,000,000) bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2018, no
bank borrowing is denominated in HK$ (2017: RMB169,105,000).

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum of the Group’s
bank borrowings are as follows:

—T—+tF
2017

—2-N\F
2018

— Denominated in HK$ -

2.17% to0 2.98%

FEER Floating-rate borrowings
- OB TTEHE
- AAR®BEHE — Denominated in RMB

4.97% to 5.22% 4.97% to 5.04%

EFEFBERMBNETBERKRSREM M
FFRITERNAAE  IRARNSHE B H
AEBIRITIERHBRE (B E A A (BRI o

28. REH - BFERBRROAMNRK

KA — BB BECROFEMN R EER - T
R (2T —tF  BEME2%58) =i
—FRIHEE -

29. RERZERDFTNEAMNK

RERKIERAGNENREE AR S EE
14,300,0007T (FEEM AR 12,530,0007T)
B AR¥ 55,000,000 tHER ' ZEERE
AR ZEFIER2 % B RPN —FAEH

g -

REETERBRAE

B \FER

The Directors estimate the fair value of the bank borrowings
by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate and
consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings
approximate to their fair values at each reporting date.

28. ADVANCES FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Advances from a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest
free (2017: interest bearing at 2% per annum) and due for
repayment within one year.

29. ADVANCES FROM THE ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

Advances from the ultimate holding company are mainly loans
with principal amounts of HK$14,300,000 (equivalent to
RMB12,530,000) and RMB55,000,000, which are unsecured,
interest-bearing at 2% per annum, and due for repayment within
one year.
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ELEWA
WA T BIRBUT R 5B A & B e B B
BEEMETHRRBRAES - UERAE

B 3 AR A AR % P I R e T JE 1S RO DR
B o AEMBYERBTIRIRHBEFER

30. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income mainly represents environmental protection special
funds granted by the government to encourage the Group’s ultra-
low emission facilities and the government subsidy granted to the
Group for construction of production lines and ancillary facilities.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.

R EWFTEZ DT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—EB-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
AR¥TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RENAE (D EMEEENMAN Current liabilities (included in accruals and
BR R e EAth A 5RI8) other payables) (note 25) 1,302 3,931
(Bt 25)
EmEAE Non-current liabilities 7,775 9,077
9,077 13,008

FR —E5HARKRE3931,000T (==F
—+4F : AR¥E3,374,0007T) HIZIE D FELR
B R ERASEMRAF Y S o

During the year, an amount of RMB3,931,000 (2017:
RMB3,374,000) has been recognised in other income and gains on
the consolidated income statement.

N 31. SHARE CAPITAL
R EE
Number of ot |
shares Amount
Tz BT ARETTT
‘000 HK$'000 RMB’'000
VERE Authorised:
SRAESE0.01 TEEK Ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each

RZE—tF—H—1- As at 1 January 2017,

ZT—+tF+=ZA=+—H- 31 December 2017,

—E-N\F—-HA—AK 1 January 2018 and

—E—-)\F+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2018 100,000,000 1,000,000
BT MR Issued and fully paid:
EBREESBK0.01 TEBEIR Ordinary shares

of HK$0.01 each

R=E—+tF—A—H As at 1 January 2017 848,698 8,487 7,802
BRI T BB TAR D Shares issued under share

(ft7£33) option scheme (note 33) 3,256 33 29
R-Z—+F+=-_A=+—H "  Asat31 December 2017,

—T-N\F-HA-HK 1 January 2018 and

—E-N\F+=A=+—H 31 December 2018 851,954 8,520 7,831
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32. A& 32. RESERVES
rE Group
AEEZHEREREHEREERZTHER The Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the
B e consolidated statement of changes in equity.
PN Company
HNEE R
Foreign
RAEE currency BRERE REER
Share translation ~ Share option Retained it
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARBTTL ARETR ARBTR ARBT ARBTTL
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(HzFa) GED) (H&Ef)
(note a) (note e) (note f)
R-E—+tF—-F—R#&H Balance at 1 January 2017 109,420 (24,496) 5,692 130,966 221,582
BERZE—AERARE 2016 final dividend paid
(MizE11) (note 11) - - - (59,070) (59,070)
BERZE—tFHHRE 2017 interim dividend paid
(MizE11) (note 11) - - - (29,010) (29,010)
REEE R T2 Equity-settled share-based
SRR payment expenses = = 1,031 - 1,031
R 2R TR Shares issued under share option
(PizE33) scheme (note 33) 5,402 - (1313) - 4,089
REE R Profit for the year - - - 85,371 85,371
A2 EE Other comprehensive income = (12,344) - - (12,344)
RZZ—tF+ZA=+—HRk Balance at 31 December 2017
“Z-)\F-R—RA&H% and 1 January 2018 114,822 (36,840) 5,410 128,257 211,649
ENZE—tERARE 2017 final dividend paid
(PzE11) (note 11) - - - (7,183) (7,183)
R RREE (PE33) Forfeit of share options (note 33) - - (155) 155 -
TERRM Profit for the year - - - 94,117 94,117
Hiv2mlaE Other comprehensive income - 11,553 - - 11,553
WZE-\FTZA=+—H  Balance at 31 December 2018 114,822 (25,287) 5,255 215,346 310,136
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32. f#fE 32. RESERVES
KEBRAAT Group and company
(a) KEE (a) Share premium
REFRSHESREDE - AREIRGDRE Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
FRCESAHIIRTAREHEAA funds in the share premium account of the Company are
M1EEFEEES RS BEE - ARaElE distributable to the owners of the Company provided that
BEENEENBEXEBBRERIH G immediately following the date on which the dividend is
7% o proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
(b) 4HhIf#E (b) Special reserve
FREEREREASERN ST MFE This represents the difference between the paid up registered
T2 BT E BB AR 2 BT capital of the PRC subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
& A B2 BB 5% 5 MY B A =) 2 il #E Group reorganisation in 2004 and the nominal value of the
BT 2 A RBIRGOEERNZESE Company’s shares issued in exchange for the control in these
subsidiaries.
() BRtPES (c) Surplus reserve fund
RNEFRR B ZHBARZEFEH Articles of association of the Group’s subsidiaries established
BIFRE - ZEMB AR EFAKRE in the PRC require the appropriation of certain percentage
Bemtl e TE D LEREERMBAE of their profits after income tax each year to the surplus
© - BEREREINFBAMBARTME reserve fund until the balance reaches 50% of their registered
R Z250% &1k o E—MRIBRT - ek capitals. In normal circumstances, the surplus reserve fund
NEREREREEE  FRBIEER shall only be used for making up losses, capitalisation
HAGMERREZRB AR EER into registered capital and expansion of the subsidiaries’
KA o RMATRSBIEERE AT production and operation. For the capitalisation of surplus
MERE - FEARBIFOREME reserve fund into registered capital, the remaining amount
IZ225% °© of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the registered
capital.
d 2HEE (d) Public welfare fund
BEFBREQFE (RZEZAFEFR]) Pursuant to relevant regulations before the enactment of
RZBERE—A—BREMIZEB@R Company Law of the PRC (revised in 2005) on 1 January
Bl - IR B 2 A E BT B A R)ZER 2006, the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC made
5% £ 10% < BRATEBERFBEE N allocation from their profits after income tax at the rate of
® - MAmeRAAES 2EEENM 5% to 10% to the public welfare fund. Public welfare fund
RREERME 218 - RIEETER can only be utilised on capital nature items for collective
ZIERT  Rame ™MIDIK © welfare of employees and is not distributable other than in
liquidation.
(e) HNEERHE (e) Foreign currency translation reserve
SNESBE N B IEIREBINE TS 2 B This reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
WERMEECBERZE o &HHER from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
BMIEE 3 (d) PR @ st IR RIE o operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3(d).
(f) BRERE (f) Share option reserve
ZEHAXERM E TR H B RERR S Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share
B AR o options to the employees over the vesting period.
(g) Hftbf#E (g) Other reserve

KPR 2EN B AR EHERE
M EACASBINEFEMEA o

A wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC had
capitalised its retained profits to increase its registered capital.
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33.

BARRAD 3214 2 FRIE

RARABR_ZEENETANBHEMK—AEE
REHERTE ([T NFRERES] ) - I
REZBE—R"FRA-THRMNS —EERE
E ([ 22— NFEREE])  5EE
B RS AEE 2 S EL BRI Z
Bh - BREASEEMAKE R F S QR
ZEE AEWNES - HER TP BRRE
FFEESAZHMBANAEE 2 ERERHH
Ao ZEERNFHEREFTEHR ST F T
AMBRES  EXB+F - RE-ZFZ
NEHE R BEET & - AT % & % 40,000,000
MIERE BTESEAENRERS
40,000,000/ & fn o —ZE T N F R ER
ZER T A"ERA-+HRIL - KB
ST NFERERE & BEREAEE
T2 B ASEER MR ] F17(F - K=
T-NF+_A=+—8' ' BRE_ZZTF
RERR AT 8I B B B M AR TTE 2 AR TS
MM EE A10,764,00008 (ZFE—+ £ -
11,084,000/%)  HHERAFHRE AEAQRE
BIRAZ13% (ZFE—+%F :13%) 0 =
T RNFERESESR - FRA=-T
HREM B8 +F - RE-Z—A~FE
A& #EET & A 3% b & % 84,687,800 {7 & A%
M TEEE AERRIER % 84,687,800
RERR (D » R - WERE =T — N F R
STEIREERE (T —+F: #) -

FRA RS S 2 FOBAS ARRAE 45 & - AR
E-ZT—+E+-A=1+—RHItEE®ERE
Bz BB ARE1,031,0007T (KizES) o
NEE BV £ 5 RS [ 5 LA ZE 1T RS (D LASNEY 5
NEEBERENEESHEEEME -

REETERBRAE
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted share option schemes on 4 October 2006
(the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to the directors, eligible employees, suppliers, customers,
any shareholder of each member of the Group or associated
company or any of their respective associates, and advisers or
consultants of the Group who contribute to the success of the
Group. The 2006 Share Option Scheme became effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 4 October 2006 and up to
40,000,000 options entitling the holders thereof to subscribe for
up to 40,000,000 shares may be granted under the 2006 Share
Option Scheme, which was terminated on 20 May 2016. The
granted outstanding options continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the 2006 Share Option Scheme. As at
31 December 2018, number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2006 Share
Option Scheme was 10,764,000 (2017: 11,084,000), representing
1.3% (2017: 1.3%) of the issued share capital of the Company at
the date of this report. The 2016 Share Option Scheme has become
effective for the periods of 10 years commencing on 20 May 2016
and up to 84,687,800 options entitling the holders thereof to
subscribe for up to 84,687,800 shares may be granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme. During the year, there was no share
option granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme (2017: Nil).

All share-based payment will be settled in equity, an amount of
RMB1,031,000 (note 8) is recognised to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing
shares.
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33. DR XA ZRIE (&) 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
RZE-NEER_T—tF+_A=+— Details of the specific categories of options outstanding as at 31
B - BEER 2 M ARITE AR IEE I 40 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

T
HRATREEREHE
AR AR Rt A BEAH TR Cig:d- Number of outstanding
Category of grantee  Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price share options
—Z-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
E% (P “E-R5tATA —ET+FtA+A —Z+tHFtAtHE E¥14T - 300,000
—T-=FtANA
Director (note i) 10 July 2015 10 July 2017 10 July 2017 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023
wEALL (i) ZE-RF+A+E ZT—tEtATE —E—tELATEZE  #BK14T 140,000 140,000
—T-=FtANA
Ms. Shi Huifang (note ii) 10 July 2015 10 July 2017 10 July 2017 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023
&8 “T-RF+tATR T ~FtA+tHE ZE-—~FtAt+EE B¥145T 3,768,000 3,828,000
—T-=FtANA
Employees 10 July 2015 10 July 2016 10 July 2016 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023

“ZT-hE+A+H —E—+&tA+H —E—t&Et+At+HE ABE14TT 6,856,000 6,316,000

—Z-=FtANA
10 July 2015 10 July 2017 10 July 2017 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023
10,764,000 11,084,000
Bt 5T Notes:
) HRREEB-ZT—N\F/\A—HEEFEE (i) Mr. Sun Zhenmin resigned as Director with effect from 1 August
Eo 2018.
(iy HERFETHAARER—HFNBARZE (i)~ Ms. Shi Huifang is an employee of one the Company’s subsidiaries
B8 WAESFFIAEZERSG  AtsE and is the spouse of Mr. Wang Zijiang who is a Director and therefore
FILFREZHEA - an associate of Mr. Wang Zijiang.
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33.

34.

PARRAD A4 2 FRIE (48) 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
TRETIA R TR AR RE R S B A I T 1T Movements of and weighted average exercise prices of the
fE(E : Company’s share options are as follows:
InFEF T
TEE 1T6EME
Weighted BREHE Weighted MRS R
average Number average Number
exercise price  of share option exercise price of share option
—E-N\F —E-N\F —E—+tF —T—+F
2018 2018 2017 2017
REYIEATTHE  Outstanding at beginning BE1.45 T 11,084,000 FEME1.45 7T 14,340,000
of the years HK$1.45 HK$1.45
FATTE Exercised during the years 0 1.45 7T - B 45T (3,256,000)
HK$1.45 HK$1.45
FRRIK Forfeited during the years (320,000) =
REREAITE  Outstanding at the end
of the years 10,764,000 11,084,000

RER B ARITEBRE 21 TEEEEE1.45
T (ZE—+F : B 1.457) - MIEFEY
MERE A4S F (ZE—+HF : 55%)

FFREARTFEERERLE S B
10,764,00017 % Ix # ( = T — £ F -
11,084,000 10 B AR AE) M ERKFE BB LAl
T1IE o

BE_Z—+HF+-_A=+—HILFE 17
ERERGEE B aY PO A E R B 1.987T »
PTETmIA
BER-_T——FARREESEEEGRA
A ([AERBH]) RrINALEHaE ([4%
el ) - AATEEG SR HIERE TR
FREIE R RLHIE - B ARRAEEX
REBHHEALBHNERRENAS%
& MELEHARZRARABEALR
HRESIRE R 45% 5 °

RBEFE  fTESm TATRA AR
PR LA A S (BSIER - BRRG & Tk
REGEHERARARBEERHNR T —CF
NAZTHRKBEEEREMBERERKRE
AT EREEF BEERREBETHER 17
EemT AEE 2 A nEARK2,993,000
TER T FFARIEERI AT AESR

REETERBRAE

B \FER

34.

The exercise price of share options outstanding at the end of the
year was HK$1.45 (2017: HK$1.45) and their weighted average
remaining contractual life was 4.5 years (2017: 5.5 years).

Out of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the
year, 10,764,000 share options (2017: 11,084,000 shares options)
had been vested and were exercisable at the end of the year.

The weighted average share price at the date of options exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2017 was HK$1.98.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement (“JV Agreement”)
entered between the Company and Henkel Hong Kong Limited
("JV Partner”) in 2011, the Company and the JV Partner were
respectively granted certain call and put options which entitled
the Company to require the JV Partner to sell the JV Partner’s 45%
interest in Dekel Investment, and entitled the JV Partner to require
the Company to purchase the JV Partner’s 45% interest in Dekel
Investment.

These derivative financial instruments was accounted for at fair
value by using the Binomial Lattice Model in previous years. As the
terms and conditions set out in the JV Agreement are no longer
applicable after the Company and the JV Partner entered into
sales and purchase agreement to acquire all the equities of Dekel
Investment held by the JV Partner on 30 June 2017, the fair value
of the derivative financial instruments carried forward amounted to
RMB2,993,000 were derecognised and charged to profit or loss in
2017.
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35. ERARIR=-ZF—NE+=A 35. HOLDING COMPANY'’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
=t+t— BB BRRER POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
S —E—+F
2018 2017
BisE ARET T ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
EEHAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FRBEE Non-current assets
M - BB KRR Property, plant and equipment 4 7
RHTBRA R ZIE Investment in subsidiaries 78,217 78,217
78,221 78,224
REEE Current assets
FEUR BB R BB Amounts due from subsidiaries 244,720 295,828
FE USRS B Dividend receivables 9,861 9,408
TERTRIE K A i R UK IE Prepayments and other receivables 196 185
RITRIB e Bank and cash balances 1,622 8,967
256,399 314,388
REBARG Current liabilities
FEAH AR BR S B A FE (5138 Accruals and other payables 924 1,055
RITER Bank borrowings - 169,105
REREIENRARMIEF  Advances from the ultimate holding
company 12,614 -
JE —RMB A B FUE Amounts due to a subsidiary 3,115 2,972
16,653 173,132
REBEEFE Net current assets 239,746 141,256
HEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 317,967 219,480
BEERE Net assets 317,967 219,480
xR EQUITY
[N Share capital 31 7,831 7,831
E Reserves 32 310,136 211,649
R Total equity 317,967 219,480
ERZE-—NGF=-A-+thBHEE=SHE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 25
WHRHERT - WHERKREE - March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:
215 F¥I
LIU YANG WANG ZUJIANG
EZE EZE
Director Director
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36. RHEA Rz ER

RZB-\FR_F—tF+ZA=1—
A AREMBERFZFENT

36. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2018
and 2017 are as follows:

EMRL ERTER/
RIREELE BAGMRE < EE RAREL RER/
Place of Nominal value of EiEEFRAD
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
fi establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FE£H
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
B# FEHE
Direct Indirect
BRERARAA B BRI 100% REER
Great Growth Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BiRERARAA B BRI 100% REER
Great Spirit Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BEERARAA B BRI 100% REER
Great Promise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
AEBRERERAR B 75%#10,0007C 70% REER
Tiande Medical Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding
RUEARAE B 75%#10,0007C - 100% HERBILIER
Tech Chem Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Sales of fine chemical products
BRIRERARAR EBRAHE 268%TT - 100%  REER
Smartcham Holdings Limited The BVI US$268 Investment holding
EALKARAT EBRAHE 1251%7 - 100%  REER
Smartpoint Enterprises Limited The BVI US$1,251 Investment holding
BEERARAA EBRAHS ATIET - 100%  HEEK
Techsmart Holdings Limited The BVI Us$477 Investment holding
HTRFEBRAT hE AR 600,000 T - 100%  HE - RERHE(CIER
Weifang Common Chem Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, WOFE US$600,000 Research and development,
manufacture and sales of
chemical products
HEEMEIERAR RPN F AR 5,000,0007 - 100% HERDHEEALIER
Shanghai Dehong Chemical The PRC, WOFE RMB5,000,000 Selling and distribution of
Company Limited fine chemical products
AR B AR hE NEBERR 15,200,000 T - 100%  H# - RERHERBLIER
([ ) The PRC, WOFE US$15,200,000 Research and development,

Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd
(“Weifang Parasia”)

148 REETERBRAE

B \FER

manufacture and sales
of fine chemical products
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36. RMB AR (&) 36. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37.

AL/ BRITZE/
RIREELE BAGMRE < EE RHaES RER/
Place of Nominal value of EEEFRAED
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
ai establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FE£H
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
B# FEE
Direct Indirect
AHEERRCITARRR HE - HEBELE 10,800,000%7C - 100%  H# - RERHERBLIER
Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd  The PRC, WOFE US$10,800,000 Research and development,
manufacture and sales of
fine chemical products
IHEREERCIRRARAR & AR 10,000,000 - 100%  H# - RERHE(LCIER
Jiangsu Chunxiao Pharmaceutical & ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 Research and development,
Chemical Co., Ltd. manufacture and sale of
chemical products
EABERNERAR HE - HEBELE AR# 17,675,880 - 100%  H# - RERHEBRSVER
Deling Medical Instruments The PRC, WOFE RMB17,675,880 Research and development,
Co., Limited manufacture and sale of
medical instrument products
AP RILIERAR i AR 61,408,163 - 51% M RERHELIER
Weifang Zhongying Chemical The PRC RMB61,408,163 Research and development,
Co., Ltd. manufacture and sale of
chemical products
ESREERERAR &k 7A#2007T 100% - REER
Dekel Investment Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HK$200 Investment holding
A ERTMRERLR e NEBE AR 14,051,190 5%7T - 100% & REREEBAHEER

Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials
Co., Ltd.

RER BEIAMNBRRZETEERES

(ZE—+F  F) -
e

The PRC, WOFE

RIFE B - AR ABENT :

37.

US$14,051,190

Manufacture, marketing and sales
of adhesive products

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year (2017: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

The Group’s commitments at the reporting date are as follows:

S 5
2018 2017
ARBTR ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BRAKEYE  BER Commitments for acquisition of property,
A ESE plant and equipment 76,181 135,537
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38. REMEZTHRALE 38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS AND

150

EAHBA
RZB—N\EFE+=-A=+—8 " BEFA#H
HEETHE  AEBZ BRREREWRE
R

COMMITMENTS
As lessor

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

—E-N\F B+

2018 2017

ARBTT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 571 362
RE_ZFAFNH In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BREERMWE) 241 48

812 410

BREASENKEEERS  HHLER
FHR—ZEMF (ZT—LF : —ZMF) T
% - HEFER - REBFEP XM RER

EREEA

RZEBE—-—NE+-_A=+—0 " BETAH
fHEEEE  AEBE v BESREBEERMZE
BT

Under operating lease arrangements of the Group, the leases are
negotiated for an average terms of one to two years (2017: one to
two years). The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits.

As lessee

As at 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases payable are as
follows:

—E-N\F —E—+F

2018 2017

AR¥T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FA Within one year 1,110 590
REZEZERFA In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BREREWE) 762 835

1,872 1,425

REHENRIEARERES THAEREN
ZH%  HBRKARRIEIR—E=F (=
T—tF: —E=F)TF MREHRHY
HEBEE - A TSR ERRAES -

B \FER

REETERBRAE

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for
certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for an average term of
one to three years (2017: one to three years) and rentals are fixed
over the lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.
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39. ¥XBE6 39. BUSINESS COMBINATION
R-ZE—tFWBEERSREMNA% Acquisition of 45% equity interests of Dekel
IR fE Investment in 2017
RZZFE—tFNA  ARRZRKBEESE In September 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of
B A5 % IHE - BRAAQARN T ——FR 45% equity interests in Dekel Investment. Together with the 55%
BEERERSEESIRERNSS % IE - AR equity interests of Dekel Investment held by the Company under JV
AIAfTEHESEENEGE  mMEasE Agreement in 2011, the Company was able to exercise the control
LB AR ARNEZENRBAR over the Dekel Group and the Dekel Group became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company thereafter.
EeEEEWRERNAIBAINEENEENA The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the Dekel Group
AELT as at the date of acquisition were:
AREEFTT
RMB'000
| EE - PR (FisE17) Intangible asset — Technical knowhow (note 17) 18,037
Wz - BB KR (FTEE13) Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 83,097
BEYE  BEKZEZENMNEI® Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,543
EEFTSTHEE (MizE18) Deferred tax assets (note 18) 13,864
B SRR & I % Trade and bills receivable 20,079
A& AT FRIA R H fh eI IR Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 31,726
FE8 Inventories 12,873
RITRIB B4R Bank and cash balances 15,836
B SRR Trade payables (1,518)
BEBHENER Loan from the JV Partner (24,947)
H b 3R I8 K B AR FUB Other payables and accruals (117,866)
FEFRTEE E (FIFE18) Deferred tax liabilities (note 18) (4,509)
BRI R E EFE Net identifiable assets acquired 50,215
HR 15 45 % R R A B R (B Total purchase consideration for obtaining 45% equity interests 29,795
EEBEHZAMFESEE Fair value of 55% equity interest in Dekel Group held before
55% HRiERI A E the business combination 20,214
AlEREEFENALE Fair value of net identifiable assets (50,215)
= BUE Gain on bargain purchase (206)
ReRE Cash consideration (29,795)
W RS 2 IR e RIREE(ETEA Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 15,836
I BB Ry 2 IR & Cash outflow on the acquisition (13,959)
BESRBEREREBEZ AREBERARE The fair value of trade and bills receivable amounted to
20,079,000 7T (FERE) o ZZFEWFIBIL AR RMB20,079,000 (gross amount). None of these receivables had
B - WiEFT A BB E & 258 - been impaired and it was expected that the full contractual

amounts can be collected.
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40.

39.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
Acquisition of 45% equity interests of Dekel

Z—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
EBa6t (2)

R=ZF-—tHFHRBRRESRENIS%

W (&)

B U Uz A R 206,000 7T 2 F A FT i
E%T;%%IJQE&EFWA @izﬁ%ﬁwﬁ
el Z=BaEnl —S—+tFNEa ks
RIER - At - RRER B BE TR UEE
HEZ BifE - AT R EE FEN AR EEE)
WHEERER -

HREHTERNRBAAHERNAAE
$E@EEE HSZ AE%% 0007T ° I BRI
Bl —tEENRARERERE

=7
s ©

BUWEHERE  EanEEEAREEME:
BB 2 o Bl A5 2k A R 44,512,000 7T K
B8 AR 323,0000T ° KR = —+
F—A—HET AEENEEEMNE A
#& 9 Bl A AR % 1,518,885,000 7T A A R ¥
95,981,0007T ° WEEERMEMFRZ A

W ARRNAAREBERBEN T —+F—
A—HERMNBER TV ERESNEREE
HREEES  TESEAHARRKRRNE
B o

BBLRZ
AEB BB T NEFERFT LIS

\—7

40.

Investment in 2017 (Continued)

Gain on bargain purchase of RMB206,000 was attributable to the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired excess
of the consideration transferred, the difference was recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement in 2017. It resulted
in an insignificant difference of the fair value change of the net
identifiable assets from the date of negotiation of the consideration
to the date of completion of acquisition.

The Group recognised a gain of RMB36,000 as a result of the re-
measurement of the fair value of interest held before acquisition.
This gain on step acquisition was directly recognised in the
consolidated income statement in 2017.

Since the acquisition date, Dekel Group has contributed RMB44,512,000
and loss of RMB323,000 to Group’s revenue and profit or loss
respectively. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2017, the
Group's revenue and profit would have been RMB1,518,885,000
and RMB95,981,000 respectively. This pro forma information was
for illustrative purposes only and was not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 January 2017, nor intended to be a projection of future
performance.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

—E-N\F Tt
2018 2017
ARETT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
NT=% (= JCE Iﬂﬂ%) Rental expenses to a related company in
E%%ﬁ Eam % which three (2017: two) of the Directors
TEERR ’E“‘j]E!’J have beneficial interests and can exercise
R A RIMES R significant influence 514 514
M—REEAFHEEMR?  Sale of goods to a joint venture® - 77,449
M—RKAEEAREEER?  Purchase of goods from a joint venture? - 29,295
M—XKE&EARWERES Rental Income from a joint venture®
A - 150
BB BHEER—= Interest income from finance lease from
& &N AR S YA a joint venture* - 676
H—REEAFEHER Interest income on a loan to a joint venture*
FrAS Al S A * - 855
REREIEN AT ZFERF Advances from the ultimate holding company
(Fft5E29) (note 29) 67,801 -
# = tihﬁ]t B ERAIKAZAR] & Since September 2017, the joint venture became a subsidiary of the
E’JWE B EAKI 39 118 - B Company as set out in note 39. Thereafter, they were no longer be

Eﬁx%Tﬁ%&“*@%EﬁH FRP °

TEEBRABZMESEMNMITE10 -

REETERBRAE

B \FER

classified as related party transactions.

The remuneration of key management personnel are set out in note
10.
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41, MEEHEENEE2HER 41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below shows detailed changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

TRHAMLAKERARE LN EES
BRASNIFREZEE - WERDELN
BEMASREIARARASREERIBRN
AEEGFARSRERTHIERRE LR
EREMNAE -

RESAER
RE-BFER DANBAR
BEMBEAR  (H&E29)
(Hz28)  Advances
BTES EARE  Advances  fromthe AEBHN
(KtsE27) (Kt3£11)  from a non- ultimate E
Bank Dividend  controlling holding  Loan from
borrowings payables shareholder ~ company the IV
(note 27) (note 11) (note 28) (note 29) partner
ARETR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R=%-N\$-A-H At 1 January 2018 194,105 - 5,212 - -
BEESRA/ (Rit) : Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
MERITE New bank borrowing raised 20,000 - - - -
EEBTER Repayment of bank borrowings (196,440) - - - -
BRFIE Interest paid (4.338) - - - -
RESKERDANBENT Advances from the ultimate
holding company - - - 67,452 -
BERRE Dividends paid - (7.183) - - -
Hip2E : Other changes:
BEERRE Dividends declared - 7,183 - - -
MERx Interest expenses 4,338 - 19 M -
ERRE Exchange adjustments 2335 - 255 78 -
R=B-NF+=B=t-H At 31 December 2018 20,000 - 5,546 67,801 -
W=%-t&-A-H At 1 January 2017 56,816 - 3,376 - -
BEESRA/ (Rit) : Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
MERTER New bank borrowing raised 251,423 - - - -
REBTER Repayment of bank borrowings (111,176) = = = =
EEAERHNER Repayment of a loan from the JV partner - - - = (24,947)
BRFE Interest paid (3,977) = = = =
RE—BHFERRRME Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder - - 2,068 - -
BERKE Dividends paid = (88,080) = = -
HfhgE Other changes:
BEERRE Dividends declared - 88,080 - = =
MERZ Interest expenses 3,977 = 12 = =
BAXBANERNER Acquired loan through business
(Bi7E39) combination (note 39) = = = = (24,947)
R Exchange adjustments (2,958) - (284) = =
RZE-tE+=R=1-H At 31 December 2017 194,105 - 5,272 - -
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AEEEYZ SRARE  TBER (2

% SRR BAEER)  FEER R
AEEBERREREELMTS

TT%WZ%E Bk ®

BIHER AL
BUMBRESTRZIAmMPE ESTFHET
%MEAE&EEI%E?EFL%AT’E LA

DT RHIEER R ER S RERIR

42.

AEBSRSREENMEESREE - T
ABELENE AEBEMAZSENNE R
LR D3R - tEHh - MiFE42() BB IR
MBI EREERBEHME -

SN [ B

ARAREETEHR S - EERARE
THABHE R TTAHE » RSB EH S
FEE R B o 7N 5% 81 3R B I 8 gt LA MNP 22
A EF&%E%NEM\E%#E&% SN

(i)

EEETYERINERK - WeEER
EFER %TF%K&I\EHKM °
RZE—N\FF+_A=+—8 AR

e A T RIME(E MR EF 5%
AT E A i) B A =M T8 - BIARE
EF R EERRB RS, 5
#“NR#E2,479,0007T (—F —+4F ¢
i A B AR B s F 40 /3 AR %6 6,521,000
7T)  TERRERUETETENE FIE
U BR I e U Z= 5 P B RO BE 3 Uk 25 5

1B

AEEREEFELE-HEEBEEINE
REEzE R - WA SIRRREEA R

REETERBRAE
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1 December 2018

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Directors meet periodically
and co-operate closely with key management to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for
speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.
See also note 42(v) for a summary of financial assets and liabilities
by category.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as certain of
its business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$ and US$. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of other foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened/
strengthened 5% against HK$ and US$ with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year and retained
profits would have been approximately RMB2,479,000 (2017:
profit and retained profit approximately RMB6,521,000)
higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain/loss on trade and bills receivable denominated
in US$.

The measures to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to
be effective.




&

42, ¢REMRERE (&)

(ii)

(iii)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s floating interest
rate borrowings. The Group has not used any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
(loss)/profit for the year and retained profits to a possible
change in interest rates of +/- 0.5% (2017: +/- 0.5%), with
effect from the beginning of the years. The calculations are
based on the Group’s financial assets and liabilities held at the
reporting dates. All other variables are held constant.

REE (BR) R RREEF
(Loss)/Profit for the year and
retained profits

ARET T

RMB’000
+0.5% -0.5%
- )\F+=—A=+—H 31 December 2018 125 (125)
—E—+tF+=—_A=+—H 31 December 2017 329 (329)

IRIEY B ATTRBRATE - BEe R
EBH AR AT LT - A
RERBHFIERAA T AR
BIEAT BB BRI -

AEBBBEFERE-BEEEENX
REREEE - WRRABEEER

EE R

EERRKEIRBHRAAENE R
Wil ~ 7l R E A EUGERIR - SRTT IR
SEBRMEERBITER - BAAER
AH2EWREHERRE - UEEP
MEERR @ BREKEERIGIR -

(iii)

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents the management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next
twelve months period.

The measures to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years and are considered to be
effective.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, bank and cash balances and pledged bank
deposits, at amortised cost and bills receivable at FVOCI, as
well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables.
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42, ¢RERER (&)
(i) EERR (&)

(a)

(b)

(9]

RECTERBIRAH

ERER
AEEDHERR - AERAAE
REERRSEZEPHEER

AEBTESEANEEEFTE
b BEERRSBEZERFE R
RSGEF - A BREMATIEHD
FEAFR HGR=ZZF—N\F
+TZA=+t—BNESEKER
FEWEIEHT75% (Z B —+4F -
64%) - BEERSEERE
EEEBER OB EMERNE
wERPRSE  tmEEREA
& RA S E R

Re&E

— % A R #11,695,0000( ==
—tF: AR¥E11,795,000) K &
S REUER (FiaE42(ii) (c) ) 2B
365K BARBE ' ZEFRETIH
B AFMFRNY EERE - WE
HANE R RGER B EITE
o —E£ AR 8,637,0007TH]
FEW AT 2= 5B AR (M aE 21
(b)) BHAERFFE AFTRE T
FEEMEIERTE - WAERFR
NEREEWaRiEs - BIT#ET
BES o B ESCFTiiE SN - AEE
WiERE A MK R {EAIRE °

B 5 W R BTG
HE_ZT—-N\F+_HA=+—H
EFE TEehfE8EEE
BENEERENBERATERES
FEWBR KRB ESIE » TN IR(E A
BEERAENFRATBHEER
BESFETER - ANAEE
BT EEEBLERT RERT
AEFHNEEEAFTEEES
2 BB EAARREL 6 E 1R
B AEREBTRARELR M
E—HEn o BHEERDER
BASERNEREIBLERITE -
BB R ERAE  URMIE
BAESIRHRMNEEMRT - EAT
TR L RN 7 £2 ] 4 e W R TE TR ER 67
REEEMRTEEMNZER -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Risk management
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk with exposure spread over a number of customers
and counterparties. However, the geographical location
of customers is mainly on the PRC which accounted for
75% (2017: 64%) of the trade and bills receivable as
at 31 December 2018. In order to minimise the credit
risk, management will endeavor to build an extensive
customer base that spread over the world, which can
minimise the credit risk by geographical location.

Securities

A trade receivable of RMB11,695,000 (2017:
RMB11,795,000) (note 42(iii)(c)) was past due over 365
days but not impaired is secured by a property owned by
the debtor which can be called if the counterparty is in
default under the terms of the agreement. An amount
due from the Ex-Equity Holder of RMB8,637,000 (note
21(b)) is secured by certain residential properties held
by the Ex-equity Holder which can be called if the Ex-
equity Holder is in default under the terms of the SPA.
Other than stated as above, the Group does not hold
collateral as security.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2018, impairment
loss is recognised for trade receivables not only when
there was objective evidence of impairment, but also at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases. Expected loss rates are based on actual
loss experience over the past 5 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.
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42. cRIAKRER (2) 42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(i) EERR (&) (iii) Credit risk (Continued)
(00 EFEWRBERNMEL (&) () Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

TEREVNBAAEER T\ The following table provides information about the

F+-A=1+—HNEERBR KX Group’s exposure to credit risk and loss allowance of

Z S EWREERENEER trade receivables as at 31 December 2018:

IREEHR

EHEER Gross EiERE IREFE
Expected carrying Loss  Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

% ARBTR  AR®TR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

20 (RiBE) Current (not past due) 0.00% 179,581 (9) 179,572
Ei@Hi1-90 A 1-90 days past due 0.23% 5,159 (12) 5,147
£i55191-180 H 91-180 days past due 0.56% 1,949 (11) 1,938
EiBH181-365 H 181-365 days past due 3.97% m (4) 107
BiBHIH#A365 A * Over 365 days past due* 9.53% 12,179 (275) 11,904
198,979 (311) 198,668
* BB ERA365 HERRENE @ A trade receivable of approximately RMB11,695,000
ZFEWERA AR 11,695,000 7T (note 42 (iii)(b)) that was past due over 365 days but not
(HMt&E42 (i) (b)) » TR ERE impaired is secured by a property owned by the debtor.

ANBEB WY EIERE -

RZZE—-—NF—H—HB 27" Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was
AEEERBEEETLER recognised only when there was objective evidence of
BERBRTHEERBERIE impairment (see note 3(i)B(ii)). At 31 December 2017,
(R K &E3MBG) ) RZF trade receivables of RMB9,714,000 was determined to
—tF+=_A=+—80 ' AR%E be impaired. The ageing analysis of trade receivables
9,714,000 T B & 5 FE IR B T after the provision for impairment was as follows:

EHBERE - (FHRERERD
BHRBERAREDTIT -

—T—+F

2017

ARBFIT

RMB’000

BEARBHEAth AR (E Neither past due nor impaired 267,885
Ei#EHI1-90 A 1-90 days past due 2,411
2iAH191-180 H 91-180 days past due 636
EiAH} 181-365 H 181-365 days past due 8,561
EiAHAEA 365 A Over 365 days past due 7,250
286,743

R 38 B R R 1B A FE WO IE O Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
ZEAEPREENTENES - related to a wide range of customers for whom there

was no recent history of default.
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42, ¢RERER (&)
(i) EERR (&)

(0

REETERBRAE

B 5 EUCRBER (2 (9

EAHERRENE S EWERS
B EASEAEERTEE
REMBYRE - R_ZT—+4F
+-A=+—0H —SHARKE
11,795,000 7L A E. 38 HR{E KR A
SRR (Fi5E42 i) (b) ) T3
RESAER ZWEERE - B
BEALR  BEEERA AR
FEEGEWES NEHHBER
—E—+F+-A=1+—BMNK
WEE2HWE - RBEMZE
ERELRERHE -

FA- BRE S RUSRH B ER

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. As at 31 December 2017,
a trade receivable of approximately RMB11,795,000
(note 42(iii)(b)) that was past due but not impaired
was secured by a property owned by the debtor. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of this
balance as there had been no significant change in
credit quality and the balances was still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 December 2017.

Movement in the allowance account in respect of trade

HEBIT receivables during the year is as follows:
—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
AR%TR AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RIREAEETERZE 39987 Balance at 31 December under
STERtTZA=t—H&& HKAS 39 9,714 3,178
VI FER BB TS %R Impact of initial application of
F95% (fizz2(a) ) MEE HKFRS 9 (note 2(a)) - -
R—A—BRFAREES Adjusted balance at 1 January 9,714 3,178
BB ETERIIE 7, Exchange loss/(gain) on
EE 7 () impairment losses 151 (170)
F I Write off during the year (13,376) =
FAERBIERE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 3,822 6,706
A+—A=+—H#% Balance at 31 December 311 9,714

RN ESIBTEE R A H1ES
AREIEHIRER » WRAREE
s A R #5 13,376,000 7T ©

B \FER

Amounted to RMB13,376,000 were written off during
the year since there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows from the trade
debtors.
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42. SREMERE (&)
(iii) EERR (&)

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(d) HEAALEFAHMEEKELN
B T BETRENE
RZZE—N\E+=ZHA=+—8"
EREESEEZRARBET AR
EEREmER T - B#ES
BEERBRTE @ WENEER
BEZ12A A NEHEE RIS
E-FEERAEFERRBREIE
RALELNRBEIE - B EE 5
RERE  MEANEBRREE
BEXERR - FAWERERER
BEREE -

() HEBERITENHMTHME
EETRERNE
RITRReEHRREERIRTEF
RINEB TRV BHRE LR
9REVRIERE » N E&IR
BERABRIFEEFANER
g - ME BB AR E R BRI
ER 7l & REMEBFIARER
REERRKRE  WENEREE
wEZ12EANEREEBER
B -TEERREERRERE
ERRRZORBRERE - FALE
FERME(RER R ©

(iv) B

EEERAERRE  AEERERK
HFEEERSTMNRT AT EE
HE - ERRKEEEMRNES - U
MFERERERDNTE - TAZT
B e TR R ER R S IRE REEIH
MEREEEIBNERABERAKE

/D\o

B A SR B A0 8 BRI T AT R AR SR
FERITHENRBARBRERFLE
B EERA FIRAKEEFA AR
RMERE NP BERE - NEEE
BERMNEERS  RAENMNEBRA
F - AEBEDEGETRTER - XA
— IR BIR TR IR B A4
BABMEN - (EAERBESHR
R °

(d) Impairment assessment on debt instruments at

FVOCI

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivable is classified
as debt instruments at FVOCI, which are considered to
have low credit risk, and the loss allowance measured
during the year was therefore limited to 12 months
ECLs. Management considered as low credit risk since
it has a low risk of default and limited impact of time
value of money due to short maturity period. No
impairment loss is recognised during the year.

(e) Impairment assessment on other financial assets

at amortised cost

Bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits are
also subjected to the impairment requirements of HKFRS
9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial since
they are placed at financial institutions with good credit
rating. For deposits and other receivables, which are
considered to have low credit risk, the loss allowance
measured during the year was therefore limited to 12
months ECLs. Management considered as low credit
risk since they have a low risk of default. No impairment
loss is recognised during the year.

(iv) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

As the Group has short-term bank borrowings which could
be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the
Group within limit approved by banks, the Directors are of
the opinion that, taking into account the presently available
facilities and internal financial resources of the Group,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. The Group obtained certain bank borrowings,
advances from a non-controlling shareholder and advances
from the ultimate holding company as source of liquidity.
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42. cEERERE (&) 42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) mBEMERR (22) (iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
RIS ?’Jﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂ@%ﬁ The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
BEREBER financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
payments:
=EARD =Rz
REX —FR AERAE
Within Between Total REE
3 months or 3months  undiscounted Carrying
on demand to 1year amount amount
ARETT AR¥TR ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Z2-)\F 2018
BAEMNE - At Tradle, other payables and accruals
FERFERENRARR 96,473 152,188 248,661 248,661
EERERE Provision for legal claims - 17,141 17,141 17,141
FATIET Bank borrowings * 20,000 - 20,000 20,000
RE—ZIERBRAGAMT  Advances from a non-controlling shareholder - 5,546 5,546 5,546
REFEERARNBERR Advances from the ultimate holding company - 67,801 67,801 67,801
Bt Total 116,473 242,676 359,149 359,149
ZE-—tF 2017
ZHENE  ENZE  Hft Trade, bills and other payables and accruals
FERFTERERNAER 178,401 120,560 298,961 298,961
EERE R Provision for a legal claim 7,085 = 7,085 7,085
FITER Bank horrowings * 194,105 - 194,105 194,105
RE—RIHERIREMERZT  Advances from a non-controlling shareholder 5,272 = 5,272 5,272
i Total 384,863 120,560 505,423 505,423
* EHRBENTIRERKERETRART 3 Balances include bank borrowings with a repayment on
B o demand clause.

160 REETERBRAE B \FER
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42. EREAREE (&) 42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) RBEMRER (&) (iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
NERBEIE B R 5 P A R R R R The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank
BRI TR ERE RGN RITER borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on
FTERIEIEAE DT - @ FEBRIELAERF] agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements.
KA EMFEMANR - Bt - ZESER The amounts include interest payments computed using
F160 B FTEHEIEE R DT [1ZEK] contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater
RERPEENSEAR - TERIAEE than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band
RIS - EERRBIRIT AR in the maturity analysis contained in page 160. Taking into
B ERZANEN - EFH81E - ZFR account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not
TEFBREE R B HEMNTETER consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its
HEREER - discretion to demand immediate repayment. The Directors

believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.
BEAER —FHE MENL
REeRBAT —FRH BAIRME BAIRESF
Total REX More than More than
REE contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or but less but Less
amount cash flow on demand than 2 years than 5 years
AR¥TT AR¥TT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-\F+-A=1—H 31 December 2018 20,000 20,287 20,287 - -
“E—+F+ZA=1—H 31 December 2017 194,105 205,298 87,091 31,287 86,920
AEBEATFER—BEEREERA The measures to manage liquidity risk have been followed by
R AR - WERRAIEEIEER K o the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.
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cRIEMERE (&2) 42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

vy RERETHNERMEERAEE (v) Summary of financial assets and liabilities by
BE category
o RZE—NFRZE—EF+= The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities

A=1t—BHE &R éwﬂé?&%ﬁﬁ’]
FREERMELAT O - ERNERESMT
AMERIMAIZEERNE  F2H
FRYEE 30) FORREA ©

recognised as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 may also be
categorised as follows. See note 3(i) for explanations about
how the category of financial instruments affects their
subsequent measurement.

162

—E-N\F —+tF
2018 2017
AR®ET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE Financial assets
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$§+§ﬁ’]‘i\%ﬂ§§/ Financial assets at amortised cost/Loan
BN R GRTE and receivables:
- B Z YR — Trade receivables 198,668 196,707
- 5% R EH MW FRIE — Deposits and other receivables 53,953 44,737
- BEERRITER — Pledged bank deposits 2,691 34,218
- IRITRIREHE — Bank and cash balances 49,105 194,590
BARBERT AEM Financial asset at FVOCl/Loan
2HKE E’J‘i\mﬁﬁ?/ and receivables:
m&ﬁ%m
- J:uﬁzmﬂ*‘ — Bills receivable 107,849 90,036
412,266 560,288
SHas Financial liabilities
R AGT =/ Financial liabilities measured
EHEE: at amortised cost:
- BOEMNERENER — Trade and bills payable 45,040 104,703
- IR ERR R E A — Accruals and other payables
FERTEIR 203,621 194,258
- EEREEE — Provision for legal claims 17,141 7,085
— SRITIE — Bank borrowings 20,000 194,105
R E — B IEERAR R B Advances from a non-controlling
SEANES shareholder 5,546 5,272
DRSS NG LE Advances from the ultimate
SEANES holding company 67,801 =
359,149 505,423

—B-N\EEH

REETERBRAE
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43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods commensurately
with the level of risk.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristic of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividend paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as set out in the table below.

The debt-to-equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

—E-N\F —T—+F
2018 2017
ARETT AREBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
RITE Bank borrowings 20,000 194,105
RE—BIEERIER Principal amount of the advances from
AR AE & a non-controlling shareholder 5,389 5,141
R BB AIERR A A Principal amount of advances from
SERN BN RING st | the ultimate holding company 67,530 =
BT Total debts 92,919 199,246
B IRTTRIRE AR Less: Bank and cash balances (49,105) (194,590)
BRI TFER Pledged bank deposits (2,691) (34,218)
alE/ (BE) FE Net liabilities/(assets) 41,123 (29,562)
vt Total equity 1,292,400 1,368,525
EEERL R Debt-to-equity ratio 3% TEA NA
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(a) AEERIME  BEMKRER
ENRBHEERRF

FEAFFIBEEFRKIE21 (a) °

(b) BBEEABERANMUGHEE
B2F
FeAsEBE &N 21 (b) °

(0 BEERENESENENES
E]’Lif?ifz}?

R=ZZE—N\F+A - ARaEHEB QB %
WA B M R = A RERE ([ 4
BWRZZER]) BHz®S S RER
Hf—Z R RN RS EHROAR
4,980,000 THALS - ZEREER =
T N\E+_A=t+—HERRESE
B8R o

RZZF—N\F+—F sr%fEmE
RZBHES RHERR - SHERMME
R EERTEIIERR - HYTE IR R
FRE - Bt - AT ERIRIEHE
BRER - REVEEN A FA%E5 %/

ARH800,000 TIEREES -

R-ZEBE—NE—RA-+MNE  #HES
SEBR S AN FE M X (B R S < 4R
% AR 5,043,0007C © EFBIEEE
B BHREERETFE - k%M
JERERERFRERMEIEL M
AR #278,000 tHEEES ([JAPLa
L))  ZBRESVWREAFENLES
BTSSR AER ©

RZFB—NF—A=+H ' s
Fhrmm SRt E5F EEEEXEA:BE»:WJ
AR EERENIRIERES RIGKETE

K E%E °

REETERBRAE
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(a)

(b)

(0

Z—\F+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

44. LITIGATIONS

Legal proceedings of claim of recovering a
deposit for property, plant and equipment

Details of litigations are set out in note 21 (a).

Legal proceedings of disputes as guarantor

Details of litigations are set out in note 21 (b).

Legal proceeding of dispute of unsettlement
of a trade payable

In October 2018, Weifang Parasia, a subsidiary of the
Company, received an order from Weifang Hanting District
People’s Court (the “Weifang Hanting Court”) relating to
the dispute of outstanding balances due to one of its coal
suppliers with approximately RMB4,980,000. This amount has
been recognised as trade payables as at 31 December 2018.

In November 2018, Weifang Parasia counterclaimed this
supplier for breaching the terms of various supply contracts,
which led to the failure of electric heating supply and
delayed its production schedules. Therefore, Weifang Parasia
requested 5% of the aggregate contracted amounts of
RMB800,000 as compensation according to the terms of
supply contracts.

On 24 January 2019, the Weifang Hanting Court ordered that
Weifang Parasia should pay a total sum of RMB5,043,000
which include the outstanding and accrued interest up to
the date of settlement, whereas this supplier should pay the
compensation of RMB278,000 to Weifang Parasia under
its counterclaim (the “Court Order”). The compensation
amounts have not been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements for the year.

On 30 January 2019, Weifang Parasia lodged an appeal
against the Court Order on the ground that the compensation
under the Court Order was far below the amount calculated
under the terms of supply contracts.
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